

# **Comparison of innovation systems China and Germany**

Gerold Heinrichs, Xiaomeng Shen, Nicola Dierkes, Zehra Döring, Carolin Lange, Ilka Löffler, Joschka Münchenhagen, Oliver Rohde, Julia Sattler, Shi Zhan, Alice Wignjosaputro

# Studies on the German innovation system No. 9-2020

This is a courtesy translation from German into English. The translation was created using a licence of the software product DeepL. Errors are possible and are hereby apologized. The translation is provided by DLR-Project Management Agency.

German Aerospace Center e. V. (DLR) Project Management Agency | European and International Cooperation Division

February 2020

This study was commissioned by the Expert Commission on Research and Innovation (EFI). The results and interpretations are the sole responsibility of the institutes conducting the study. The EFI had no influence on the drafting of the report.

Studies on the German innovation system No. 9-2020

Publisher: Expert Commission for Research and Innovation (EFI)

Office: c/o Stifterverband für die Deutsche Wissenschaft Pariser Platz 6, 10117 Berlin

All rights reserved, in particular the right of reproduction and distribution as well as translation. No part of this work may be reproduced in any form (by photocopy, microfilm or any other process) or stored, processed, duplicated or distributed using electronic systems without the written permission of EFI or the institutes.

Contact and further information

Dr. Gerold Heinrichs German Aerospace Center e. V. (DLR) | Project Management Agency European and International Cooperation Division Postal address: Heinrich-Konen-Straße 1 | 53227 Bonn Visiting address: Heinrich-Konen-Straße 5 | 53227 Bonn Phone +49 228 3821-1402 Fax +49 228 3821-1444 E-mail: Gerold.Heinrichs@dlr.de www.DLR-PT.de

# List of abbreviations

AHK	Chamber of Commerce Abroad			
AI	Artificial intelligence			
APA	Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business			
APRA	Asia Pacific Research Area, Asia Pacific Research Area			
ARC	Act against Restraints of Competition			
ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations			
BAFA	Federal Office of Economics and Export Control			
BDI	Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V.			
BERD	Business Expenditure on Research and Development			
BfArM	Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices			
BFDI	Federal Commissioner for Data Protection and Freedom of Information			
Bio.	Billion			
GDP	Gross domestic product			
BMBF	Federal Ministry of Education and Research			
BME	German Association for Materials Management, Purchasing and Logistics			
BMW	Bavarian Engine Works			
BMWi	Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy			
BRI	Belt and Road Initiative			
BRP	Gross regional product			
CAC	Cyberspace Administration of China			
CAE	Chinese Academy of Engineering			
CAS	Chinese Academy of Science			
CASS	Chinese Academy of Social Science			
CCPA	California Consumer Privacy Act			
CEEC	Central East European Countries			
CJV	Cooperative/Contractual Joint Venture			
CLGCTW	Central Leading Group for Coordinating Talent Work			
CNIPA	Chinese National Intellectual Property Agency			
CSC	Chinese Scholarship Council			
CSL	Cyber Security Law			
CSTEC	Chinese Science and Technology Exchange Center			
CTI	Corporate Tax Index (corporate tax)			
DAAD	German Academic Exchange Service			
DFG	German Research Foundation			
DLR	German Aerospace Center			
DLR-PT	German Aerospace Center Project Management Agency			
DPMA	German Patent and Trade Mark Office			
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation			
EJV	Equity joint venture			
ENISA	European Union Agency for Cybersecurity (Agency of the European Union for			
	Cybersecurity)			
EPA	European Patent Office			
ETDZ	Economic and Technological Development Zone			
EU	European Union			
EU-COM	EU Commission			
EU-MS	EU member states			
. –				

EV	Electric Vehicle
FDI	Foreign direct investment
FTE	Full-time equivalent
FIL	Foreign Investment Law
GBA	Greater Bay Area
GIGA	Global Institute of Global and Area Studies
GTAI	German Trade and Invest
H2020	Horizon 2020
HKSAR	Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
HNTE	High and New Technology Enterprises
HNTZ/HTZ	High and New Technology Zones
IDSK	International Data Protection Conference
ICT	Information and communication technology
IP	Intellectual Property
IPP	Innovative public procurement
IPR	International Property Rights
ISI	Institute for Systems and Innovation Research
ISO	International Organisation for Standardisation
IT	Information technology
ITU	International Telecommunications Union
JV	Joint venture
KP	Communist Party
KPC	Communist Party of China
M&A	Mergers and Acquisitions
MERICS	Mercator Institute for China Studies
MIC 2025	Made in China 2025
MIIT	Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
m.	Million
MLP	National Medium- and Long-Term Programme for Science and Technology
	Development
MOA	Ministry of Agriculture (China)
MOE	Ministry of Education (China)
MOF	Ministry of Finance (China)
MOFCOM	Ministry of Finance and Commerce (China)
MOHRSS	Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security (China)
MOST	Ministry of Science and Technology (China)
MPG	Max Planck Society
Billion	Billion
NBS	National Bureau of Statistics in China
NCSTE	National Center for Science and Technology Evaluation
NDRC	National Development and Reform Commission (China)
NEV	New Energy Vehicle
NFB	National Funding Body
NGO	Non-governmental organisation
NIDZ	National Innovation Demonstration Zone
NIS	National Innovation System
NMP	National S&T Major Projects
NRW	North Rhine-Westphalia

NSFC	National Natural Science Foundation of China			
NSTRS	National Science and Technology Report Services			
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development			
PCP	Pre-Commercial Procurement			
PCT	Patent Cooperation Treaty			
PIFI	CAS President's International Fellowship Initiative			
PPI	Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions			
PRD	Pearl River Delta			
R&D	Research and Development			
R&I	Research and innovation			
RMB	Renminbi			
S&T	Science and Technology			
SAC	Standardization Administration of China			
SAFEA	State Administration of Foreign Experts Affairs			
SAMR	State Administration for Market Regulation (China)			
SEZ	Special Economic Zones			
SHIP	Shenzhen High-Tech Industrial Park			
SIPO	State Intellectual Property Office of China			
SME	Small and medium-sized enterprises			
SOE	State-Owned-Enterprise			
STEM	Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics			
TASE	Technology Advanced Service Enterprise			
Trill.	Trillion			
UITP	International Association of Public Transport			
UK	United Kingdom			
UN	United Nations			
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference Trade and Development Organisation			
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation			
US	United States			
USA	United States of America (United States of America)			
USD	United States Dollar			
VDI	Association of German Engineers			
VDI-TZ	VDI Technology Centre			
VgV	Public Procurement Ordinance			
VPN	Virtual Private Network			
WEF	World Economic Forum			
WFOE	Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise			
WIPO	World Intellectual Property Organization			
WTO	World Trade Organisation			
ZIM	Central Innovation Programme for SMEs			

# **Table of contents**

1.	Intro	oduction	12
	1.1	Methodology and structure	12
	1.2	Recommendations for action	13
2.	Inno	vation systems: The role of state guidance	17
	2.1	Government structure in China with innovation relevance	19
	2.2	Innovation-relevant strategies in China	21
	2.2.1	Medium- to long-term development plan for science and technology	22
	2.2.2	Current 13th Five-Year Plan 2016-2020	22
	2.2.3	Made in China 2025	23
	2.2.4	Belt and Road Initiative	27
	2.2.5	16+1 or 17+1 cooperation initiative	28
	2.2.6	World Bank Study: Elaboration of a "3+6+7 Reform Agenda	28
	2.3	Investment in research and innovation	30
	2.3.1	Sources and structure of R&D expenditure	31
	2.3.2	Regional differences in China	33
	2.4	Institutions and main research fields	35
	2.5	Research funding	37
	2.6	Public Innovative Procurement	42
	2.7	Regulations	46
	2.7.1	Data protection	46
	2.7.2	Sanction and control lists	49
	2.7.3	Under-regulation as an instrument to promote innovation	50
	2.7.4	Technical norms and standards	51
	2.8	Conclusion on the role of state guidance	52
3.	Acto	ors in the research and innovation system	54
	3.1	China's academisation	54
	3.2	Talent mobility	57
	3.2.1	Mobility of Chinese students	57
	3.2.2	China as a destination country for foreign students	59
	3.2.3	Student mobility to and from Germany	60
	3.2.4	Researcher mobility to and from China	62
	3.2.5	China's return and recruitment programmes	64
	3.3	Entrepreneurs hip	68
	3.3.1	"Venture Communism"	68
	3.3.2	Incubators and accelerators	68
	3.3.3	China's "Unicorns"	69
	3.3.4	Venture capital in China	69
	3.4	Conclusion on the actors in the R&I system	70

4. Perf	formance of the innovation system	71
4.1	Publications	
4.2	Patents	76
4.3	Innovative capacity of Chinese companies	79
4.3.1	R&D personnel	80
4.3.2	R&D expenditure	81
4.3.3	Chinese National Enterprise Innovation Survey	82
4.4	Conclusion on the performance of the innovation system	83
5. R&	I system functionality in China at regional level	83
5.1	Greater Bay Area: National Plan and Regional Implementation	85
5.1.1	Greater Bay Area and Guangdong Province	85
5.1.2	National plan and regional implementation	88
5.2	High-tech zones and science parks	91
5.2.1	Torch Programme and the importance of High-Technology Development Zones	
5.2.2	Science Parks	97
5.3	Guangdong Province Innovation Tools	101
5.3.1	R&D subsidies for companies	102
5.3.2	Business incubators	103
5.3.3	Universities and research institutes	104
5.3.4	Skilled workers and talents	104
5.4	Conclusion on R&I system functionality in China	104
6. For	eign direct investment	105
6.1	Economic policy background in China	106
6.2	Development of Chinese direct investment abroad	108
6.3	Germany and China's foreign economic integration	112
6.4	Chinese investments in Germany	114
6.5	Chinese market conditions for German companies	117
6.6	Barriers to entry in China	122
6.7	Conclusion: Opportunities and challenges of Chinese FDI	127
6.7.1	Opportunities	127
6.7.2	Challenges	128
6.7.3	Measures	129
Bibliography		
Appendi	x 1: List of interview partners	156

# List of figures

Figure 1: Degree of interconnectedness of the different sectors in the innovation system	. 18
Figure 2: "Governance" structure of the Chinese state science and technology system, end 20181 <sup>3</sup>	. 20
Figure 3: Depiction of sector-related company strength based on patent applications 1 <sup>)</sup>	. 25
Figure 4: The three D's of the "3+6+7 reform agenda"	. 29
Figure 5: R&D expenditure as a share of gross domestic product in % (1981-2017)	. 30
Figure 6: Gross domestic expenditure on R&D (GERD) adjusted for purchasing power (1981-2017)	$)^{1)}$
	. 31
Figure 7: R&D expenditure vs GDP growth rate in China and the EU (1991-2017)	. 31
Figure 8: Business expenditure on R&D (BERD) in billion USD1 <sup><i>j</i></sup> adjusted for purchasing power	~~
(1981-2017)	. 32
right: China)	ıy, 32
Figure 10: R&D expenditure in China by type of research in comparison 2016 and 20171 <sup>3</sup> ,	. 33
Figure 11: Distribution of public R&D expenditure among government actors (2016) <sup>1)</sup>	. 34
Figure 12: R&D expenditure of Chinese provinces incl. economy in 100 million RMB (2016) <sup>1</sup> ,	. 34
Figure 13: Comparison of R&D expenditure of Chinese cities incl. economy in 20161 <sup>9</sup>	. 35
Figure 14: Main state actors in Chinese R&D in 2016	. 36
Figure 15: R&D funds of China's top universities in 2016	. 36
Figure 16: R&D expenditure of colleges and universities by main research areas in 2016	. 37
Figure 17: Share of graduates per year in the total population (1990-2017) <sup>1</sup>	. 55
Figure 18: Scientists per 1000 employees (1991-2017)	. 56
Figure 19: Proportion of scientists in sectors of different activities (2008-2017) (left: China, right:	
Germany)	. 57
Figure 20: International student mobility from the main countries of origin (2008-2016)	. 58
Figure 21: Foreign students in Germany with the intention to graduate by region of origin 2018	. 60
Figure 22: German students abroad by major host countries 2015 and 20161 <sup>)</sup>	. 61
Figure 23: Development of first-year students in Sinology, Korean Studies and Japanese Studies in	
comparison (2007-2017)	. 62
Figure 24: Venture financing in China (2012-2019)	. 70
Figure 25: Publications "fractional" and "whole count", total and as a share of the world (2005 -	
2017) <sup>1)2)</sup>	. 72
Figure 26: Co-publications in China and Germany, together with selected countries, total <sup>1</sup> ,	. 73
Figure 27: Excellence rate of publications (2005-2015) <sup>1</sup>	. 74
Figure 28: Comparative representation of the indicators publications, R&D investments and number	r of
scientists (2005-2017)	. 75
Figure 29: Representation of transnational patent applications (2005-2015)	.77
Figure 30: Share of co-patents in transnational patent applications (2005-2015) <sup>11</sup>	. 78
Figure 31: Patents and co-patents filed with CNIPA	. 79
Figure 32: R&D personnel in Chinese companies and as a share of the national total (2000-2015)	. 80
Figure 33: Chinese companies' expenditure on R&D (2008-2017)	. 81
Figure 34: Geographic, economic and demographic data on Greater Bay Area cities	. 85
Figure 35: Number of domestically granted patents in China's five most patent-rich provinces (2011	1-
201/)	. 88 . 00
Figure 30. The largest book regions wolldwide	. 09
Figure 37. Intertetationships of national and regional planning in the Ofeater Day Alea	. 71
Figure 30: Number of high tech zones per province	. 73
דוצמות שלי האמווסבו טו וווצוו נכנוו בטווביג ובני וווער	. 74

Figure 40: Average patent applications per ten thousand people in HNTZ (2015)	95
Figure 41: Tian An Cyber Parks in China	100
Figure 42: Illustration of the Bio-Island in the city of Guangzhou	101
Figure 43: Share in global foreign direct investment (2008-2017)	109
Figure 44: Mutual investment stocks of China and the EU (2000-2017) <sup>1)</sup>	110
Figure 45: Sectoral distribution of Chinese direct investment in the EU (2010-2018) <sup>1)</sup>	111
Figure 46: Export shares of GDP in Germany and China (2005-2017) <sup>1)</sup>	112
Figure 47: Country shares in total exports of China and Germany (2005-2015) <sup>1</sup> )	112
Figure 48: Shares of global exports of research-intensive goods by China (incl. Hong Kong), Germ	any
and the USA (2000-2016) <sup>1)</sup>	113
Figure 49: Sectoral distribution of Chinese direct investment at MIC 2025 in Germany (2014-2017)	$)^{1)}$
	114
Figure 50: Shares of German companies in China by industrial sector (2017)	118
Figure 51: Locations of German companies on the Chinese mainland	118
Figure 52: Legal status of German companies in China in 2018	119
Figure 53: Number of restricted and prohibited sectors for FDI (1995-2018)	124
Figure 54: Top 10 regulatory business challenges from the perspective of German entrepreneurs in	
China	125
Figure 55: Top 10 operational business challenges in China from the perspective of German	
entrenreneurs	126

# List of tables

Table 1: Duration between the submission date for an H2020 notice and the grant notification/cont	tract
	40
Table 2: Duration between the submission deadline for an international announcement by the BMI	BF
and the funding decision/contract	41
Table 3: Megaprojects with civilian goals	44
Table 4: Mobility figures of Chinese students (outgoing and returning)	59
Table 5: Number of doctorates awarded by American universities to Chinese nationals, 2006-2016	<i>5</i> 62
Table 6: Compilation of essential central Chinese talent retrieval and acquisition programmes1)	65
Table 7: China's Top Unicorns 2019 (as of October 2019)	69
Table 8: Budget information and composition of expenditure on research and development by	
companies in China	82
Table 9: Funding sources of selected Chinese national technology programmes	93

# Text box directory

Textbox 1: State innovation funding for electric vehicles	19
Textbox 2: Technology and market leadership in wind energy	19
Textbox 3: Explanation of terms used in the Chinese R&D system	33
Textbox 4: Official project promoters for research funding in China	38
Textbox 5: Excursus Chinese Language and Cultural Competence in Germany	61
Textbox 6: EURAXESS Focus Group Discussion	63
Textbox 7: 1000 Talents Programme	66
Textbox 8: Chinese Academy of Sciences President's International Fellowship Initiative	67
Textbox 9: "Golden visas" for investors	109
Textbox 10: Perceptions of German actors in China	119

### 1. Introduction

### **1.1** Methodology and structure

In this study, China's and Germany's research and innovation (R&I) systems are compared. The aim is to identify relevant aspects for the German innovation system from China's development and to derive recommendations for action.

The study should include the following aspects:

- Control of the R&D systems Germany and China
- Access to the Chinese market
- Chinese investments abroad
- Digitalisation and Artificial Intelligence (AI)
- Chinese economic and innovation policy
- Changes in the Chinese education sector

The task was formulated in two orders:

- 1: Analysis of the institutional framework conditions in China and Germany, presentation of two future technology clusters as qualitative case studies.
  - Analysis of the institutional framework conditions of the Chinese and German or European R&I systems with a focus on China.
  - Identification of clusters in China that focus on key future technologies. The modes of operation of China's R&I policy are to be described.
- 2: Analysis of the Chinese and German R&I systems based on key figures.
  - Comparison of the Chinese and German R&I systems based on key figures.
  - Presentation of foreign direct investment in the European Union, China and Germany.

The term "national innovation system" refers to a network of institutions in the private and public sectors whose activities and interactions bring new technologies into being, import, modify and disseminate them (Welsch 2005). In the case of Germany, the interlocking with EU structures, EU actors and EU framework conditions is added. A comprehensive comparative innovation system analysis of the two countries is not possible. The subject matter is too diverse for this and it is too difficult to distinguish it from other fields of political action such as trade and regional policy.

The study is based on three sources of information:

- Text evaluation: Approximately 300 literature sources were evaluated. Most of the text sources used on the Chinese innovation system come from Anglo-Saxon countries and Germany. Chinese sources were mainly used for data research and to understand the mode of action of innovation policy. In some of the literature used, figures are given in the Chinese currency Renminbi/Yuan (RMB). In order to make the figures assessable, they were also given in EUR for the sake of simplicity with the conversion factor 1 EUR to 8 RMB (the exchange rate in the last 2 years was between 1 EUR = 7.5 and 8.0 RMB). Values given in USD in the literature evaluated are also given in RMB. Here, the conversion factor 1 USD to 7 RMB is used.
- Of particular relevance as a source for the present study is the report and data collection on the "Monitoring of the Asia-Pacific Research Area (APRA) with a focus on China". (Frietsch et al. 2018a). On the one hand, reference is made to this in the presentation of the Chinese R&I system, and on the other hand, the data made publicly available there is used to present the

indicators.

- Data evaluation: In addition to using the bibliometric and patentometric data from the abovementioned monitoring study, data from the OECD was used, among others. In addition, data from the Chinese statistics authority and the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) were used.
- Interviews: Representatives of various groups of actors in the innovation system in Germany and China were interviewed. The interviews were based on an interview guide, which was used in an adapted way depending on the interviewee, as different focal points were discussed in each case. The interviews were summarised in short protocols. The results are included in the study in general form. In the months of May to September 2019, 25 discussions were held in Germany and 22 discussions and interviews in China. Appendix 1 contains the list of interviewees. The stakeholders contacted include German, European and Chinese students and academics in China and Germany, representatives of German higher education institutions/institutes, intermediaries from academia and industry, and representatives of the private sector.

# **1.2** Recommendations for action

The recommendations for action are the result of looking at China's complex and less transparent innovation system with limited access to data. The formulated suggestions are orientations. Within the framework of the study, it was not possible to compare them in detail with all the framework conditions and all the offers already available in Germany and Europe.

### 1. Strengthen European approaches

In China, the Communist Party (CP) has the central planning and decision-making role. The party structures encompass the country and its structures. Through these hierarchical structures of the party and the government linked to it, centralised decision-making mechanisms are given to quickly implement and further develop innovation policy instruments and regulations. The hierarchical structures have two main developmental aspects: China has a central development vision supported by all levels and central policies are acted upon at all levels of the state. It is a characteristic of Chinese innovation policy that guidelines from the central government must be taken up by provinces, cities and companies and reinforced by their own measures. Chinese actors at all levels have an incentive (e.g. career) to support these visions and measures. The size of the country and the Chinese market leads to the high and global relevance of the Communist Party's decisions.

The European Union as a whole has an economic and innovation policy strength comparable to China. However, the European association of individual democratically governed countries has fundamentally different decision-making channels and forms of implementation. Nevertheless, the EU can have a great impact through a common innovation policy vision and a Europe-wide uniform approach to the implementation of innovation-economic instruments. European long-term goals and European missiondriven innovation approaches should therefore be strengthened by Germany and supported with its own measures.

Possible examples of strengthening European action:

# a. Joint strategies and implementation

Germany should advocate for the development of ambitious European goals and, in coordination with the EU Commission and the EU member states (EU-MS), set up and finance its own programmes that support and complement these common goals. In the case of such important innovation system-relevant initiatives at the EU level, platforms could also be set up in which member states, provinces, cities and also companies can discuss and coordinate their opportunities for participation so that the impact is further strengthened.

### b. Innovation economy concerted actions

China's innovation mechanism is essentially based on providing major support for individual technology areas in order to develop them rapidly. In this sense, coordinated action by various actors on selected technology topics from the outset can be effective at the European level. For such coordinated "concerted actions" at the European level, there are, for example, the "Joint Programming Initiatives" in research with funding from the EU Commission and the member states. Such large-scale programmes would be similar to the Chinese mega-projects. The approaches taken so far should be evaluated and long-term mission-driven actions pursued on the basis of the results.

# c. Expand existing innovation funding at European level

China creates impact through rapid action and large budgets, and has achieved technology leadership in some thematic areas in a few years in this form over the last 20 years. Chinese speed creates acceleration pressure for the innovation ecosystem in Europe.

In order to quickly strengthen innovation instruments that have an impact across Europe, we recommend expanding and further developing programmes that have already been positively evaluated. This is faster than setting up new programmes. These can be programmes of the EU Commission as well as intergovernmental programmes such as regional cross-border clusters or Europe-wide programmes such as EUROSTARS or EUREKA. Existing programmes should be looked at and, where appropriate, rapidly expanded to their best effectiveness.

# 2. Legal certainty for data transfer

China is an important partner and competitor for the German education, science and innovation system. It is important that the transfer of data between Germany and China is largely unrestricted, secure and legally compliant. Digitalisation is a cross-cutting and key issue here. Digitalisation of personal data is an essential sub-issue for innovative process or product development. In order to secure the competitiveness of German players through the best possible data transfer, the issue of personal data transfer between China and the EU must be resolved. In our understanding, the Chinese "Cyber Security Law" (CSL) and the European General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) are in conflict with each other. The CSL, for example, controls and complicates the transfer of data from China to foreign countries and partly requires the disclosure of all data. Since legal certainty is directly linked to the competitiveness of German companies, it is recommended that Germany step up coordination between the EU and China on legal certainty in data transfer.

# 3. Innovative public procurement

Innovative public procurement (IPP) has played a role in China since 2006 at the latest. China uses IPP at different levels: at the central level, especially in "mega-projects" (e.g. building its own aircraft or producing its own computer chips) and at the local level (e.g. through the procurement of innovative ebuses). The volume of investment in public procurement has increased the uptake of new technologies on the demand side. However, no summary statistics on IPP in China could be found that would allow a statement on the efficiency and effectiveness of IPP use.

The recommendation for action for a more intensive use of PPPI in Germany is derived on the one hand from the technology-driving effects that can be observed in individual examples in China. On the other hand, IPP is also seen positively and with additional potential in Germany. It is a current topic in Europe and the OECD has advised a more aggressive approach to IPP in Germany.

# 4. Research funding

China carried out a reform of the research system and research funding from 2014-2017. The reform aimed at a more efficient and effective research system, especially improved project funding. To ensure coordinated implementation, a coordination mechanism known as the "inter-ministerial conference" was set up at the government level, involving not only the Ministry of Research but also the Ministry of

Finance and the Central Planning Commission.

A judgement on the success of the reform in terms of more successful research is not yet possible and data on interim evaluations are not publicly available. However, individual aspects such as greater clarity through the merging of research programmes, higher transparency through internet portals or shorter processing times can be identified, and interview partners report higher efficiency of project funding after the reform.

The proposal to look at the German system of project funding is derived on the one hand from the optimisation process in China. On the other hand, an analysis of German project funding would currently be appropriate as a complement to the discussion on fiscal research and development (R&D) funding and the establishment of the Agency for Leap Innovation. An analysis of German research funding could pursue similar goals as the reform in China, e.g. acceleration of procedures and administrative simplification. Innovative aspects should also be considered, such as digital transformation in funding processes.

### 5. Expansion of China competence

Chinese partners are highly important for the German innovation system today and this relevance will continue to increase in the coming years. A lack of language skills and knowledge about modern China are still obstacles to cooperation with China in research and among companies. Especially when innovative processes are to be developed or implemented, direct and trusting communication is an essential factor for success. Mutual understanding, the success of establishing German companies in China and the integration of Chinese companies in Germany depend on communication and mutual knowledge.

### a. Language and Modern Chinese Competence

It is in Germany's interest that learning Chinese becomes widely popular among Germans and that this is also supported in the best possible way. Current figures show a decline in language learners in Germany, in contrast to rising numbers in the USA and France. The learning of the Chinese language should be promoted in Germany in a special way. In addition, the expansion and networking of institutions for the study of China and the teaching of modern Chinese language skills should be supported.

# b. Bridging function of Chinese graduates in Germany

China has an active policy of sending students and academics abroad and bringing them back with degrees and skills. China benefits from education in Germany, which is not financed by tuition fees as it is in the USA, for example. Whereas in the past, Chinese educated abroad were often active in foreign companies later on, today they are increasingly going to Chinese companies in their home country. The reasons are manifold. One reason is that modern Chinese companies are now perceived as attractive employers and offer good working and promotion conditions.

Since the Chinese educated in Germany are a valuable resource for Germany as a location for innovation, programmes should be developed to make Germany attractive as a place to work and German companies or research institutions (in Germany and in China) attractive for Chinese talent (possibly through visa facilitation, more alumni programmes, support of universities for social integration already as students, special job fairs for Chinese interns or graduates, etc.). Job and career opportunities in German companies and public institutions should be presented. Successful Chinese in the German system (such as the former Chinese minister Wan Gang) should be made visible as "testimonial donors". Chinese graduates in Germany can take on an important bridging function, for example, in the establishment of Chinese in Germany, in the creation of technology profiles of Chinese partners or in the establishment of German companies in China. Chinese graduates from other EU countries should also be considered.

The current discussion on the outflow of knowledge and technologies via individual Chinese students or researchers to China (also linked to the dual-use issue) must be taken into account and critical areas defined and protected. Universities and employers must be informed as best as possible about relevant framework conditions and individual cases. However, this should not overshadow the predominantly uncritical and positive work of Chinese in Germany at universities and companies.

### 6. Chinese investments in Germany

Chinese investments in Germany have a predominantly positive effect on the German economy and are desirable. Nevertheless, it is important to discuss whether the Chinese state is behind some Chinese investors and financing is covertly subsidised in an unfair competition. Related to this is the question of whether the German state should step in as a buyer if a company cannot be bought by German or European investors but is relevant to the industrial sector or basic services in Germany. The current broader understanding is that the mechanism of EU investment screening is appropriate so that such cases become known and then a decision has to be made on how to proceed in each individual case. However, this should not obscure or slow down the fundamentally positive effect of Chinese investments.

In order to strengthen the intended positive effect of Chinese investments on German innovation, the investments should be guided by German economic needs as far as possible or be in the interests of both partners from the outset. This includes, for example, the creation of technology profiles of Chinese companies, regions or clusters. Targeted "technology scouting" in China and the targeted search for and recruitment of Chinese investors are also part of this. The goals and strategies of German and Chinese investors are often different and must be as well-known as possible on the German side, which also leads to different recommendations and approaches depending on the sector.

There are examples of German innovation agencies or cities that have been successful in actively approaching Chinese institutions and companies. Since China is very large, changes rapidly and new actors are always emerging or evolving, these approaches should be expanded. Germany should know the economic landscape in China as well as China knows Germany or Germany knows the USA. An active German approach will in turn make it easier for the Chinese partner to obtain approval for its foreign investment. This approach is also viewed positively on the Chinese side.

### 7. Seize opportunities in China

Foreign investors, start-up actors or even scientists and students who invest in technology development or are involved in technology development are desirable partners in China. There are various incentives to locate, e.g. in technology zones, science parks or incubators. However, China's innovation system is complex. The framework conditions, structures, financing options, actors, etc. are diverse. In some cases, settlement is linked to attractive financing or tax breaks, but these framework conditions are little documented and also rarely available in English. In China, personal contact, direct and repeated enquiries and the building of trust are still essential factors for success. German companies, especially larger ones that have been active in China for a longer period of time, often have corresponding departments that deal with China's structures and maintain contacts. Smaller companies or German research institutions do not have such facilities and there is a risk that they are not sufficiently informed about the opportunities and risks of an operation in China. There are German and European information and support services for German innovation actors who want to get involved in China. The AHKs and consultancies in China, for example, offer support. With European projects such as "Chinainnovationfunding.eu" or the "International IPR SME Helpdesk", the EU Commission also offers assistance. However, so far these are partly measures that act locally, are limited in time or have a thematically narrow mandate. The current formats do not cover China's diversity. In particular, too little information is prepared and published on the many support options at the provincial and city level. After taking stock of the current formats, the expansion of existing or the establishment of additional advisory and support measures could therefore help to fill knowledge gaps and offer better opportunities for German actors.

### 2. Innovation systems: The role of state guidance

National innovation systems are understood as a summary of the institutions, actors, their steering instruments and influencing factors that conduct scientific research, collect and communicate knowledge, develop technologies and produce and disseminate innovative products and processes. These actors are linked to each other by an extensive system of rules and relationships. (Belitz and Schrooten 2008).

Germany and China each have differentiated actor networks and employ a variety of intervention and steering instruments using a professional administration (Gerybadze 2015) . There are significant differences in the two systems, which can be seen in the form of differing priorities for the respective goals, the roles and opportunities for influence of the individual actors, and the use of steering instruments. (Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI; Science Information Service (idw) 08.04.2019). Basically, there are two different forms of society, law and government. The different political, historical and social environments in which both systems are embedded and the resulting framework conditions for the respective innovation system also have a decisive influence on the increasingly competitive situation. (Frietsch et al. 2018b).

The aim of the study is to compare aspects of both systems. This should make it possible to identify the particularly successful aspects of the Chinese system and, above all, those that particularly influence Germany.

The central goals of the Communist Party and the Chinese government, which also form the basis for innovation policy, are, according to the assessment of the former US administration (Harvard Fairbank Center for Chinese Studies 2019) the following (examples of innovation-relevant aspects according to their own classification):

- 1. Domestic and regional stability (e.g. Great (Internet) Fire Wall, NGO Laws, Cyber-Security Law, Social Scoring)
- 2. Continued growth of national economic power (e.g. Belt and Road Initiative, industrial policy, artificial intelligence strategy, Made in China 2025)
- 3. International respect and recognition of the legitimacy of the governance model (involvement in multilateral institutions, e.g. in standardisation).
- 4. Sufficient strength against external pressure (building up own financial instruments (e.g. Asian Investment Bank), investing in own technologies to become more independent (e.g. mega projects like Chinese aeroplane, etc.)
- 5. Consolidation of the national borders

Forty years after the start of China's reform and opening-up, the country can boast impressive progress in terms of its scientific and technological development. The Chinese government has responded to many of the challenges that China has faced and continues to face as a nation. For many years, the country has focused on education, research and innovation as the key factors for its further development. President Xi regularly refers to the country's innovation-driven development strategy and emphasises China's goal of becoming a global innovation leader by 2049:

"China has put its mind and heart and soul to not just being an innovator, but to being, in the words of Chinese president Xi Jinping, 'master of its own technologies. '" (Atkinson and Foote 2019, p. 2)

China's original economic model was largely dependent on foreign technologies and high resource consumption. China was considered the workbench of the world (Wübbeke et al. 2016). "Against this

background, a shift towards innovation-driven and sustainable growth and [...] upgrading of industries through new technologies and digitalisation began. Long-term industrial policy programmes such as the 'Made in China 2025' as well as industry- and sector-specific programmes (e.g. on artificial intelligence) support the industrial policy shift. At the same time, the development of the science and technology system is being driven forward in order to become more technologically independent" (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 52).

On China's path so far and also currently, state control plays a prominent role. Since the 1980s, the Chinese government has been trying to expand the innovation system through industrial policy measures and incentive mechanisms (see Chapter 5.1). More recently, experts have emphasised the growing role of "private" companies in the innovation process, for example in the area of mobile payment. However, the success of these "private" innovators was also possible because of the corresponding state-created freedom and incentive system. (Soo and Deng 2019) . What is undisputed is that in China, compared to Europe, there is a much closer interlocking of party, government, science and industry, which shapes the entire innovation system.



Figure 1: Degree of interconnectedness of the different sectors in the innovation system

Wissenschaft = Science, Industrie = Industry, Regierung = Government, Technologische Innovation = Technological Innovation

Source: own presentation, based on a presentation by the IISS (The International Institute for Strategic Studies) 2018: Emerging technology dominance: what China's pursuit of advanced dual-use technologies means for the future of Europe's economy and defence innovation. [no longer available online, was changed after a suggestion from a lecture by N. Pieke].

The state's course in recent years is a vertical industrial policy based on individual technologies or sectors. This contrasts with the more horizontal innovation support policy in Germany, where the state predominantly leaves the setting of topics to the free market. There are numerous examples of the consequences of state control in China, for example in the development of electromobility or in the wind energy sector. (Soo and Deng 2019).

Textbox 1: State innovation funding for electric vehicles

Since 2001, China has seen and promoted electric vehicles (EVs) as an important technology. Since 2017, Shenzhen-based BYD has become the world's largest EV vehicle supplier and several other companies have established themselves (e.g. WM Motor, Xpeng Motors, NIO). In 2017, this development was subsidised centrally and locally by the Chinese government to the tune of USD 7.7 billion (equivalent to about RMB 53.0 billion) for both manufacturers and buyers. In the same year, 770,000 EVs were manufactured in China and sold domestically (199,000 in the US) (Soo and Deng 2019).

Textbox 2: Technology and market leadership in wind energy

In 2006, the Chinese government launched a policy initiative to build a strong national wind energy industry while developing it as an important energy resource. This initiative was accompanied by scientific research, regulatory measures and specialised administrative measures such as the designation of appropriate areas for wind farms (National Development and Reform Commission 2006). This initiative was accompanied by the granting of lucrative concessions for wind energy production and own feed-in regulations. This coordinated mix of instruments led to a rapid increase in wind energy use in China (Lewis 2011). Before 2000, there was no national wind turbine market; installed wind turbines played only a small role until 2005. From 2006 onwards, the number of installed wind turbines doubled and from 2010 onwards, about 30 % of the world's turbines were installed in China. Already in 2013, China had the highest wind energy production in the world with 91.4 gigawatts and at that time the Chinese industry (Goldwind, Guodian United Power, Mingyang Wind Power as well as Sinovel) was one of the major players worldwide (Chinese Wind Energy Association 2014). (Huang and Sharif 2016, p. 67).

In recent years, companies (Huawei, Tencent, Baidu, etc.) have developed into innovation drivers of the Chinese economy, partly with state assistance, but also often taking advantage of the greater freedoms during the reform period through their own initiatives. This impressive development is also leading to increasing involvement in world markets for these companies. Nevertheless, it is clear that the state also has a say in these companies when it deems it necessary. (Bartsch 2016).

# 2.1 Government structure in China with innovation relevance

The pronounced role of state control for the Chinese innovation system is rooted in the institutional structure of the Chinese state and the interwoven role of the communist party. At the same time, there is a contradiction in the strictly hierarchical top-down direction of content and the size, disparity and high complexity of the system, which does not actually allow for any uniform guidelines. Chinese government policy must therefore elaborate and formulate all guidelines in such a way that, although centrally prescribed, they can be adapted to regional and local conditions. Therefore, regulations often appear rather general and unclear. Often, regulations are published as "regulations on trial" or "provisional regulations" and are, as it were, first tested. German actors in Beijing say in interviews that they do not expect clear guidelines from the Chinese side, but are in a mode of "constant adaptation" (Interview 2019).

It is only through the feedback from the regions on central guidelines and the then incipient convergence of positions by the central and local actors that a system suitable for the various participants develops. In this process, the authority of the Communist Party is an essential partly invisible factor. The expectation of the party to participate in the central initiatives leads to all local and sometimes private actors engaging positively with these initiatives and submitting their own input or initiatives. There will also be negative feedback, but this will not be dealt with publicly.

The institutional reforms in various areas of the central science and innovation system that have been implemented and started since the change of China's political leadership in 2012/2013 have currently been summarised by GIGA in Figure 2 (Frietsch et al. 2018a). The authors mainly address questions about the new governance structure of the science and innovation system as well as questions about new instruments and goals. The reform primarily affects the centrally supervised and financed structures and budgets. At the same time, of course, the reform is also reflected at the local level, as the respective central ministries and structures are mirrored in the provinces. The research ministry in a province is subordinate to the central research ministry (unlike in Germany).



# Figure 2: "Governance" structure of the Chinese state science and technology system, end 20181)

	1) Abbr	eviations:	
NSFC	National Natural Science Foundation of China	MOHRSS	Ministry of Human Resources and Social
			Security
MOST	Ministry of Science and Technology	MOA	Ministry of Agriculture (Ministry of Landscape)
MIIT	Ministry of Industry and Information Technology	SAMR	State Administration for Market Regulation
NDRC	National Development and Reform Commission	CAS	Chinese Adacemy of Science
NIS	National Innovation System	CASS	Chinese Adademy of Social Sciences
MOE	Ministry of Education	CAE	Chinese Adademy of Engineering
MOF	Ministry of Finance		

Source: Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 53

Figure 2 shows the structure of the steering organisations of the Chinese research system at the central level in 2018. At the political level, the State Council as well as the leadership groups and the Interministerial Conference play crucial roles. According to Schüller, the conference, which was founded in 2015, is (Frietsch et al. 2018a) the "most important coordination and decision-making body for public research funding" as an "example of top-level design, through which structural and institutional barriers within the governmental and administrative apparatus are to be overcome and

*efficient implementation of policy goals is to be achieved.*" (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 54). At the level of ministries and research organisations, particular mention should be made of the Chinese Ministry of Science (MOST): "*In the field of research planning and funding as well as in evaluation, the ministry now plays a key role*." (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 55)

Further essential aspects of the reform were the reorganisation and integration of the previous multilayered system of support into five pillars (DLR Project Management Agency and VDI-TZ 2015) :

- 1. "National Natural Science Foundation China" to improve sources of innovation (basic research, exploratory cutting-edge research, human resource development).
- 2. "Major National S&T Projects" to solve important problems within a set timeframe by focusing on strategic products and the most important industrialisation goals and using national synergies
- 3. "Key National R&D Programme" for continuous support of application-oriented research with a focus on research cooperation between authorities, industry, regions or with other countries.
- 4. "Incentive Program for Tech Innovations (Fund)" for the provision of venture capital to industrialise scientific and technological achievements
- 5. "Industrial Base and Human Capital Programme" to improve research infrastructure

According to statements by Chinese interviewees, there is currently no evaluation of the effectiveness and impact of the reform, as the entire new system was only introduced "a short" time ago (interviews 2019). The aim of the reform was to make administration more efficient while at the same time clearly emphasising the top-down approach, as well as to improve research results.

"China is currently undergoing an ambitious reform of its national funding system for science, technology and innovation (STI) as well as its institutional setup. The reform, combined with an increasing national budget allocated for research and innovation (an average annual increase of 10 % in the last three years), aims to fully unleash China's innovation-driven development strategy." (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2018, p. 6)

# 2.2 Innovation-relevant strategies in China

China avoids the word strategy in political contexts because it is linked militarily in Chinese (the word "strategy" in Chinese consists of 2 characters 战略 (*Zhan Lüe*) and 战 (*Zhan*) meaning war or battle). Instead, strategic documents are referred to by terms such as approaches, initiatives, plans or the like. The documents often differ from Western strategy papers in terms of content, style or target concreteness. The Chinese documents are to be understood as guidelines, they serve as a framework for science, industry and society and are primarily directed inwards. They are less concrete action-guiding process documents with clear specifications, concrete implementation tools and measurable goals (interviews 2019). Documents overlap in terms of time and content. Plans and programmes are often published with ambitious target figures and thus convey relative concreteness. However, even these figures on planning and target setting for individual provinces can be found in official documents. However, robust figures on the implementation and progress of individual initiatives and plans are hard to find. Detailed monitoring and progress reports are not publicly available. The achievement of objectives of plans is hardly measurable for outsiders.

The framework for Chinese research and innovation policy is set by national plans. To achieve the goals stated in the plans, the government uses its own instruments at the central level, such as increased research funding for individual areas. At the same time, however, it expects local actors to participate, from provincial and municipal governments to universities and business enterprises. Above all, state-

owned enterprises (SOEs) and state-affiliated companies are expected to implement central requirements constructively. However, the private sector, which is more distant from the state, also always pays attention to state requirements. The social credit system, which is currently being introduced, is also intended to systematically record the state-appropriate behaviour of enterprises. (Dorloff 2019; Cheng 2019).

An overarching motive of the various current plans is the desire to make Chinese companies independent innovators, following the example of companies from Japan, Korea or Taiwan, and thus to make the Chinese economy as a whole more independent from foreign countries. This motive can be found, for example, in the following plans: "13th Five-Year Plan for Science and Technology", "13th Five-Year Plan for National Informatization", "The National Cybersecurity Strategy" and "Made in China 2025 Strategy". (Atkinson and Foote 2019, p. 3).

For the national orientation, the "Five-Year Plans" and the "Medium- to Long-Term Development Plan for Science and Technology (2006-2020)" are the main overarching documents. For sub-sectors of the economy, additional plans are drawn up for concretisation, such as the Made in China 2025 document on innovation and technological performance. In recent years, Chinese planning documents have also increasingly aimed at international cooperation and direct Chinese influence abroad. The Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) is a visible initiative here.

# 2.2.1 Medium- to long-term development plan for science and technology

The "Medium to Long Term Development Plan for Science and Technology (2006-2020)" (MLP), published in 2006, is considered a decisive turning point for the further development of the Chinese innovation system (Atkinson and Foote 2019) . The overarching goal is to promote independent innovation capacities. In 2006, China set the goal of increasing the share of national research and development (R&D) in GDP to 2.5 % by 2020. (Soo and Deng 2019) . In addition, the MLP identifies industries, technologies and research areas that are considered central to the further development of the Chinese innovation system and to which particular importance is attached from this point onwards at the latest, which is also reflected in corresponding funding programmes, for example. According to Frietsch et. al., *"the increase in economic performance and the expansion of the national innovation system in China [...] in the years since WTO accession in 2001 and especially after the publication of the medium- to long-term plan on science and technology in 2006 was also significantly supported by the development of the science system. In addition to massive investments in science - especially through an expansion of institutional funding at universities and the Chinese Academy of Sciences, but also through numerous programme and project funding - this can be evidenced by various output indicators of the science system." (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 85).* 

The guidelines for the further development of China's innovation system laid down in the MLP were then taken up in the subsequent five-year plans, further specified and thus translated into the development of structures and framework conditions in order to come closer to the goals set. Measured by the example of R&D expenditure as a percentage of GDP, China is following its plan targets and, according to OECD data from 2017, achieved a value of 2.13 % (see Figure 5).

# 2.2.2 Current 13th Five-Year Plan 2016-2020

In the 13th Five-Year Plan (2016-2020), the Chinese government published its long-term plan targets, which also includes the period 2030 to 2050:

- "In 2020, China wants to be among the 15 most innovative countries in the world. By that time, advances in science and technology should contribute more than 60 per cent to overall economic growth and knowledge-based services should account for 20 per cent of GDP. R&D intensity is expected to increase to 2.5 per cent in 2020. [...] The National Innovation System should provide stronger support for innovative forces, create more synergies between science and business, provide stronger protection for intellectual property rights and promote

entrepreneurship.

- In 2030, China wants to be one of the leading innovation countries. This is expected to be accompanied by significant increases in international competitiveness and the general level of development. The increase in R&D intensity to 2.8 percent by 2030 should enable China to play a leading role in many strategic areas. [...] To achieve this, the NIS [National Innovation System] is to provide stronger support for synergies between science and business and promote a culture of innovation based on high legal and moral standards.
- By 2050, China aims to achieve a strong global leadership position and be a hub for science and innovation. [...]As an international hub for science and innovation, China aims to be attractive to the best talents and international leading scientists, as well as to have a group of world-class research institutes, universities and innovative enterprises. "(Frietsch et al. 2018a, pp. 56-57)

China is ranked 14th (Germany 9th) in the World Economic Forum's 2019 Global Innovation Index (2018: China 17, Germany 9). (World Economic Forum (WEF) 2019). With the current Five-Year Plan, there also seems to be a visible shift towards civil-military research and development cooperation. Thus, various aspects in the field of R&D in the current Five-Year Plan also have military relevance: Aircraft engines, gas turbines, quantum communications and others. This also includes China's ambitions in the field of nuclear fusion or the development of multifunctional satellites. The USA therefore sees a clear deepening of China's military research ambitions in the current five-year plan. (Defense Intelligence Agency USA 2019, p. 105). This stronger interlinking of military and civilian research is also quite openly the goal of current R&D policy:

"We will improve systems and mechanisms for integrating military and civilian development as well as the systems concerning organisational management, work, and policy." (National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) 2016, p. 214)

# 2.2.3 Made in China 2025

The Made in China 2025 Initiative (MIC 2025) is a 10-year plan published in 2015 that aims to develop China as a technology nation. The country is to become the global technological leader in various fields. Ten key industries are defined in which technology leadership is to be achieved by 2049. These industries are in detail (State Council of the People's Republic of China 2015c) :

- High-tech shipbuilding and maritime industry
- Advanced rail transport
- Agricultural machinery
- Aerospace
- Biopharmacy and medical technology
- Next generation information technologies
- Energy and power generation
- Computer-controlled machines and robots
- Vehicles with alternative drives
- New materials

It is the transfer of the hitherto national strategy of vertical technology support to the world scale. China is to emancipate itself further from the model as the "workbench of the world", which can no longer be sustained in the long term due to rising production costs at home and competition from other, cheaper-producing countries. In order to avoid falling into the "middle income trap", the economy is to generate

urgently needed economic growth with the help of the Made in China 2025 strategy, especially in the high-tech sectors. (McBridge and Chatzky 2019).

Made in China 2025 was inspired by the German Industrie 4.0 concept, among others, but goes much further, as it involves much stronger and more concrete state involvement and is a form of industrial policy (Zenglein and Holzmann 2018). In contrast to Industry 4.0, it is also about replacing imports with domestic production and thus about concrete effects on foreign trade. (McBridge and Chatzky 2019). Overall, the strategy is so broad that one can speak of a general modernisation of production. Many companies are also trying to secure subsidies beyond the specifically mentioned high-tech sectors. (Coym and Kedl 2019).

One reason for the development of MIC 2025 was the desire to be less dependent on foreign partners. China could boast a large industrial landscape, but it was weak in terms of quality, brand visibility, its high dependency and low productivity (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 14).

### **Concrete goals of MIC 2015**

MIC 2025 has mainly concrete national targets: for example, by 2025, 80% of national demand for control IT tools should be provided by Chinese companies; 70% of robotics products and 60% of "big data" applications; 60% of IT applications in smart manufacturing; and 50% in industrial software (Atkinson and Foote 2019, p. 3). These goals are to build a competitive industry in China that creates jobs, reduces dependencies and creates value in the country. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019; Institute for Security & Development Policy (ISDP) 2019).

The initiative was published in May 2015 together with various information on measures and instruments. (State Council of the People's Republic of China 2015b) including that "National Innovation Demonstration Zones" (NIDZs) will be a key new element of the initiative (see also Chapter 5.3, p. 110, on innovation support instruments) (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 13).

### The following steps after 2025

The target year of the initiative 2025 refers to the end of the first phase, in which the foundations are laid. By then, a relevant number of companies should have reached a global scale or be able to keep up with Western countries. The following phase up to 2035 should bring the Chinese economy to the same level as that of industrially competitive countries. By 2049, the date of the 100th anniversary of the People's Republic of China, the country should be a global leader. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 13).

### **Implementation of MIC 2025**

The implementation of MIC 2025 has been centrally decreed as explained above; the project is coordinated by the State Council and managed by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MIIT). For example, the Chinese Academy of Engineering (CAE) plays a role as a promoter for the National Demonstration Zones and Pilot Programmes. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 15). As with other programmes in China, a variety of other initiatives at provincial, district and city levels play an important role.

A key intention of MIC 2025 (as with other plans and initiatives) is to increase the efficiency of the innovation system. This is visible in the reform of the funding system, the restructuring of research funding agencies and also the increasingly important evaluation of programme/project results. Within this framework, the newly launched "Mega-Project" programmes in particular aim in the direction of strong vertical technological development. At the same time, legislation and regulation will be reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted if they hinder the achievement of the MIC 2025 goals. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, pp. 14-15).

From the perspective of the European Union 2019 analysis (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 64) China has the capabilities to achieve the MIC 2025 goals. Currently, however, the Chinese companies that are successfully active worldwide still have a rather narrow specialisation in the IT applications sub-sector, especially in the areas of audiovisual applications, optical applications, telecommunications, semiconductors, etc. The EU or the USA have a broader and more balanced product portfolio. The EU or the USA have a broader and more balanced product portfolio in industry and also in research (see Figure 3).





1) The Industrial R&D Investment Scoreboard, published annually by the EU, takes into account the 2500 companies worldwide with the largest R&D expenditures. Based on this, the scoreboard shows the strengths of companies in China, the USA and the EU in individual subject areas. This shows that companies from the USA and the EU can claim technological leadership in significantly more areas. China is only superior in a few areas, especially in digitalisation and information technologies.

Source: Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 62

### China's vertical industrial policy

China has been successful in the past with its consistent vertical industrial and innovation policy, see e.g. the successful examples of digital communication and optical technologies (see Figure 3). Rapid technology development is possible mainly through the focus on single themes/technologies, the combination of incentives and subsidies, the use of innovative public procurement, appropriately themefocused research funding, and the implementation of initiatives at many levels by a number of actors and instruments owing to the authority of the Party.

These technologies are rapidly improved in the large national market through multiple applications from one technology stage to the next. The accompanying market dominance of domestic suppliers - also due to market foreclosure - does entail the risk of diminishing pressure to innovate, but this pressure will increase again when the technology enters the global market. The already existing strengths in IT and telecommunications will accelerate and improve these processes in other technologies, especially since the further development of other products is often essentially also about digitalisation (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019, p. 11).

The approach is complemented by (forced) technology transfer, joint ventures, foreign acquisition of technologies/firms/patents, training of experts abroad and other measures to exploit international knowhow. This systematic state support of the Chinese economy is criticised by the current US administration, among others (Rubio 2019).

However, the question arises whether this vertical industrial policy, which has been successful for individual technology developments, can also work for the technology breadth formulated by MIC 2025. The broader China spreads its support measures, the lower the impact for individual technology approaches. At the same time, China will increasingly experience the "innovation paradox" as a challenge for all innovation-driven economies: The higher the level of technological development, the more effort must be expended to reach the next higher level. (Xavier Cirera, William F. Maloney 2017). This effect will occur all the faster and more strongly the further China's industry moves out of the protected national space into international technology competition.

### **International reactions to MIC 2015**

The perception in the West of MIC 2025 is dominated by the concern that market access in China for foreign products is being reduced because they are being systematically replaced by domestic products. This may be through direct preference for Chinese firms or through direct and indirect regulations that disadvantage foreign firms. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 16). A technology leap in China, supported by substantial state funds, will primarily benefit Chinese firms and consumers. However, an overall broader technology and industrial market in China also offers more opportunities for foreign suppliers. The developing higher costs for Chinese firms lead to improved competitiveness of foreign firms, in China and also internationally.

In addition to limited market access, Made in China 2025 criticises China's handling of intellectual property and targeted Chinese investments abroad. MIC 2025 is interpreted by the USA as an attack on Western market economies and their innovation potential. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2018). The current US administration sees Chinese trade practices, such as subsidies for national companies, on the one hand as one of the causes of the US's persistent trade deficit, and on the other hand as direct competition between two economic and political systems. In the eves of the US, a struggle for economic dominance and political strength is being fought in which China represents the most significant economic opponent. The main concern is China's industrial policy, which is a mix of state planning, interventionism and market reforms. (Mildner and Schmucker 2019) . One consequence of this state-led model, they fear, could be the control by a geopolitical rival of entire supply chains and thus entire industries. From the US perspective, China's growing influence in global industry also poses a national security problem. (McBridge and Chatzky 2019). Such reactions came as a surprise to the Chinese leadership: for a long time, the Made in China 2025 strategy was seen primarily as an opportunity to strengthen economic cooperation abroad. Since this view was not shared at the international level, Chinese media have recently refrained from reporting on the strategy. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2018) . The Western interpretation of open competition and confrontation remains: in a report by the US Senate Committee on Small Business and Entrepreneurship, Made in China 2025 was summarised as the Chinese leadership's way of setting new conditions for international competition. (Rubio 2019) . Former Republican leader Marco Rubio stated in a foreword:

"The 'Made in China 2025' industrial plan announced in 2015 by the Chinese government makes their goal clear. China aims to become the global leader in innovation and manufacturing. This would be an unacceptable outcome for American workers." (Mildner and Schmucker 2019, p. 11)

However, there are also Western assessments that see the positive sides of the planned next technological step in the Chinese economy. For example, the UK Trade and Invest /China-Britain Business Council concludes that MIC 2025 will create opportunities for the UK:

"Despite its overt theme of Chinese technological independence, MIC 2025 is in reality a source of great opportunity for UK companies that can help China to implement the changes required." (UK Trade & Investment and China-Britain Business Council, p. 6)

This position is complemented by the demand for ambitious and common goals, as also formulated by the BDI and Cameron. (Mair et al. 2019) and Cameron have also formulated:

"The EU has to invest more in understanding China, which is a growing and formidable rival. EU leaders need to spend more time discussing China and agreeing a comprehensive approach covering all sectors. It should work with likeminded partners where there are shared interests concerning China." (Cameron 2019, p. 1)

### **Balance sheet of MIC 2025**

As part of MERICS studies, Zenglein and Holzmann (2018 and 2019) conducted evaluations of MIC 2025. They partly relied on figures from the Chinese MIIT (Ministry of Industry and Information Technology). The following observations can be made for individual aspects.

Three areas in which China sees itself far ahead, for example, are telecommunications, the rail sector with its high-speed technology, and the energy sector in the ultra-high-voltage segment. However, there are also deficits here, for example in sensors and semiconductor chips. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2018).

According to a recent report by MERICS, MIC 2025 can point to successes in the areas of smart manufacturing, digitalisation and future technologies, where Chinese companies are playing an increasingly important role. For example, seven of the top ten battery manufacturers for e-vehicles come from China, and Chinese telecoms companies ZTE and Huawei are leading the roll-out of 5G networks. But here, too, China remains dependent on foreign core technologies. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2019). In a report by the Leibniz Information Centre for Economics, Kunze concludes that a large part of the ten MIC 2025 core industries are undergoing a transformation process. Currently, the industries are "*still in the lower to middle range of the global value chain*". (Kunze 2018, p. 7).

Some experts suggest that China will not be able to achieve all targets across the board by 2025 (Kunze 2018). At the beginning of 2018, the government provided information on the areas to be targeted by China's industrial policy efforts. On the one hand, there is a clear focus on artificial intelligence. On the other hand, the government has identified regionally different industrial focal points to enable a focus on local strengths. This is to prevent provinces from aiming at all targets at the same time and then not being able to fulfil any of the targets well. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2018). However, since it is still not possible to quantify how much money has gone into MIC 2025 in the meantime, it is hardly possible to evaluate it. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2019).

### 2.2.4 Belt and Road Initiative

China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) is a geopolitical strategy that aims to open up new trade routes, build infrastructure, and promote cultural and scientific exchanges with numerous countries around the world through international cooperation. China's President Xi first unveiled the project in 2013 and it is seen as his "signature-project" by whose success he is measured (European Union 2018; Belt and Road Portal (中国 "一带一路 "网) 2019).

Despite the high level of international attention the initiative has received since then, there is no official document documenting the number of countries involved. As a result, the numbers of countries participating in BRI vary from 80 to over 130. Furthermore, it is hardly possible to distinguish BRI projects from conventional collaborations. An overview of the overall financial framework is also very difficult, as the information varies greatly depending on the source. According to the Chinese Ministry of Commerce, investments by Chinese companies in the period from 2013 to 2018 amounted to 90 billion USD (approx. 630 billion RMB). (Duchâtel 2019) In total, projects worth USD 900 billion (approx. RMB 6.3 trillion) are said to be under implementation or at least in detailed planning. (Germany Trade and Invest (GTAI) 2019). As there are no clear criteria that a project has to meet to be considered part of the Belt and Road Initiative, older projects are also reclassified and included in the overall figures. (Goodman and Hillman 2019).

Much of the BRI literature refers to the global expansion of new trade routes, driven by massive investments in freight and airports, rail and high-speed rail, power plants and roads. Masood assumes an estimated sum of over one trillion. USD (approx. 7 trillion RMB) that the Chinese government is investing in BRI, or that includes "BRI-labelled" projects, and speaks of the largest infrastructure project since the Marshall Plan (Masood 2019, p. 25). At least six new trade routes will be promoted, four of which will run over land and two through the sea. The two routes of the "Maritime Silk Road" lead from southern China via Malaysia, Sri Lanka and India to Africa and southern Europe. Here, Chinese companies are investing primarily in seaports, airports and cargo handling centres along the routes. At the same time, overland trade routes are being realised through the construction of new train routes and motorways, power plants and inland ports from China to Southeast, South and Central Asia, as well as to Eastern and Central Europe. (Winter 2016). Meanwhile, BRI is also targeting regions in Australia and Latin America.

President Xi stresses that besides developing new trade routes, science is an important pillar of the BRI (Roussi 2019) . However, it is difficult to find concrete BRI R&I-relevant projects and assess their impact due to the lack of meaningful documents (see also BRI aspects in chapter 6.1). The EU is not an official partner of the BRI. Nevertheless, there are individual projects in Europe that are classified as BRI, the majority of which are infrastructure projects. (Jung-Grimm 2019) .

### 2.2.5 16+1 or 17+1 cooperation initiative

In 2012, even before the introduction of the BRI, China established an international initiative with then 16, now 17 Central, Eastern and Southeastern European countries (Greece joined in April 2019). The "17+1 Cooperation" or "China-CEEC Cooperation" (China and Central East European Countries Cooperation) links China with twelve EU member states (Bulgaria, Estonia, Greece, Croatia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Czech Republic, Hungary) and five countries that are not members of the EU (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, Northern Macedonia, Serbia). The aim of the initiative is to cooperate on numerous topics, such as trade, investment, mobility, health and cultural exchange, as well as science, technology and education. (Cooperation between China and Central and Eastern European Countries (CEEC) 2019). In the meantime, 17+1 and BRI activities in Europe have come together. As part of the cooperation, annual meetings with the government representatives of the 18 nations have been held since 2012. While most investments are in infrastructure, scientific cooperation includes Chinese medicine centres in Hungary, the Czech Republic and Montenegro, as well as a China-Central and Eastern Europe Institute in Budapest. (Roussi 2019). Overall, this initiative by the Chinese government may lead to the weakening of the European Union. On the other hand, large EU countries such as Germany and France also maintain their own bilateral forms of cooperation with China. (Benner et al. 2018, p. 7).

### 2.2.6 World Bank Study: Elaboration of a "3+6+7 Reform Agenda

The initiatives described above promote China's economic growth and drive the country's development.

However, in order to promote the economy in the long term and sustainably, China needs new drivers of growth ("drivers of growth"), which are elaborated in a recent study by the World Bank together with the Development Research Center of the State Council of China (DRC). China has a "Human Capital Index" of 0.67 and ranks 46th in the world (in 2018), according to the World Bank. (World Bank 2018) . Moreover, significantly fewer workers in China have a tertiary degree than in OECD countries. While in OECD countries on average about 37% of all workers have a university degree, in China it is only about 20%. (World Bank and Development Research Center of the State Council 2019; OECD 2019) . The proportion of academics in the workforce is also lower in China than in OECD countries. Furthermore, China faces challenges in terms of productivity growth, which has been much slower than before over the last decade. Total factor productivity, a comprehensive measure of how productively an economy uses capital and workers, is only about half as high in China as in OECD countries. (World Bank and Development Research Center of the State Council 2019) .

To counteract these developments, the World Bank and the DRC have developed the so-called "3+6+7 Reform Agenda". It aims to increase China's productivity and promote economic growth and innovation. The agenda first defines *three* growth drivers, the three D's: "Reducing Distortions", "Accelerating Diffusion" and "Fostering Discovery" (see Figure 4). This refers to improving the allocation of resources, diffusing advanced technologies and promoting research and innovation. What is important here is a more effective allocation of resources that is oriented towards market competition, as well as the creation of a true balance between market and state economies. Accordingly, state-owned enterprises will continue to play a major role, but they should compete on an equal footing with non-state-owned enterprises so that the most productive firms can prevail.

#### Figure 4: The three D's of the "3+6+7 reform agenda



Source: World Bank and Development Research Center of the State Council 2019, xix

*Six* strategic choices should drive the three D's and promote economic growth: (1) equal alignment of the three drivers of growth; (2) a competitive market economy; (3) a balance between government and business; (4) mutually profitable trade and investment agreements with international partners; (5) a balance between reforms to supply and demand; (6) preparation for the future impact of technological change.

Structural and institutional reforms in *seven* critical areas are to help address the challenges of the three D's. Here, the aim is to (1) transform industrial policy and expand market competition; (2) promote innovation and the digital economy; (3) develop human capital; (4) allocate resources effectively; (5) support regional development and inclusion; (6) promote economic globalisation and competitiveness; and (7) launch and regulate the next transformation.

The document on the "3+6+7 Reform Agenda" analyses that China is dependent on mutually profitable

trade with international partners and should therefore make the framework conditions fair. Another highlighted point is addressing the impact of digital transformation on China's labour market and on regional and social disparity. Because of new technologies and innovations, especially AI, robotics and automation, the labour market is changing. Many jobs are at risk and workers with higher degrees are predominantly needed. This is an issue that also concerns Germany (Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) 2019). The report also calls for a further international opening of China, a more horizontal industrial policy and more open cybersecurity legislation. It also recommends reducing regional disparities in China, which continue to disadvantage large sections of society. According to the authors of the study, only a market opening in China can lead to the country taking the next step in international competitiveness and economic development. (World Bank and Development Research Center of the State Council 2019).

The recommendations from the study, in essence the "3+6+7 reform agenda", take up many demands of Western actors on China as important next steps for China's further rise. The study thus provides a basis for joint dialogue with China.

### 2.3 Investment in research and innovation

China's spending on R&D has risen steadily, from 0.72% of gross domestic product in 1991 to 2.13% in 2017 (Germany from 2.4% in 1991 to 3.02% in 2017) (see Figure 5). This means that China is still below the OECD average of 2.37 %, but if one looks at the absolute figures, only the USA spends more money on R&D than China (see Figure 6). The absolute figures also show the rapid catching-up process that China has started in recent decades. Japan and Germany were already overtaken 10 and 15 years ago, respectively.







Figure 6: Gross domestic expenditure on R&D (GERD) adjusted for purchasing power (1981-2017)<sup>1)</sup>

1) in billions of USD Source: Own presentation on the basis of OECD 2019b

When collecting statistics in the field of R&D, one repeatedly comes across very different figures, especially when comparing European/Western and Chinese sources. It is not always clear from the sources themselves how the differences arise. In the following, therefore, the standardised statistics of the OECD are used as far as possible to enable comparability with Germany and the EU (the OECD also relies on data from China and these are not always reliable). (Yang 2019a) ). However, some statistics on China can only be found in Chinese publications and have been included.

For 2020, China has set itself the goal of spending 2.5% of its GDP on research. The target seems ambitious, but within reach. Germany reached the 3% target in 2017 and is currently discussing a 3.5% target, which would roughly correspond to R&D spending of EUR 125 billion in 2025. (Frietsch et al. 2017) . In contrast to the consistent development and ambitious targets of Germany and China in terms of R&D intensity (i.e. R&D expenditure in relation to GDP), the EU as a whole is stagnating at around 2% (see Figure 5, p. 32). This is mainly due to the fact that, in addition to the growing R&D expenditure, GDP has also risen significantly (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 59) .



Figure 7: R&D expenditure vs GDP growth rate in China and the EU (1991-2017)

Source: Own representation based on (OECD 2019b)

### 2.3.1 Sources and structure of R&D expenditure

Businesses now play a major role in China's R&D system, as they provide much of the research funding.

From the early 1990s to 2017, business R&D spending increased sharply and is now higher than in the EU (see Figure 8). In China, about 76% of research spending is currently borne by businesses (for comparison: in the US it is 64%, in Germany 66%, in the EU 57%, in the OECD 63%. (OECD 2019b).

While in Germany about 2/3 of R&D spending has been done by industry for many years, in China the share of industry has built up within 20 years and this development seems to be continuing.



Figure 8: Business expenditure on R&D (BERD) in billion USD1<sup>)</sup> adjusted for purchasing power (1981-2017<sup>)</sup>

A direct comparison between Germany and China in research funding (Figure 9) shows that the share of government expenditure is initially higher on the German side. However, it should be noted that in China, due to the economic structure, expenditure by companies also includes expenditure by state-owned and state-related companies. This makes it difficult to compare the figures. In contrast to Germany, R&D investments from abroad are hardly relevant in China (see Figure 9 and Chapter 6).





1) No data for China on "expenditure from other national sources".

Staatliche Ausgaben: Government spending, Unternehmensausgaben = Corporate spending, Ausgaben aus dem Ausland = Expenses from abroad, Ausgaben aus anderen nationalen Quellen = Expenditure from other national sources Source: Own representation based on (OECD 2019b)

In Chinese research, a large part of the money is invested in so-called experimental development for market-oriented adaptation and implementation research. Significantly less funds flow into basic

Business expenditure on R&D (BERD) does not come exclusively from businesses, but may also be financed to a small extent by government or other agencies. Source: Own representation based on (OECD 2019b)

research or so-called applied research. Based on Chinese statistics with total research expenditures of 1.76 trio. RMB (approx. EUR 220 billion) in 2017, only just under RMB 98 billion (approx. EUR 12 billion) was spent on basic research and just under RMB 185 billion (approx. EUR 24 billion) on applied research (see Figure 10). For experimental development, i.e. research very close to the commercialisation of a product, on the other hand, expenditure is higher and corresponds to almost 1.5 trillion RMB (190 billion EUR) in 2017. RMB (EUR 190 billion). This can be partly explained by the high industrial share of R&D investment, but public funders also prefer investments with quick results.

Meanwhile, China is also increasingly investing in basic research (see Figure 10). Thus, in both the MOST and the NSFC, and in Chinese R&D spending overall, even more growth can be seen in basic research in the years since 2016 (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 57).





1) According to Chinese statistics; figures in %

Grundlagenforschung = basic research, Angewandte Forschung = applied research, Experimentelle Forschung = experimental research

Source: own presentation based on data from Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

Textbox 3: Explanation of terms used in the Chinese R&D system

Misunderstandings occur time and again due to the use of words in different ways or to translation interpretations:

The following terms are used in Chinese R&D statistics:

**Basic research** refers to experimental or theoretical research conducted to gain new knowledge about the fundamental principles of phenomena and observable facts. It is not intended for any particular or specific application or use.

**Applied research** refers to creative research conducted to determine the potential uses of basic research findings or to explore new methods or new approaches to achieve a predetermined goal. Applied research is primarily directed towards a specific purpose or goal.

**Experimental development refers to** the use of existing knowledge from basic research, applied research and practical experience to create new processes, systems and services for the creation of new products, materials and devices, as well as systematic work to significantly improve the above items that have been created and established.

Source: Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

# 2.3.2 Regional differences in China

Local governments play a major role in government R&D spending, i.e. the implementation of plans in China. Almost half of government spending does not come from the central government, but from provinces and cities (see Figure 11). This has an influence on which regions in China have the highest

R&D investments.



Figure 11: Distribution of public R&D expenditure among government actors (2016)<sup>1)</sup>

Zentralregierung = central government, Lokalregierung = local government Source: own representation based on data from Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

In general, the eastern and south-eastern provinces are more economically developed than the central, northern and western regions. The largest industries and companies are also more likely to be found in the coastal provinces, and their corporate spending on R&D further reinforces the large regional differences. Figure 12 clearly shows this difference between the provinces.



Figure 12: R&D expenditure of Chinese provinces incl. economy in 100 million RMB (2016)<sup>1)</sup>

1) At the provincial level, Guangdong in the south (RMB 72.26 billion, approx. EUR 9.2 billion) and Jiangsu (RMB 35.09 billion, approx. EUR 4.46 billion) and Shanghai (RMB 34.17 billion, approx. EUR 4.35 billion) in the east are in the top group for local R&D funding. Source: Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

China and especially China's coastal regions must be understood as economic variables in their own right, rather than merely as a part of the centralised system. (Sigurdson 2004, p. 7).

The differences between China's cities are even more pronounced (see Figure 13). There, individual cities such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Beijing stand out with their R&D spending and stand far apart from the rest of the country. The great importance of individual cities within a province is also evident.

For example, Shenzhen's R&D expenditure (with the companies located there such as Huawei, Tencent, etc.) corresponds to more than half of the total expenditure of Guangdong province.



Figure 13: Comparison of R&D expenditure of Chinese cities incl. economy in 20161)

1) At the city level, Shenzhen (RMB 40.4 bn, approx. EUR 5 bn), Shanghai (RMB 34.2 bn, approx. EUR 4.3 bn) and Beijing (RMB 28.6 bn, approx. EUR 3.6 bn) have the highest allocated R&D expenditure.

### Source: Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

### 2.4 Institutions and main research fields

The state R&D budget is divided among various institutions. The Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS) had by far the largest budget in 2016, with almost RMB 50 billion (approx. EUR 6.25 billion: cf. MPG EUR 1.8 billion 2017). Institutionally, it is on the same level as the ministries. The Ministry of Research MOST and the Chinese National Natural Science Foundation (NSFC) are in second and third place, each receiving almost RMB 30 billion (approx. EUR 3.7 billion, cf. DFG 2018 EUR 3.4 billion); the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology and the Ministry of Agriculture each receive around RMB 10 billion (approx. EUR 1.2 billion) (see Figure 14). All other institutions receive far less funding. Figure 14 clearly shows the importance of the so-called "megaprojects" - large-scale measures that focus on individual technologies - in China. In contrast to the other special programmes, they are shown separately and take up more than half of the MOST budget, for example. Together with the expenditure for technical research, more than 2/3 of the MOST budget is spent on more industrial policy goals.



Figure 14: Main state actors in Chinese R&D in 2016

Source: Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019





Source: Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

In Chinese universities, the budget for R&D is distributed very unevenly among the many different universities. For example, the few "elite universities" such as Tsinghua University, Zhejiang University, Peking University etc. receive very generous funding, while the lesser-known universities are provided with much less money (see Figure 15). This also further contributes to the regional inequality mentioned above, as the best-funded universities are equally located in the richer and better-developed coastal
regions. The strong regional polarisation of the Chinese innovation system is thus also characterised by the location of the top universities and top companies, which are concentrated in a few locations in the coastal provinces. The top universities shown here use about half of their research budget for basic research.

The overview of the main research areas funded at the colleges and universities (see Figure 16) also shows a relatively strong specialisation in some fields considered important. The differences in the amounts allocated to the individual fields are large in some cases. The technical and natural science subjects in particular stand out. Thus, in descending order, the largest research expenditures go to materials science, electronics and communications technology, mechanical engineering, biology, computer science and technology, clinical medicine, chemical engineering, energy and electrical engineering and chemistry.



#### Figure 16: R&D expenditures of colleges and universities by main research areas in 2016

Source: Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. 2019

## 2.5 Research funding

The Chinese science and research funding system has developed dynamically over the past four decades and has undergone repeated reforms. Since the beginning of the reform and opening-up policy in 1978, science and technology development has been a major goal of Chinese policy.

A leap in development took place from the 2000s onwards, as can be seen from the indicators in the chapter on the performance of the innovation system (Chapter 4). The continuous increase in research and development (R&D) expenditure over the past 20 years is proof of this. With the change in party and government leadership in 2012/2013, a decision was made to reform the science system, despite some early and visible successes (e.g. Tianhe-2 supercomputer, Chang'e lunar lander) and a good development of R&D indicators. The reason for this was the increasing criticism of the science system,

such as redundancies, inefficiencies, lack of transparency regarding ministerial and administrative responsibilities, non-transparent funding decisions and processes, unclear monitoring of results, unclear awarding and funding practices, and the risk of corruption. (DLR Project Management Agency and VDI-TZ 2015). During the third plenary session of the 18th Central Committee of the Communist Party in November 2013, the reforms in the field of project funding and management were announced and a directive of the State Council in March 2014 set out measures for coherent project management and improved resource allocation. The coordination of research projects as well as the allocation of funds should be strengthened. Project management and project application processing were to be improved through clear guidelines. In addition, the monitoring of research projects and their funding was intensified (DLR Project Management Agency and VDI-TZ 2015).

A visible step of the reform is the introduction of the National Science and Technology Report Services (NSTRS) since 2014. The goals of the NSTRS are more transparency about publicly funded research, the avoidance of duplication in project funding and the immediate review of research results for novelty and authenticity.

A further step was the decision to set up a professional project management system with eight largely subject-specific funding agencies that administer project funding in a standardised manner using a newly set up integrated central administration platform and software for science and technology. In addition, there is a standardised review and programme-specific monitoring of research and development projects (interviews 2019).

Textbox 4: Official project promoters for research funding in China

- China Rural Technology Development Center: (中国农村技术开发中心)<u>http://www.crtdc.org.cn</u>
- China 21 Century Yicheng Management Center (中国21世纪议程管理中心)<u>http://www.acca21.org.cn</u>
- China National Center for Biotechnology Development (中国生物技术发展中心)<u>http://www.cncbd.org.cn</u>
- High-Tech Research and Development Center, Ministry of Science and Technology (科学技术部高技术研究发展中心) <u>http://www.htrdc.com</u>
- Development Centre for Science and Technology, Ministry of Agriculture (农业农村部科技发展中心) <u>http://www.nybkjfzzx.cn</u>
- Development Center for Medical Science and Technology, National Health Commission (国家卫生计生委医药卫生科技发展研究中心) <u>http://www.dcmst.org.cn</u>
- Industry Development and Promotion Center, Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (工业和信息化部产业发展促进中心) http://www.idpc.org.cn
- China Science and Technology Exchange Center (中国科学技术交流中心) http://cstec.org.cn

This reform process was accompanied by a large number of advisory visits, including international ones, by Chinese delegations. In addition, the reform process was based on analyses of leading project funding structures (including the European Commission, UK, USA). Germany's funding system was also considered, and delegations visited German actors (including, for example, DLR-PT). Aspects of the EU Commission's administrative system for the EU Framework Programmes seem to have had an influence on the reform: For example, the NSTRS is similar to the EU CORDA system and the thematic project management agencies, which report directly to the government, are similar to the "Executive Agencies". The new system has now been in place for about two years, and in addition to the NSTRS and the establishment of the Chinese project management agencies, the first results of the reform can be

read, which are presented on a website newly set up for this purpose. The source for the following information on the research funding system is the National Science and Technology Information System of the Public Service Platform (SCIPING (科塔学术) 2019). The site is available in Chinese.

Since 2016, 2,665 projects have been funded by MOST, of which 90 are still in the process of approval (as of July 2019).

## 2016

In 2016, a total of 42 specialised programmes were established and 1,173 approved projects were published. An interesting special form of funding in China is the approval of 70 projects without a specific funding amount and duration. This is only awarded and paid out after a review after 2 years.

The total funding of the 1,103 projects with a clearly identified amount is RMB 27.85 billion (approx. EUR 3.5 billion). The average funding for a single project is RMB 25.25 million (approximately EUR 3.3 million). and the maximum individual funding is RMB 433 million (approximately EUR 56 million), with a minimum of RMB 560,000 (approximately EUR 72,000). (SCIPING (科塔学术) 2019).

## 2017

In 2017, 44 specialised programmes were established. Major new programmes included funding for "Large Oil and Gas Fields" and "Intelligent Robots" as "Major S&T Projects". Here, too, there are directly funded projects and projects with follow-up funding. 1,185 projects were approved, 20 of which are designated as "targeted lead projects". Of the 1,185 projects, 18 projects are designated without funding quotas and duration. The total funding amounts to approx. 23.73 billion RMB (approx. 2.9 billion EUR, cf. BMBF project funding 3.9 billion EUR), the average funding amount for an individual project is 20.33 million RMB (approx. 2.5 million EUR) and the maximum individual funding amounts to 117.6 million RMB (14.7 million EUR), with a minimum of 1.51 million RMB (approx. 188,000 EUR). (SCIPING (科塔学术) 2019).

#### Indicators for the evaluation of research funding

A good measurable indicator for the efficiency of a funding administration is the processing time of applications. This time between application submission and application approval ("time-to-grant") must be defined as the basis for assessment. In the EU Commission's regulation, it is the time that elapses between the submission of the application and the day on which the contract or grant notification is sent to the applicants. This time period can be influenced by various things: whether individual applicants or consortia are funded; whether national or international funding is provided; whether there is intensive consultation prior to submission; whether there is an informal outline phase prior to formal submission; whether there is internal or external evaluation; whether the end time is defined by the information on the funding decision or the actual sending of the formal decision, and other things. In addition to these influences resulting from the type of programme, there are also influences of a budgetary nature (e.g. the timing of the government's budget decision influences the timing of new approvals), of a regulatory nature (e.g. changes to European state aid rules must be implemented in national regulations) or of a political nature (country cooperation is suspended as a result of upheavals).

A conflict of goals arises: on the one hand, the shortest possible processing time is desired so that research is closely linked to the proposal idea in terms of time, which is very important, for example, when involving the private sector and in subject areas with short innovation cycles. On the other hand, evaluation and approval should be fair and evidence-based, and contracts should be legally sound. According to the Chinese Science and Technology Exchange Center (CSTEC), this "time-to-grant" period was set at 120 days in China as part of the reform (Interview 2019). On another visible result of the reform, the national research funding information platform, actual "time-to-grant" times can be read off (SCIPING (科塔学术) 2019). The site does not allow for a statistical analysis of all projects. Our

own evaluation of 20 randomly selected individual cases of national project funding in the field of biotechnology revealed "time-to-grant" times of four to five months. This processing time corresponds to the planned 120 days (SCIPING (科塔学术) 2019).

As part of the optimisation of the administration for the HORIZON 2020 (H2020) research framework programme, the EU Commission has stipulated that 180 days after the submission of an application or a bid, the decision on funding must have been made and the applicant should receive a corresponding decision or contract. An own evaluation of six different H2020 programmes of the EU Commission shows that although there are differences in the individual programmes, they are relatively small. On average, processing takes seven to eight months (see Table 1). All the programmes considered thus exceed the target value.

Pillar	Time-to-grant (in days) (Arith. Mean)	Time-to-grant (in days) (median)
EC (European Commission)	214	210
Euratom (Supplement to H2020)	254	238
Excellent Science (Scientific Excellence)	264	232
<b>Industrial Leadership</b> (Leading role of industry)	213	213
Science with and for Society (SwafS) (Science with and for Society)	241	232
Societal Challenges (Societal Challenges)	212	232
Spreading excellence and widening participation (Spreading excellence and widening participation)	226	233

#### Table 1: Time period between the submission date for an H2020 notice and the grant notification/contract

Source: Own evaluation and presentation based on the CORDA database, European Commission 2019 (query June 2019)

Similar to China, project funding in Germany is diverse and, as in China before the reform, is organised by different ministries with different subordinate institutions. It addresses different target groups such as individual SMEs, individual universities or research organisations, alliances and clusters. It funds everything from market-oriented developments to basic research and uses adapted evaluation and administrative procedures for this purpose, each of which has its own application mechanisms and processing times. An overview of the processing times in the individual funding areas is not publicly available.

Our own evaluation of accessible data on the PROFI database was possible for 380 projects with a start date in the four years 2015-2018 in international cooperation (our own evaluation of the PROFI database, 2019). The time between the submission date stated in the respective funding announcement and the date on which the decision was sent to the funded projects was read out. This small project dataset does not claim to represent broader German funding practice. For these projects, which usually have a two-stage procedure with an outline phase and an application phase and in many cases undergo bilateral coordination with foreign partners, the mean value over the years 2015-2018 is 358 days processing time between outline submission and funding decision. Table 2 shows visible differences in processing

times between the individual years. It is not possible to discuss the causes within the scope of this study.

2017	244
2017 2018	244
2017	420
2016	379
2015	156

 

 Table 2: Duration between the submission deadline for an international announcement by the BMBF and the funding decision/contract

The authors have another example of processing times from NRW. The state of NRW achieves an arithmetic mean processing time of around 225 days in the NRW innovation funding programme (internal communication).

The ZIM programme (Central Innovation Programme for SMEs) of the BMWi states a maximum of 3 months as the standard processing time on its website. (Central Innovation Programme for SMEs (ZIM) 2018) and, according to oral information, is within this time frame in 90 % of cases (interview 2019). The current evaluation of the ZIM programme indicates a high level of satisfaction with the programme on the part of the applicants. (Kaufmann 2019).

In the EUROSTARS programme, a funding programme for SMEs between European states (only the programmes of the EU Commission are shown in Table 1), which is funded in Germany by the BMBF, the definition applies:

"*Time-to-contract is the time elapsed between the cut-off date and the date of notification of the grant decision from the NFB to the participant, or the date of signature of the grant agreement.*" (Shaton et al. 2017, p. 80)

The agreed target is a "time-to-contract" of 7 months or less. Averaging across all participating countries and the years since 2014, this target is usually achieved. In 2018, the time-to-contract value averaged across all countries was 6.9 months for the first cut-off date (February 2018) and 5.9 months for the second cut-off date (September 2018) (oral communication DLR-PT). In the course of the preparations for the EUROSTARS 3 programme, the shortening of the time-to-contract is being discussed.

Economically, it makes sense not to invest more resources (e.g. the total number of working hours of scientists in the preparation of applications) in the application process than the funding itself promises in total. Therefore, another indicator of the efficiency of research funding is the accuracy of a funding announcement, which is made visible by the success rate (number of valid applications submitted vs. successful applications). This should guarantee a meaningful relationship between the effort required to submit a proposal and the chance of success. In 2017, the DFG had an average success rate of 30%. (Kroll 2019) . For ZIM, a success rate of 65 % is given. (Kaufmann 2019) This is explained by the high continuity of the programme and the intensive advisory services provided prior to application. The advice leads to fewer applications not eligible for funding being submitted (interview 2019). In China, there is no publicly available data on these indicators (according to oral communication in China, the rate varies greatly from programme to programme). For German project funding, no data is publicly available in a collected form. The EU Commission publishes these figures, which diverge greatly from programme.

The effectiveness of the funding can be determined by "output" variables (what was done: workshops, publications, patent applications, etc.), "outcome" variables (what came out: citations of publications,

Source: Own evaluation and presentation based on the PROFI database (query June 2019)

use of patents, etc.) and, in the best case, "impact" variables (what did it achieve: change of perspective through publication, new products or social innovations based on research, patents, etc.). To describe effectiveness, a continuous evaluation and monitoring mechanism is needed, which is announced and also partly implemented in China (National Center for Science and Technology Evaluation of China 2019) but is not yet documented in a publicly comprehensible way.

The evaluation of the ZIM programme 2019 examines the effectiveness of the programme: "*From the econometric analyses carried out, there are also consistently positive effects of the programme* in terms of R&D expenditure, R&D employment and R&D employment intensity" (Peter 2019, p. 8).

A summary of the impact of direct research funding, differentiated according to the individual programmes in Germany, is not publicly available.

The budget distribution indicates that public project funding is a relevant innovation economic instrument in Germany.

"However, with regard to the target group of small and medium-sized enterprises, which have so far conducted little or no R&D, great potential is seen in the area of direct project funding. This applies both to technology-specific funding (specialised programmes) and to funding open to all technologies (ZIM). " (Frietsch et al. 2017, p. 141)

In Germany, federal R&D expenditure amounted to approximately EUR 17 billion in 2017, of which the BMBF manages approximately 60 % (BMBF, Federal Report on Research and Innovation, 2018) (2019 budget: EUR 18.3 billion). This R&D expenditure is divided between project funding (mainly BMBF) and departmental research (other ministries) with about EUR 8.3 billion (2017) and institutional funding with about EUR 7.7 billion (2017). In 2017, the BMBF financed R&D with approximately €3.9 billion in project funding directly through its own contractually bound project executing agencies, primarily for politically relevant topics and cooperation projects between the private sector and academic research. To this must be added another approx. 3.4 billion euros, which was allocated via the German Research Foundation (DFG) through competitive project funding, primarily for academic research projects (91.3 % at universities). Project funding thus accounts for about €7 billion of federal R&D expenditure. For the Agency for Leap Innovations, which is currently in the planning stage, an annual budget of EUR 100 million is currently planned (BMBF, 2019: press release), with a term of ten years and a budget of around EUR 1 billion. The tax-based R&D funding, which is also in the planning stage, assumes a volume of around EUR 5 billion for a planned term of twelve years. This is the amount of the tax losses resulting from the BMBF's support (Master 2019).

An essential aspect of the reform in China is the digital transformation of the control, processing and administrative procedures. The use of AI, e.g. in the search for experts, is being tested. According to experts, China is dependent on the digital transformation of its own funding system in view of the growing volume of funding applications (225,000 in 2018) in order to be able to review all applications in the future (Kooperation International 2019). The European Research Council (ERC) also pointed out the importance of these tools in mid-2019 when publishing the new programme. And Norway is also examining the use of machine learning in project funding:

"Other countries are following China's lead. Last month, the Research Council of Norway started using natural-language processing to cluster about 3,000 proposals into groups and match them to the best reviewer panels, says Thomas Hansteen, an adviser to the council." (Cyranoski 2019, p. 317)

## 2.6 Public Innovative Procurement

An examination of the Chinese instruments for implementing research and innovation shows that different types of financing are used in parallel, especially for projects of strategic importance, such as the "National S&T Major Projects". But also in other, central and regional/local approaches, different types of financing are flexibly used side by side and in a complementary manner in China, including

public procurement of innovative products and services. In this context, the boundaries between fiscal support, (concessionary) loans, subsidies, public procurement and research funding from central or regional/local sources are difficult to distinguish for outsiders and also for Chinese actors (Interview 2019).

Innovative public procurement is understood to be an innovative procurement process with the goals of external innovation promotion in the economy on the one hand and the procurement of innovative solutions on the other. (Schaupp and Eßig 2018) . China has been using the instrument of public procurement to promote innovation since 2006 at the latest. This development began with the National Medium-and-Long-Term Program for Science and Technology Development (MLP 2006-2020) for the targeted support of innovation processes. To this end, catalogues of certified innovative products and services were initially developed by the Ministry of Research and the Ministry of Finance, for example, which public agencies can draw on. (Edquist et al. 2015) . In the meantime, procurement as part of a mixed financing focuses on programmes of strategic importance. On the one hand, innovative public procurement in China significantly promotes new technology development. On the other hand, the framework conditions and the input-output relationship remain unclear, making it difficult to assess the actual significance. (Edquist et al. 2015) .

*The* potential of innovation demand through innovation-oriented public procurement is stated to be large in Germany: "More realistic is rather the assumption of a consolidated innovation-relevant share of the procurement volume between 10 - 15 %, i.e. with a total public procurement volume of approx. 350 billion EUR per year, a volume of approx. 35 to 50 billion EUR" (Schaupp and Eßig 2018, p. 10). This is a relevant value in relation to the total expenditure on research and development according to the Federal Research and Development Report of EUR 92.2 billion (2016). (Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) 2018a). However, this type of innovation promotion is not yet firmly anchored in Germany: "Despite enormous potential and 30 years of political debate on this topic in Germany, innovation-oriented public procurement has not yet been able to emerge from the stage of being a 'beacon of hope for research and innovation policy''' (statement by Jakob Edler, Professor at the University of Manchester and Director of the Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research). (DLR Project Management Agency 2016, p. 7). The OECD published a broader analysis of innovative public procurement in 2017 - without China - and came to the following conclusion for Germany:

"It is extremely difficult to set quantitative targets. There is no survey about the amount of innovative procurements in Germany. However, a study to investigate possibilities to survey the most relevant statistical data was launched." (OECD 2017, P. 116)

The applicable legal framework for the awarding of public contracts (Functioning of the European Union TFEU and Directive 2014/24/EU as well as Part 4 of the Act against Restraints of Competition (GWB) and the Public Procurement Ordinance (VgV) provides the opportunity for innovative procurement. The requirement of economic efficiency and economy also includes the consideration of innovative criteria. (Schaupp and Eßig 2018).

In Germany, too, IPP is viewed positively: "Innovative public procurement is not an instrument in itself that you take in isolation sometimes and sometimes not, but it is a culture, an inner attitude, a culture of innovation in the institutions, so to speak" (statement by Susanne Kurz, Competence Centre for Innovative Procurement KOINNO of the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) in the BME German Association of Materials Management, Purchasing and Logistics). ) (DLR Project Management Agency 2016, p. 10) .

"The potential of innovation demand through innovation-oriented public procurement is enormous. In Europe, annual expenditure on public procurement is around 17 to 19 percent of GDP (2014), while the German share would be slightly lower at around 10-15 % with an estimated annual procurement volume of 300 billion euros. If only one percent of the procurement volume could be used for new products and services, an innovation impulse of 3 billion euros would be created in Germany. This is

more than the federal and state governments provide annually in funding for research and innovation (*R&D*) to companies (approx. 2.1 billion euros). " (DLR Project Management Agency 2016, p. 4)

"Other countries, such as the USA or Asian countries, are taking a more strategic approach to implementing innovative public procurement than many European countries, including Germany." (DLR Project Management Agency 2016, p. 16)

Two complementary phases of IPM in the innovation cycle are defined by the EU in Horizon 2020 and funded accordingly (DLR Project Management Agency 2016). They also correspond to the names of the funding instruments in H2020 for innovative public procurement:

- Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP): Purchasing of research and development services in the pre-commercial phase for the procurement of non-marketable solutions or existing solutions that still have inaccessibility the so-called "pre-commercial procurement". (DLR Project Management Agency 2016).
- Public Procurement of Innovative Solutions (PPI): Buyers act as first adopters in the market introduction phase of solutions with novel features the so-called "awarding of public contracts for innovative products and services". (DLR Project Management Agency 2016).

The data in China do not allow a clear assignment to these two forms. China also uses comparable instruments in combination with each other and complementary to other instruments, e.g. in the promotion of megaprojects.

# **Example of PCP: ''Mega Projects**

The National S&T Major Projects (NMP) (often referred to as megaprojects) are seen in China as large and ambitious research programmes for China's development. 16 projects were presented in 2006 as part of the MLP 2006-2020, ten of which had civilian objectives (see Table 3).

No.	Abbreviation of the NMP	Responsible Ministry	Medium (EUR/RMB)	Projects
1	Core Devices, Chips and Software (ICT Key Technology, Chips and Software)	Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MIIT)	3.6 billion EUR (approx. 28.8 billion RMB)	502
2	Large Scale Integrated Circuit Manufacturing Equipment.	Beijing and Shanghai Governments (Governments in Beijing and Shanghai)	3.8 billion EUR (approx. 30.4 billion RMB)	171
3	New Generation Wireless Communication Network	Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MIIT)	1.4 billion EUR (approx. 11.2 billion RMB)	690
4	Numerically-controlled machine (Numerically controlled machine)	Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MIIT)	1.5 billion EUR (approx. 12 billion RMB)	595
5	Large Oil and Gas Fields Development	National Energy Administration	3.8 billion EUR (approx. 30.4 billion RMB)	210
6	Large-scale Nuclear Power Plant	National Energy Administration	EUR 1.7 bn (approx. MRB 13.6 bn)	201
7	Water Pollution Control (control of water pollution)	Ministry of Ecological Environment & Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development	1.3 billion EUR (approx. 10.4 billion RMB)	553

## Table 3: Megaprojects with civilian goals

8	Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs)	Ministry of Agriculture (MOA)	1.2 billion EUR (approx. 9.6 billion RMB)	872
9	Major New Drugs Innovation Development (New Drug Developments)	National Health Commission	2.3 billion EUR (approx. 18.4 billion RMB)	2029
10	Major Infectious Disease Control (control of serious infectious diseases)	National Health Commission	1.0 billion EUR (approx. 8 billion RMB)	387
	Total		21.6 bn	6210

Source: Own representation based on Chen (2019)

The projects in the overview aim to develop essential technologies and products to develop China as an innovation hub. They target solutions to challenges facing the country (e.g. 5 to 10), but also to perceived strategic technology gaps (1 to 4). Project progress is poorly documented and only after the reform of the research system since 2014 and the incorporation of projects into the normal research funding system are regular and systematic reviews carried out. These are understood more as advice for the government, but not as a form of accountability that examines the input-output ratio. The results are not publicly available (interview 2019). It is reported that in the period 2012-2015, approximately EUR 9.9 billion was invested by the central government for the ten civil projects, which was further complemented by investments from local agencies and companies amounting to approximately EUR 11.7 billion. These investments are said to have stimulated an output of approx. 181 billion EUR, employed approx. 240,000 scientists and enabled approx. 11,000 patents. (Main Office of the Ministry of Science and Technology (科学技术部重大专项办公室) et al. 2017). There is no list of which shares of the funding of the megaprojects are allocated to research project funding and which shares are allocated to procurement. According to the "Management Regulations of (Civilian) National Science & Technology Mega Projects", the individual projects are assigned to one of three groups:

- "Directionally-entrusted" applications (定向委托, directional applications): In these projects, the main actor/project leader is determined, usually a state enterprise or a ministry subordinate institution, which is then tasked with the project set-up and consortium composition. It is a deliberately top-down approach. It can be assumed that this is where the budget- and planning-open projects mentioned under MOST project funding are located, and that substantial shares are financed here as procurement.
- "Directionally-selected" applications (定向择优, applications with directional selection): Here, the project management and the consortium are put together from the applicants after an open application phase following an initial individual application evaluation. The evaluation committee has the responsibility to set the professional priorities. This assembled consortium must then agree on a project proposal, which in turn is evaluated.
- "Openly-selected" applications (公开择优, openly selected applications): Here, a consortium applies for a tender in an open application process with its own technical approach. After two rounds of evaluation, the best/priced applications are selected (Main Unit of the Ministry of Science and Technology (科学技术部重大专项办公室) et al. 2017). This procedure also corresponds at least in part to a procurement process.

Applicants must fulfil several criteria: They must be Chinese citizens supported (financially and politically) by the respective local/municipal government, they must also provide their own budget and have sufficient experience in the funded thematic field. Preference is given to partnerships between universities and industry partners. In some cases, international participation is desired in the announcement, but no such cases are documented. However, mega-projects are often carried out with international components or with subcontractors.

The budget of mega projects can be divided into direct and indirect costs, which apply to regular funding and lagging funding (Ministry of Finance (中华人民共和国财政部); Ministry of Science and Technology (科技部); National Development and Reform Commission (发改委) 2017).

# Example of PPI: public procurement of e-bus fleets in Chinese municipalities

Although e-buses are more expensive than diesel buses in China, the charging infrastructure had to be built and optimised, and the technology is still under development, several cities in China have decided to convert their bus fleets to electric operation. Shenzhen is one of the pioneers and completed the conversion in 2018. In doing so, the decision to make this municipal innovative procurement was supported by subsidies of 50% per bus from the regional and central government (Keagan 2018). This subsidised public procurement is the result of a long development process that started with research on electric propulsion in the 2000s and then evolved into a multi-stakeholder programme over almost 20 years:

"The most systemic policy measure is the Energysaving and New Energy Vehicles Demonstration, Promotion and Application Program ([...] 'the NEV program'), which aims to create lead markets for NEVs in selected cities. " (Edquist et al. 2015, p. 184)

This development and almost parallel procurement, driven among other things by the desire for better air quality, had an important effect in the further development of the technology:

"Each year, we purchase buses with a longer range and higher specifications for less money. EV technology advances fast and maintenance is easier than with combustion engines,' says Li Hong, warehouse manager of e-buses in Shanghai." (Aldama 2019)

The Chinese government apparently sees its goals achieved and is currently reducing subsidies in response to technology development and cost reductions.

"Following this growth phase, the central government has now reduced subsidies for purchasing electric buses by 20 % and the subsidy will be reduced further year-on-year until 2020. (International Association of Public Transport (UITP) 2017, p. 12)

Public procurement has contributed to technology development in China, allowing rapid development steps and Chinese bus suppliers to become global market players:

"In 2001, China identified electric vehicles (EV) as a major technology. Sixteen years later, Shenzhen company BYD has become the world's biggest EV maker, and a crop of start-ups including WM Motor, Xpeng Motors and the US-listed NIO have joined the race with funding from some of the country's biggest tech companies and property developers." (Soo and Deng 2019)

# 2.7 Regulations

The forms of regulation that influence an innovation system are diverse. Because they came up in the public discussion on the competitive situation between Germany and China and in the interviews for this study, only exemplary topics are addressed here: Data protection, sanctions lists, underregulation and technical norms and standards.

## 2.7.1 Data protection

The future of the innovation economy will be determined, among other things, by access to and use of data, and here above all by personal data. The regulation of this follows different standards worldwide, which leads to competitive differences in the development of new products, applications and services. Harmonisation and a common understanding are necessary.

In China, the Cyber Security Law (CSL) came into force on 1 June 2017. It regulates data protection, IT security and conduct on the internet and thus contains similar content to the European General Data

Protection Regulation (GDPR). However, the two laws differ considerably in their focus. While the European law deals primarily with citizens' privacy rights, China is primarily concerned with maintaining network sovereignty and national security in China. (Kessler and Blöchl 2018). The law is not to be confused with China's Great Firewall, which controls external information on its way into the country. The CSL, on the other hand, primarily controls information leaving the country. (Feng 2019). Through the Cyberspace Administration of China (CAC), the government wants to maintain or gain control over important technologies, infrastructure and information systems. (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017). The CSL represents the "*backbone of a new vision of the Internet by the Chinese leadership*". (Pattloch 2018, p. 1).

According to several experts, the CSL is not clearly formulated and has a lot of room for interpretation with several broad terms (for example, "critical network infrastructure") (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017; Pattloch 2018, 2017). The law enables state intervention in IT and communication systems and is a "*major challenge for foreign companies*" - many European companies are also affected. (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017, p. 1).

Important key points of the law and its possible effects are as follows:

- Network operators: depending on the interpretation of the CSL, companies using or operating data processing systems in China may be required to comply with certain network security standards (for example, setting up internal security systems or employing IT security officers) (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017).
- Local data storage and data exports: All personal data and all "important business data" must be stored on Chinese servers and may only be transferred abroad after a security check and under certain conditions (Pattloch 2018). For internationally active companies, additional costs can arise here, among other things because online maintenance or monitoring processes can no longer take place from a location outside China. (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017).
- Critical infrastructure: In addition to the explicitly mentioned sectors of energy, finance, communications, public services, transport and water supply, all sectors that *"may threaten China's national security, economy or public interest"* also count as critical infrastructure (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017, p. 2). Affected companies must, for example, sign security and non-disclosure agreements with suppliers or undergo separate security audits. In addition, all network products and services must be subjected to a security audit by the authorities, the exact extent of which is not yet known. Experts fear that sensitive business data (for example, source codes and algorithms) will also have to be disclosed.
- Use of VPNs (Virtual Private Networks): In addition to the disclosure of data, only encryption techniques that have been approved by the Chinese government are permitted. This will also make it more difficult to use non-Chinese VPNs. If the regulation is implemented across the board, it would have a dramatic impact on foreign companies, researchers and individuals who rely on free access to online data and online communication (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017; Specht 2018) . Without protected VPN tunnels, companies would have to encrypt each document separately, which is expensive and time-consuming. (Specht 2018) .
- Additional implications: The broad scope for interpretation allows for incorrect or arbitrary interpretation of the CSL from a European perspective and thus creates uncertainty for foreign companies. Furthermore, the increased safety standards may have a negative impact on the import of technical goods, which could contribute to a competitive imbalance (Asia-Pacific Committee of German Business (APA) 2017). Overall, however, it remains difficult to assess the consequences of the CSL due to the vague wording. (Pattloch 2018; German-Chinese

Platform Innovation 2019). . We will have to wait and see how it is implemented in the provinces.

In parallel, Europe developed the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). This sets standards for data use with extraterritorial validity. With the GDPR, the EU has created an instrument that has not only become a model for legal measures in other countries within a very short time, but is already being used voluntarily as a standard worldwide due to its broad regulations on applicability to international companies (Interview 2019). In the USA, for example, the creation of a federal law on data protection is being discussed, after California led the way with a regulation based on the GDPR, the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA). (Wakabayashi 2018) . Japan has also been talking about aligning data protection regulations in parallel with the trade agreement with the EU. The Japanese Act on the Protection of Personal Information has been aligned with the GDPR in many respects, so that the EU and Japan have confirmed to each other that their data protection regimes correspond to their own legislations to the extent that personal data can flow freely between the EU and Japan (Interview, 2019). The same process is underway in South Korea, which is negotiating with the EU on the mutual recognition of an adequate level of data protection and is currently adapting its data protection laws for this purpose. (European Commission 2019a). South American countries such as Brazil are also currently working on new data protection laws that will incorporate the main features of the GDPR. (Cannataci 2018).

In parallel, some international groups that operate in the EU and therefore have to comply with the GDPR are also implementing the GDPR internationally as their data protection standard (Müller 2019).

In Germany, responsibility for data protection is divided among various bodies: The Federal Commissioner for Data Protection and Freedom of Information (BFDI) is responsible for the data security of federal public bodies, while the data protection authorities of the Länder are responsible for the respective resident public bodies/municipalities and companies. The BFDI represents Germany at the International Data Protection Conference (IDSK) and is traditionally responsible for companies in the telecommunications and postal services sectors. Data protection law is basically designed as a "prohibition law with reservation of permission". In concrete terms, this means that any processing of personal data is prohibited unless a relevant authorisation is regulated somewhere (Interview 2019).

From a supervisory perspective, the construct of the Prohibition Act with the reservation of permission is also relevant because it means that every data processor must be able to prove to the supervisory authorities that there is a legal basis for its data processing. The burden of proof therefore initially lies with the respective data processor.

If personal data is transferred across borders, e.g. to China, the GDPR generally applies in the case of Germany: Therefore, GDPR-compliant regulations must be found for this, as has been done with Japan. Data transfer to countries where the data is not handled in accordance with the GDPR standards is not permitted.

Two principles apply to international data transfers:

- 1. If data protection is similar in both countries, then data can be exchanged (adequacy decision at EU level). This is the case, for example, with Japan or the USA.
- 2. If there is no adequacy decision (e.g. with China), individual companies are responsible for complying with the GDPR. The principle of the "responsible entity" applies here. For a Chinese subsidiary in Germany, the GDPR applies to data in Germany and to data transfers to China. For German companies, the same applies. Data from German subsidiaries in China that is used in China is not subject to the GDPR (Interview, 2019).

The transfer of data with the United States of America is regulated by a ruling of the European Court of Justice. Data may be transferred because it is also considered secure in the USA according to the GDPR.

When transferring data between Germany and China, the DSGVO applies and the CSL must be observed. A joint consideration or regulation with China on data transfer and the contradictory requirements of the DSGVO and the CSL is still pending. Legal certainty for companies is lacking here. According to the BFDI, there is currently no China-specific approach, neither from the BFDI nor from the German Data Protection Conference. A dialogue is made more difficult by the fact that China is not a member of the International Data Protection Conference IDSK. One reason for this is that there is no data protection authority in China. Hong Kong, however, is a member of the IDSK (Interview 2019).

## 2.7.2 Sanction and control lists

Chinese actors in the innovation system are on sanctions lists that must be observed by German actors, and cooperation with China is subject to controls, e.g. in areas that may also include military aspects (dual use problem). The lists are therefore relevant to cooperation and innovation.

Sanction lists are official lists of persons, institutions or goods that are subject to a restriction by the list creator. For example, in German research institutions such as DLR, when non-EU citizens are recruited, checks are made to see whether the persons are on a list that was drawn up, for example, after the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001. As a research institution, DLR also checks projects for compatibility with sanctions and control lists.

Such lists are relevant for the innovation system if they affect and possibly restrict technologically oriented economic or R&D cooperations. This is the case, for example, with Export control lists in Germany (Federal Office of Economics and Export Control (BAFA) 2019) or the so-called "Entity List" of the US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industry & Security (Bureau of Industry and Security 2019a).

The control lists for Germany primarily target goods and services, including research cooperation up to workshops and conferences, with dual use (dual-use goods), i.e. things that can be used for civilian and military purposes (EU Regulation No. 833/2014, amended by EU Regulation No. 960/2014). These items are defined in EU Regulation 2017/2268 (which amends EC Regulation No 428/2009). In the case of joint research and development projects or also projects abroad, it may be a case of "export of technology", which may fall under Art. 2 of EU Regulation No. 833/2014 and which must be examined with regard to the object of the research and also the partners. This is especially the case with countries like China, where civilian research is blurredly separated from military research. To determine the purpose of a cooperation, the information provided by the researchers in the project outline must be used on the one hand. On the other hand, the list of "dual-use goods and technologies" in the EU Delegated Regulation 2017/2268 must be examined. It is the responsibility of the individual actors to contact BAFA in possible dual use relevant scientific projects in and with China, which decides on the admissibility. BAFA has published a handout on this subject (Federal Office of Economics and Export Control (BAFA) 2016). In 2014, the DFG and the Leopoldina published a handout on general questions regarding security-relevant research. (German Research Foundation (DFG) and Leopoldina National Academy of Sciences 2014). .

With regard to dual-use aspects, a relatively narrowly defined subject area becomes relevant for forms of innovation and cooperation with and in China in the case of German export control. The US government's regulations reach further and use the concept of "national security" as a criterion for placing facilities on a sanctions list:

"Since its initial publication, grounds for inclusion on the Entity List have expanded to activities sanctioned by the State Department and activities contrary to U.S. national security and/or foreign policy interests." (Bureau of Industry and Security 2019a)

The relevance of this "entity list" became more widely known when the US government added the

Chinese technology provider Huawei to the list in spring 2019. Subsidiaries in Europe and Germany, among others, are also affected. (Bureau of Industry and Security 2019b) .

Cooperation with Huawei is thus currently restricted, at least if a company or research institution also wants to cooperate with the USA. The current list (July 2019) also includes Chinese research institutions and universities, e.g. the National Supercomputing Center Guangzhou, an institute of the top Chinese university Sun Yat-Sen University, which may also cooperate with Germany (according to the Chinese website, with the University of Cologne or FU Berlin, among others, and with a total of 58 European partners). In the case of cooperation with the Chinese university and especially the institutes mentioned in the list, the German cooperation partner must find out beforehand what it must observe in order not to jeopardise its existing US cooperation. In practice, globally active German technology actors must regularly check whether their projects with Chinese participation are subject to a restriction and whether their Chinese cooperation partners appear on lists and what implications this would have.

# 2.7.3 Under-regulation as an instrument to promote innovation

The system of planning and action already described between the party and central government agencies, which set the direction, the provinces and cities, which organise the implementation of the guidelines, and the business enterprises and scientific institutions, which coordinate their activities according to the guidelines, leads to the impression of a common goal for outsiders. Interests of the state are brought into line with the interests of the economy. *"The far-reaching congruence of interests and goals of the actors in both spheres makes it possible for politics and corporate governance to mesh [...]. The boundaries between regulators and regulated are blurred"* (Taube 2018b, p. 18) . Taube (2018a) assumes that China deliberately allows underregulation for certain new products or even services in order to permit innovative competition. Taube distinguishes between three different types (Taube 2018a, p. 23) :

- (1) "The state deliberately refrains from regulating technologies and business models that are in the process of being developed, in order to allow room for experimentation and the collection of empirical values.
- (2) Entrepreneurs try to undermine state regulations. This can be done, for example, by exploiting information asymmetries or state implementation deficits.
- (3) Subordinate (local) government bodies deliberately override or ignore central government requirements in their jurisdictions to encourage local companies to do business. "

Observations on "under-regulation" in China show that new technologies only receive a regulatory framework or existing regulations are adapted after about five to ten years (Taube 2018a). The central directional guidelines of the government in China give the differently developed provinces the opportunity to find specific implementation regulations in each case. According to Taube's assumption, "under-regulation" is partly deliberate, but partly also due to a time lag and complex questions of regulation. In this way, China also repeatedly tests regulations in smaller formats and observes the development in order to subsequently shape general regulation (Interview 2019). According to German business representatives, it makes sense, for example, for the development of the western provinces, to introduce regulations there (e.g. on the ratio of equity to debt capital for investments) differently or later than in the more developed eastern provinces (Interview, 2019).

The Chinese approach of consciously or unconsciously not formulating laws and regulations down to the last detail is not only related to innovation framework conditions, but it is also steeped in Chinese tradition and linked to the challenge of responding to the country's diversity with central regulations. In this respect, the Chinese approach is quite comparable with the sometimes delayed implementation of European regulations in the respective national regulations by the member states (e.g. BMWi response to the written question on non-implemented EU directives 2014 (Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) 2014).

It is not possible within the scope of the study to make a comparison of regulatory times and intentions for delays due to the complexity of the different regulatory instances in Europe and China.

# 2.7.4 Technical norms and standards

Technical norms and standards are decisive factors in innovation activities of companies and institutions. Especially in high-tech fields such as information technology or mechanical engineering, general standards are important to create compatibility between different devices, systems and applications and thus larger markets. From this perspective, there is a general interest in developing global standards in order to minimise transaction costs and to coordinate new developments. (Fägersten and Rühlig 2019).

It has been shown that the countries and especially the companies that initially developed the standards have been able to reap great economic benefits from their position. Companies like Microsoft, Qualcomm and Google have also been so economically successful precisely because they have been able to set global standards (Arcesati 2019). While international standardisation has so far been mainly in the hands of the USA, Europe and Japan, China's importance has increased in recent years. The country is increasingly changing from a "standard-taker" to a "standard-maker", i.e. it is developing its own standards and is also taking on a greater role in the large multilateral institutions such as the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) and the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO). (Arcesati 2019).

For China, a more active role of its own in technical standardisation is of interest on the one hand because it can give Chinese companies market advantages. At the same time, it is also a way to reduce the increased expenditure on licence fees that Chinese companies have been paying for the use of foreign technologies in recent years. (Arcesati 2019) . For China, it is another step towards autonomy from foreign companies and cost reduction.

In addition to the path through the international institutions of standardisation, a bilateral approach to the dissemination of its own standards can also be seen on the Chinese side. For example, the Belt and Road Initiative, and in particular the so-called "Digital Silk Road", is used as a vehicle to enforce Chinese standards in the target countries. (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019) . Since the projects are financed by the Chinese side and for the most part also implemented by Chinese companies, their own standards are applied. The focus is on areas such as infrastructure and mobility, but also on information technology, artificial intelligence and autonomous driving. If Chinese technical standards prevail locally, for example in African countries or in Central Asia, it will become more difficult for companies from third countries to compete in the corresponding markets. (Fägersten and Rühlig 2019) . It is in Europe's interest to seek cooperation with China on standardisation issues:

"First, Europe should reach out to China to highlight the obvious benefits of remaining in the existing institutional framework. If the Chinese party-state encourages China's companies to comply with global standards it will increase its global competitiveness and the quality of its exported products. In the long run, this policy will be much more profitable for China than its current course of promoting Chinese standards in BRI countries that provide a competitive advantage for Chinese companies in the short term. In sum, the EU should aim to make a case against short-term protectionism for the sake of long-term competitiveness." (Fägersten and Rühlig 2019, p. 17)

China's rise in the field of technical standards and norms not only results in greater competition and possibly a loss of technology use fees for German companies, but also in higher transaction costs due to various standards and technical requirements that have to be met. The possibilities for foreign companies to influence the development of standards in China are rather small, as the state in the form of the Standardisation Administration of China (SAC) keeps control in its own hands. This is a major difference to the European procedure, in which foreign companies, such as the Chinese companies ZTE and Huawei in the case of telecommunications technology, are also involved. (Arcesati 2019).

# 2.8 Conclusion on the role of state guidance

In China, the Communist Party has the central planning and decision-making role. The Party determines the government and it is represented at all levels in parallel with governmental and administrative structures. These hierarchical structures of the party and the governmental structure associated with it provide centralised decision-making mechanisms to rapidly develop innovation policy instruments and regulations.

A characteristic of Chinese policy is the conception of long-term plans with ambitious goals, both of a fundamental nature and with a thematic focus. These plans sometimes state concrete goals, but are rather understood as visions and adaptable orientations. They serve as a common thread for action at the various decision-making levels.

The European Union as a whole has an economic and innovation policy strength comparable to China. However, the European association of individual, independent, democratically governed countries has fundamentally different decision-making channels and forms of implementation. However, the importance of ambitious long-term goals also makes sense in Europe. A clearer positioning in Europe is demanded by various actors, also as a reaction to Chinese plans for the next technological leap (e.g. MIC 2025) and for stronger international market development (e.g. BRI). The EU Commission and the member states should work on a European target definition and then also implement it together.

In the European view, China is often seen as a central state-led bloc. China's strategic actions do follow a centrally guided social and economic planning policy. However, these are to a large extent translated into concrete implementation regulations and measures in the provinces and cities. In all the central Chinese initiatives considered, instruments and measures of many actors, central and local, private and public, are visible. The motives for participating in central initiatives with their own measures are manifold. The fulfilment of the expectations of the communist party, which is represented everywhere, is an important reason. It is not proven and comprehensible how useful all measures are and there is a lack of evidence on the efficiency of implementation. However, the result of this broad engagement is impressive overarching momentum with visible results and large budgets. A similar, more missionoriented joint approach of the member states in Europe, in addition to the above-mentioned common objective, seems to make sense.

The diversity and also disparity between the provinces and cities in China is not very present in the discussion. Yet the regulatory and financial power of the provinces creates opportunities for international partners. In addition to the broad discussion of the central Chinese plans, it would make sense to focus more on the strengths and opportunities of cooperation with the provinces. This would require a better analysis and understanding of the provinces and their framework conditions and actors.

In the area of technology development, vertical industrial and innovation policy plays the essential role in China. This means that the government centrally and at the provincial level promotes individual technologies, industries and actors in a special way and also protects them externally. This also applies to the science sector, where individual universities receive special support. The approach based on vertical themes and individual actors is also reflected in the budgets and tasks of the research institutions, e.g. in the so-called megaprojects. On the one hand, this selective industrial policy has successfully led to the emergence of some leading technologies and is to be continued. On the other hand, the effectiveness of the development financed with large sums of money is unclear. In other non-highlighted technology areas, technological performance has not been able to develop in an internationally comparable manner.

China recognises the limits of its previous policies and is analysing the path it has taken so far. A recent study by the World Bank with the China Development Council states that China needs new growth drivers for further development and to maintain domestic stability, and that this also requires a redistribution of resources. The newer planning approaches already envisage broader technology

development. The approach of stronger indigenous innovation development, as formulated in MIC 2025, is also not necessarily contrary to international cooperation and openness to international partners in China. The recommendations from the World Bank/DRC study are similar to demands made by Western actors on China and provide a basis for dialogue.

A state-led selective industrial policy cannot be transferred to Germany. In Germany, innovation promotion pursues a horizontal, open-topic support approach, the focus of which is steered by the innovation needs of the market. Nevertheless, the fundamental medium- and long-term definition of concrete innovation policy goals in individual key sectors appears to make sense as a supplement. The orientation power of these plans for the Chinese provinces and also for research and business is great, even if the share of orientation enforced by the authoritarian form of society remains unclear. A basic orientation guide would also be helpful for Germany or, as mentioned above, the EU.

In contrast to Europe, China has managed to increase R&D spending so much that even with a massive increase in GDP, the R&D rate has continued to rise, overtaking the EU in absolute terms. At the same time, the provinces in China have a very different share in these figures, in a similar way as the states of the EU have in the EU result. China and the EU are faced with the challenge of equalising innovation opportunities in all provinces and member states and must develop appropriate instruments to support this.

China's research system and project funding has been reformed and, according to the first visible results, improved. It is more transparent, more clearly coordinated and structured. Project funding by the Ministry of Research MOST is similar in size to that of the BMBF. However, the MOST funds fewer projects, these are larger and it focuses with almost half of the budget on the few large programmes of "megaprojects" that are funded with various instruments. The MOST also provides funding based on results and budget and thus finances successful research retrospectively, which is not yet possible with the BMBF. Although the data basis for a system comparison of research funding in China and Germany is insufficient, the consideration of the reform approach in China provides the impetus for an analysis of the German research funding system.

Innovative public procurement is used in China as a demand-side instrument to support technology development and is effective in technology development and the creation of new markets. In Germany, this instrument is also assessed positively and, due to the rather restrained use to date, a high, still open potential is seen.

It is important that the transfer of data between Germany and China is largely unrestricted, secure and legally compliant. The European Directive on the Protection of Personal Data (DSGVO) (no access for secret services, among other things) and the Chinese Cyber Security Law are mutually exclusive. Currently, no personal data may be transferred from Europe to China. Further innovative development in the area of personal data processing requires coordination with China. A handout or advice on this topic for German actors and Chinese companies (located in Germany) would seem to make sense.

Sanction lists and their implications are a noteworthy and, in the negative case, limiting factor for Germany's international innovation development, which is geared towards open exchange. In cases of attention and also non-observance, long-standing strands of cooperation can be jeopardised. Since few actors, e.g. at universities, regularly deal with these issues, the establishment of a support process for innovation actors should be examined - BAFA already does this for its competences - or existing offers should be expanded and, for example, the implications of the US lists should also be included.

There are several reasons for the perceived "under-regulation" of many new product and service offerings in China. Among other things, regulations need to be balanced so that they are just as applicable to the well-developed regions in eastern China as to the regions in western China. At the same time, regulation or under-regulation can provide a competitive advantage for the Chinese economy, or for the individual provinces in competition with each other. European countries are also

delaying the introduction of EU regulations for various reasons.

China is striving both to set its own standards more strongly and to represent its interests through greater engagement and influence in multilateral standardisation bodies. As the field of technical norms and standards is of great importance for economic development and innovation, Germany and the EU should actively pay attention to China's engagement. China must be integrated into multilateral institutions to prevent the establishment of parallel institutions or an increasingly Chinese focus on bilateral cooperation. At the same time, care should also be taken to ensure that its own interests are adequately represented, e.g. through its own competent representation in the decisive bodies. It should be observed that China adheres to international rules and that there is a fair balance of interests. Suitable monitoring of the German presence in committees would be helpful in this regard. For the Chinese side, too, the long-term gains from comprehensive international cooperation take precedence over the short-term gains from bilateral cooperation.

# 3. Actors in the research and innovation system

Qualification and competence of the labour force is one of the crucial aspects for a country's innovation capacity and success. Consequently, skilled workers play a key role in the innovation competition (Leszczensky et al. 2008). The Chinese government recognised the importance of "talent" at the turn of the millennium and placed students and scientists at the centre of efforts at the central and provincial levels to develop the country into a more self-reliant, knowledge-based economy. (Bekkers et al. 2019; Cao et al. 2019). The envisaged next leap in innovation requires specific well-trained personnel and a high number of scientifically minded and innovative people. (ChinaPower Project 2019).

From the beginning, China has focused on developing its own domestic capacity, e.g. by building universities of excellence (e.g. the 211 and 985 programmes, which were merged in 2017 to form the "Double First-Class University Programmes"). The "Double First Class University Programme" is intended to produce excellent universities, although an exact number has not been specified (State Council of the People's Republic of China 2015a). Today, the Times Higher Education Ranking 2019 finds three Chinese universities among the TOP 100 and nine universities among the TOP 200 (Germany is at eight and 23). (Times Higher Education 2019).

On the other hand, the training of Chinese talents abroad and the return of these people were the second pillar to quickly build up expertise. In addition to these two components, the targeted return of Chinese from abroad and the recruitment of international students and experts to China have played an increasingly important role for about 10 years.

## 3.1 China's academisation

In other industrialised countries (here: South Korea, France, USA, United Kingdom), the proportion of university graduates per year is around 1.2% of the total population (see Figure 17). It can be seen that China has been on a rapid path towards "academisation" since the turn of the millennium and is now at a share of about 1%. The generations since the beginning of this millennium have increasingly had an academic education.

The comparatively low German figures are presumably shaped by the dual training system: corresponding degrees are achieved academically in most other countries and therefore represent a *"special feature of the German education system"* (Gehrke et al. 2019, p. 14). Since 2019, China has issued a plan for the development and expansion of vocational education and training. (State Council of the People's Republic of China 2019).



Figure 17: Share of graduates per year in the total population (1990-2017)<sup>1)</sup>

1) Figures in %. Source: Own representation based on data from Frietsch et al. 2018a

The rapid growth in academisation as China's higher education system develops and expands means that twice as many students graduated in 2017 alone than in the US. A significant increase already from 2013 to 2014 was made possible by an announcement by the MoE to admit more master's students and doctoral candidates. (Ministry of Education (中华人民共和国教育部); National Development and Reform Commission (国家发展改革委员会) 2012). This consequently meant the largest ever influx of graduates into the labour market. (Stapleton 2017). According to UNESCO figures, the proportion of students in a cohort increased from 20% in 2009 to 50% in 2018. (UNESCO 2019b).

While the unemployment rate of graduates remains relatively low and stable according to official statistics, studies describe that while most graduates find employment, a large number of them work only in part-time or low-paid jobs. (Stapleton 2017).

This is a major and growing problem in the context of Chinese society, where "advancement through education" is a very essential feature of recognition (Minzner 2018). Engineers, economists and scientists seem to be excluded from this problem so far. In addition to the subject area, however, there also seem to be deficits in the skills of university graduates that make it difficult for them to enter the labour market, because graduates often do not have the necessary skills that Chinese companies demand for corresponding positions. (Stapleton 2017). According to Molnar et. al. (2015), these factors indicate, among other things, that institutions of higher education lag behind the needs of the market and provide qualifications that the market does not require. (Molnar et al. 2015).

A low quality of university education seems to be the case across the board. However, German interviewees in China speak of a significant increase in the qualifications of Chinese interns and students in recent years. However, mainly internationally open, English-speaking people apply to German companies (Interview 2019), who were educated at Chinese universities, especially in Beijing and Shanghai, which are among the top universities.

The rapid increase in academisation in China since 2000 and the still comparatively low overall academisation of the Chinese population indicate that there are relatively few people with a university education in the group of people over 40 in China today. Accordingly, there are only a few academics with many years of professional experience at universities and companies. While the proportion of university graduates in the UK, for example, doubled from a high level within 30 years, the proportion in China has increased fivefold in the last 17 years. The large number of well-educated, young academics entering the labour market and the research institutes is not matched by a corresponding number of well-educated, experienced managers. This lack of leadership and decision-making competence based on

professional and life experience can possibly inhibit the necessary innovation development across the board.



Figure 18: Scientists per 1000 employees (1991-2017)

Source: Own representation based on (OECD 2019b)

An innovation-driven economy needs people who think and act scientifically. In addition to the fundamental academisation of a society through the proof of a tertiary education (university degree), the representation of the proportion of scientifically employed personnel makes a further statement about the capacity for innovation. A ratio of about 10 scientists per 1,000 employees for knowledge-driven economies seems to represent a good ratio (South Korea is an exception not discussed here), on which a kind of development plateau of many of the countries considered also emerges (see Figure 18). The rapid increase in university graduates in China in recent years has not been accompanied to the same extent by an increase in scientific activity. According to figures from UNESCO, the number of people employed in science in 2018 is 1,740,442 full-time-equivalent (UNESCO 2019b) . The proportion of scientists in Germany or the European Union has grown more than in China over the past 10 years.

While the number of Chinese university graduates has increased fivefold in the last 17 years, as shown above, the number of scientists per 1,000 employees has only roughly doubled.

One reason for this development is that there are few jobs for scientists and the working conditions for young university graduates are relatively unattractive (Interview 2019). The Chinese government has recognised this: in March 2018, the new MOST Minister Wang pointed out in his inaugural speech that the science sector is not attractive enough for young scientists due to structural problems. (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 55).



Figure 19: Proportion of scientists in sectors of different activities (2008-2017) (left: China, right: Germany)

Source: UNESCO 2019b , image retrieved on 24 Oct 2019

The distribution of scientists across different sectors of activity is comparatively similar in China and Germany. When considering the private sector, public research institutions and universities, a share of 60 % of employees work in the private sector. China has a slightly higher share of employees in universities, Germany has a higher share in research institutions. Overall, the distribution seems to be stable over the years. The boom of the Chinese private sector in the IT sector with large tech companies and the research capacities built up there rapidly in the last 10 years and the staff hired are not noticeable in the figures The rapid build-up of university capacities is also not reflected in the general distribution: the number of university research and development centres was 5,159 in 2006 and rose to 13,062 by 2016 (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 59). This could be explained by the fact that the development of employment numbers in all three sectors has followed a similar pattern over the years.

The reform of higher education in China (university enrolment expansion) since 1999 has improved the educational attainment of young Chinese, but it has also led to a deterioration in the quality of education and a lack of infrastructure at universities. It also affects the absorptive capacity of the labour market for academics.

# 3.2 Talent mobility

According to Jing (2019b), in contrast to past years, China today offers Chinese talents a variety of good training opportunities in China. So, it is no longer important to go abroad for a good education. Nevertheless, talent mobility remains an essential source of know-how gain in China. This means education and training abroad (especially in the US, Canada, Australia and the EU) and the return of Chinese talent to their home country, and increasingly also the immigration of foreign scientists and students to China.

# **3.2.1** Mobility of Chinese students

In general, the number of mobile Chinese students and academics has increased rapidly in the first two decades of the 21st century. While in 2000 just under 39,000 Chinese went abroad and of these just under a quarter (just over 9,000, i.e. 23.4%) returned, in 2017 alone over 608,000 Chinese left China and 480,000 returned. (Cao et al. 2019). This represents a fifteen-fold increase.

Students of Chinese origin represent the largest group of internationally mobile students worldwide. (o.A. 2018) In 2016, around 865,000 students from China were enrolled at universities abroad (see Figure 20). (Heublein et al. 2019) (see Figure 20).

Herkunftsländer Anzahl der Studierenden im Ausland lahr 473.742 2008 China<sup>1</sup> 2012 705.057 2016 865.337 2008 186.033 Indien<sup>2</sup> 2012 191.779 2016 301.406 105.600 2008 Deutschland<sup>3</sup> 2012 139.200 2016 144.900 117.533 2008 Südkorea<sup>2</sup> 2012 121.198 2016 104,992 2008 41.299 Nigeria<sup>2</sup> 2012 57.298 2016 95.731 2008 46.978 Frankreich<sup>2</sup> 2012 64.196 2016 90.543

Figure 20: International student mobility from the main countries of origin (2008-2016)

Source: Heublein et al. 2019, S. 18

Highly developed industrialised countries are the preferred destinations for Chinese students. For example, the numbers of Chinese students in the United States<sup>1</sup>, the United Kingdom and Japan have <sup>2</sup>increased significantly in recent years: since 2009, China has been the most common country of origin for foreign students in the US (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018).

Of the approximately 865,000 Chinese students abroad in 2016, about 330,000 had American universities as their destination. About 32% of foreign students in the US that year were Chinese. It is noted that Chinese students, the majority as "freemovers", are a major economic driver for American universities (as they are in the UK and other countries with tuition fees). According to the BBC, the contribution of Chinese students and their families in the US in 2017-2018 was about \$13 billion (about RMB 81 billion), which includes both tuition fees and living expenses (BBC News 2019; ChinaPower Project 2019).

What is remarkable in this context is the change in the international perception of Chinese mobility in a short period of time - especially in the USA, presumably as a result of the policies of the current US administration. In 2017, Veugelers wrote. (Veugelers 2017) that Chinese mobility to the US is to the benefit of both countries. While China benefits from catch-up development, the US is able to maintain its scientific leadership in the world with the help of Chinese scientists. In 2019, however, US leaders are calling Chinese mobility a risk of a technology drain from the US, and Chinese are reportedly feeling increasingly unwelcome in the US. While visa issuance is becoming more difficult for Chinese, access to research funding and career opportunities in the US are also increasingly limited for Chinese (referred to as the "bamboo ceiling") (Jing 2019a).

In total, over 5.2 million Chinese had been educated abroad by 2017. 3.1 million of them subsequently moved back to China, which represents a return rate of 60.3%. It is interesting to note that of the 1.9 million non-returners, about 1.45 million were still students in current study abroad. Thus, the return rate is as high as 83.7% of those who had already completed their studies. (Cao et al. 2019; Dong 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "The USA is by far the most important host country for international students, with around 971,000 students from abroad. It is followed by the UK (432,000), Australia (336,000), Germany (252,000) and France (245,000)" (Heublein et al. 2019. <sup>2</sup> Heublein et. al. lists Australia ahead of Japan as the most important destination countries for Chinese students after the USA and Great Britain (p. 20).

Year	Number of students, who go abroad	Number of returning students	Cumulative number of students who have been abroad	Cumulative number of returned students
2000	38.989	9.121	340.000	130.000
2005	118.515	34.987	933.400	232.900
2010	284.700	134.800	1.905.400	632.200
2017	608.300	480.900	5.194.900	3.132.000

#### Table 4: Mobility figures of Chinese students (outgoing and returning)

Source: own representation based on Cao et al. 2019

The China Scholarship Council (CSC), an agency of the Chinese Ministry of Education, and its scholarship programmes are the largest funder of Chinese doctoral students and scholars going abroad, as well as foreigners coming to China. Scholarships are open to undergraduates, master's and doctoral students, and scholars (both juniors and seniors).

## 3.2.2 China as a destination country for foreign students

The recruitment of international students and scholars is becoming increasingly important for China. Building a knowledge-based economy and society is increasingly dependent on the availability of talent.<sup>3</sup> This has also led to an increased focus in China on policies that recruit international students and increase the number of those who stay in China for the long term. This is true at the national level as well as for provinces, cities and universities. (Gao and Wit 2017).

The overall attractiveness of China as a destination country for mobile people has increased. China now ranks twentieth in the world as an attractive destination for migrant workers, according to Jing (2019b) (Jing 2019b). However, Chinese returnees probably account for a significant share of these figures.

China has also become a destination country for students, especially from Asia and Africa. In 2018, a total of about 492,185 international students from 196 countries were enrolled in 1004 Chinese higher education institutions (Ministry of Education 2019). The People's Republic has thus almost achieved its goal of increasing the number of foreign students in China to 500,000. (Gao and Wit 2017; Heublein et al. 2019)<sup>4</sup>. Heublein gives a very different figure for China of around 142,000 incoming students in 2016, 8145 of whom were enrolled Germans. (Heublein et al. 2019).

China is an attractive place to study, especially for students from South Korea, Thailand and Pakistan. (Ministry of Education 2019) . The BRI plays an increasingly important role in this context. In 2017, students from BRI countries accounted for nearly 64.9 per cent of foreign students in China (o.A. 2018) . About 63,000 of the international students were supported by Chinese Government Scholarships (CSC) in 2018 . (Ministry of Education 2019) . In addition to these, there are special BRI scholarship programmes According to the China Daily news channel, at least 160 study programmes in China will be supported for students from BRI countries by 2020 . (China Daily 2017) . In addition, there are many provincial, city and university scholarship programmes.

African students make up an ever-increasing proportion of foreign students in China. There are now about 80,000 Africans studying in China, of which about 50,000 are on full scholarships from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For a discussion of state policy strategies in the recruitment of international students see for example "Policy mobilities in the race for talent: competitive state strategies in international student mobility", Geddie 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Heublein et al. 2019 notes, however, with regard to the officially available numbers of international students in China: "In the case of China, a clear discrepancy becomes apparent between the number of international students in tertiary education issued by UNESCO and the number reported by China in the context of target achievement. This is due to a broader definition [on the Chinese side] of international students that includes, for example, language students" (p. 27).

Chinese government. (Erling 2018) . In 2012, only about 27,000 Africans were studying in China. (Müchler and Sun 2014). Thus, the number of African students in China has roughly tripled in six years. In 2016, China already received significantly more students from the African continent than the USA and the UK (about 40,000 each) and was the second most popular destination for African students behind France (over 95,000). (ChinaPower Project 2017). In comparison, about 26,000 African students are enrolled in Germany. (Ebert et al. 2018; Apolinarski and Brandt 2018).

## 3.2.3 Student mobility to and from Germany

As in China, foreign students from the Asia-Pacific region represent a large proportion in Germany, with 77,000 in 2018 (see Figure 21). (Heublein et al. 2019) (see Figure 21). In Germany, 47% of foreign students at universities are from Europe, 33% from Asia, 11% from the Americas, 9% from Africa (Deutsches Studentenwerk e.V. 2019) . Chinese students in 2017 (35,000) make up the largest proportion of all foreign students, at 13.2%. (Frietsch et al. 2018a). The importance of Chinese students in Germany is not nearly as great as in the USA. Neither are Chinese students a strong economic factor, nor are German universities as dependent on a country as the USA in their search for excellent academics.



Figure 21: Foreign students in Germany with the intention to graduate by region of origin in 2018

Source: Heublein et al. 2019

In 2016, the most important destination countries for German students were Austria, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and Switzerland; 74% of all German students abroad chose a Western European country as their host country. In 2016, 8,145 students went to China (see Figure 22). This means that about 1.6% of all foreign students in China are German. In comparison, about 1% of all foreign students in the USA are German. China is the most important non-European destination after the USA. A total of about 144,900 German students were enrolled abroad in 2016 (Heublein et al. 2019).

	2015		2016	
Gastland	Anzahl	in %	Anzahl	in %
Österreich	27.563	19,7	28.220	19,5
Niederlande	21.530	15,4	21.956	15,2
Großbritannien	15.410	11,0	15.770	10,9
Schweiz	14.647	10,5	14.609	10,1
USA	10.145	7,3	10.169	7,0
China	7.536	5,4	8.145	5,6
Frankreich	6.406	4,6	6.007	4,1
Schweden <sup>3</sup>	4.620	3,3	4.620	3,2
Dänemark <sup>3</sup>	3.554	2,5	3.554	2,5
Türkei⁴	706	0,5	3.363	2,3
Ungarn	3.106	2,2	3.232	2,2
Spanien	2.497	1,8	2.756	1,9
Kanada <sup>3</sup>	1.827	1,3	1.827	1,3
Griechenland <sup>3</sup>	1.637	1,2	1.637	1,1
Portugal	1.422	1,0	1.622	1,1
Italien <sup>3</sup>	1.412	1,0	1.412	1,0
Norwegen <sup>3</sup>	1.306	0,9	1.306	0,9
Polen	1.090	0,8	1.239	0,9
Australien	1.147	0,8	1.202	0,8
Rumänien	898	0,6	1.187	0,8

Figure 22: German students abroad by major host countries 2015 and 20161)

1) Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macao are considered separately here. The countries are not included in Mainland China. Taiwan is also increasingly attracting foreign students, but continues to play a much smaller role for the EU than Mainland China. (Heublein et al. 2019).

Source: Heublein et al. 2019, p. 87

Textbox 5: Excursus Chinese Language and Cultural Competence in Germany Funded by the BMBF, MERICS conducted a needs analysis of the competence on Modern China in Germany at the end of 2017. (Stepan et al. 2018) . Dealing with the growing importance of China as a global and self-confident innovation actor requires "*differentiated knowledge about a country whose image in Germany today is often still shaped by outdated ideas and clichés*". (Stepan et al. 2018, p. 8) . Such knowledge is important in order to differentiate where there is room for cooperation with China and where critical confrontations regarding diplomacy, political decision-making processes and jurisprudence are necessary. In the study, MERICS gives an overview of the development of China competence in Germany and provides numerous recommendations on how it can be expanded:

- In order to impart China competence already in schools, China scholars should be regularly consulted by ministries and school authorities and give lectures at schools and vocational schools. Further training for teachers and project weeks can also increase knowledge of China. Up to now, China has been a marginal topic at German schools and hardly appears even in subjects such as history, geography or economics.
- In addition, Chinese lessons should be established in all federal states as a fixed component of the languages offered. A fully integrated Chinese language course in schools strengthens Chinese competence and does not impose any additional burdens on the students. MERICS found that in France, for example, about seven times as many students (about 38,000) already learn Chinese at school than in Germany.
- The development of China competence should also continue to be promoted at universities. This includes, for example, the establishment and financial support of double degree programmes at German and Chinese universities. Within this framework, German students could also be offered more opportunities to spend time in China. In addition, sinology study programmes and language courses at universities should continue to be promoted. The number of sinology students in Germany, as an approximation of the naturally larger number of Chinese language learners, is stagnating at a low level (see Figure 23). Although English is the global language of communication, specific language skills are important for in-depth

cooperation, e.g. the work of German post-docs at Chinese universities or cooperation with Chinese SMEs.



Figure 23: Development of first-year students in Sinology, Korean Studies and Japanese Studies in comparison (2007-2017)

Source: Stepan et al. 2018, S. 56

"European institutions often lack strategic vision, in addition to language skills and knowledge of the cultural context. This gives them a decisive advantage over China. " (d'Hooghe et al. 2018, p. 4)

"European governments need to invest in high-calibre, independent China expertise. Raising awareness about and responding to China's political influencing efforts in Europe can only succeed if there is sufficient impartial expertise on China in think tanks, universities, NGOs, and media across Europe. This will also help to keep out 'unwanted' Chinese money in those institutions." (Benner et al. 2018, p. 7)

## 3.2.4 Researcher mobility to and from China

Not only students, but also Chinese academics and researchers are drawn to foreign countries or remain there after their studies. Preferred destinations are the United States, followed by Japan, the United Kingdom and Canada; Germany is the sixth most popular destination, accounting for 4.2 per cent of mobile Chinese academics. (Frietsch et al. 2018a). Chinese make up a large proportion of doctoral and post-doctoral students in the USA, for example: in 2015, over a fifth (22%) of the 464,000 foreign post-docs were of Chinese origin. (Cao et al. 2019). The majority of doctoral students do their doctorates in STEM subjects (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) (see Table 5).

Year	PhD students	STEM PhD students
2006	4.448	4.123
2010	3.744	3.457
2015	5.374	4.970

 Table 5: Number of doctoral degrees awarded by American universities to Chinese citizens, 2006-2016

Source: Own representation according to Cao et al. 2019, p. 9

Fewer doctoral graduates of Chinese origin return home from the USA than from the European Union (Cao et al. 2019).

In Germany, the proportion of foreign researchers who successfully completed their doctorates was 17% of all those who successfully completed their doctorates in the 2017 examination year. Among this group, the largest proportion is of Chinese origin (16% of all foreign doctoral graduates). (Heublein et

al. 2019).

To attract this talent to Germany and "to share in China's innovative power and make use of its bright minds, German companies would need to make Chinese employees and research centres an integral part of their global development strategy" (Bartsch 2016, p. 9).

While the US is still the most popular destination for Chinese researchers and students, a new trend in subsequent employment has been emerging for several years: While in the past many top Chinese talents were recruited mainly after a US degree by large multinational companies or even universities and research institutes in the US, the situation has changed significantly in recent years. Chinese US university graduates are increasingly joining Chinese technology companies rather than large multinationals, as they expect better career opportunities there, also because these companies are now developing high technology. (Jing 2019b) . In America, this has been compounded in recent years by an increasingly anti-China stance by the US government and a sense of exclusion. The renowned MIT professor Huang Yasheng describes how it has become almost impossible for American scientists with Chinese roots to use resources from both countries for research. (Jing 2019a) . He fears that Chinese are often perceived in the USA as engineers rather than leaders. (Jing 2019b) .<sup>5</sup>

Even though China is not yet a target country comparable to other European countries for German researchers (see Chapter 3.2.3), China is increasingly perceived as an attractive research location despite some hurdles, as the interviews and the EURAXESS Focus Group discussion show (Interview 2019, Textbox 6).

Textbox 6: EURAXESS Focus Group Discussion

In July 2019, a so-called "EURAXESS Focus Group" discussion took place in Beijing with 9 academics from Europe (including German researchers) on the topic of "Researcher Mobility to China". All participants are currently working as PhD students or professors at renowned universities or research institutions in China. The main statements of the researchers can be summarised in the following three categories:

## Motives for going to China:

- China as a research subject, e.g. China's public policy.
- In Europe or the USA, scientists would have found academic jobs less easily.
- Extensive research funding and good salaries, some of which are far above the level in Europe: "The salaries are very good and there is funding at all compared to some countries in Europe, even if it is not easy in China to hire staff with funding". Europeans get even better conditions than returning Chinese. The scientists have acquaintances who are actually funded through the "1000 Talents Programme". One reason for the good financial conditions is that "China is pushing the internationalisation of universities, so there are more financial opportunities than is widely known". However, students and researchers in Europe often lack information about this.
- Easy access to scholarships: Even foreign students who are not very well qualified can easily get a scholarship in China, although doctoral students in China with a scholarship from the Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC) are not as well paid as in Europe.
- Laboratories and other research infrastructures are additional pull factors: "*The Chinese will build whatever you need*".
- Scale: in China, academics often have the chance to work on a large scale: "You're not just

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Huang Yasheng says: "It has become almost impossible for US scientists with Chinese background to leverage the resources from both countries to do research. They have to choose sides now" (Jing 2019a); "many Chinese today perceive a 'bamboo ceiling' in the US, where they are more often seen as engineers rather than executives" (Jing 2019b).

involved in some urban planning, you can plan a whole province!"

- Growing competencies: Increasingly, researchers are coming to China not only because of the funding opportunities: "*The Chinese are really good in some areas*". That was not the case in the past. "*Soon they will come to China for excellence*."

## Perceived disadvantages and hurdles that make life in China difficult:

- Quality of life (common examples are poor air quality and the housing situation)
- Cultural differences: Difficulties in coping with the culture, such as the complicated human relationships that are often opaque to non-Chinese. Chinese also often do not know how to deal with foreigners.
- Institutional obstacles: For example, non-transparent university policies and often chaotic and inefficient management at universities and institutes make research difficult.
- Limited access to the internet: Internet access is often limited in China and the internet is often slow due to the "fire wall". There is no or difficult access to Google Scholar and other journals.
- Visa issue
- Low level of internationalisation: for example, applications for funding have to be made in Chinese. The bureaucracy in China cannot be managed without knowledge of Chinese.

## China as an important career step:

- The students and researchers from Europe or the USA are mostly only in China for a short stay, as it is only seen as "*a career step*", not as "*the place to be*".

The researchers recommend going to China only at post-doc level. The basic training is much better in Europe and post-docs can make better use of the research infrastructures in China. But China should definitely be part of the life plan of European researchers.

# 3.2.5 China's return and recruitment programmes

To encourage and incentivise the return of Chinese and the recruitment of international scholars, China has introduced an elaborate set of measures (Publications Office of the European Union 2019). The People's Republic wants to take greater advantage of the scientific and technical capital of mobile talents, whose mobility provides additional skills and stronger integration into international networks. (Cao et al. 2019). The important role that returnees play in the Chinese system is reflected in the fact that, according to Cao et. al. (2019), many leadership positions are filled by returnees.

Data for students and academics indicate an increasing number of returnees. According to figures from the Chinese Ministry of Education, the number of returning Chinese students rose to 519,400 in 2018, an increase of 8% compared to the previous year 2017. (Dong 2019) . The deficit between Chinese students studying abroad and returning students to China has subsequently narrowed (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2017) . The length of stay of Chinese post-docs from science and engineering in the US has also declined slightly in recent years, with 90% of 2005 science and engineering PhDs staying for ten years; for the 2015 cohort, the proportion of those who stayed for five to ten years had declined to 70% (Cao et al. 2019) .

In addition to encouraging Chinese to return more quickly, more foreign experts are to be recruited at the same time. As part of the reform of the research system, the State Administration of Foreign Experts Office SAFEA and the National Natural Science Foundation of China NSFC were assigned to the Ministry of Research MOST in March 2018. The position of the ministry has been greatly upgraded as

a result. (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 55).

Measures used to attract high-level Chinese and foreign talent include: promoting the establishment of joint laboratories, recruiting foreign experts, Sino-foreign education cooperation programmes, supporting state-funded study abroad, recommending high-level talent to international organisations, attracting Chinese studying abroad to China, and encouraging business creation and innovation.

Programme	Agency in charge	Target of the programme	Year initiated	Total affected number
Hundred Talent Program	CAS	scientists under 45 years old (i)	1994	n.a.
National Science Fund for Distinguished Young Scholars	g NSFC academic leaders under 45 old; frontier sciences and technology (d)		1994	3454
Chunhui Programme	MOE	Chinese expatriates for short-term services (i)	1996	n.a.
Cheung Kong / Changjiang Scholar Program	MOE Endowed professorships for under 45 years old; extended to 55 years old in social sciences and humanities (i)		1998	2948
111 ProgrammeMOE & SAFEA1,000 foreign scholars from the top 100 universities and research institutions (i)		2005	n.a.	
Thousand Talent Program	CLGCTW	1,000 academics, corporate executives, and entrepreneurs under 55 years old to return from overseas	2008	n.a.
Young Thousand Talent Programme	Young Thousand Talent ProgrammeCLGCTWacademics under 40 years old with three+ years of post-doctoral research (i)		2010	3535
Science Fund for Emerging Distinguished Young ScholarsNSFCresearchers under 38 years old to work in academia (d)		2011	2398	
Ten Thousand Talent Programme	CLGCTW	W To support high-end talent residing in China (d)		3454
New Hundred Talent Programme	CAS	Renewal of Hundred Talent Programme (d & I)	2014	n.a.
Young Cheung Kong Scholar Program	MOE	Endowed professorships for young scholars at Chinese universities (d)	2015	440

# Table 6: Compilation of essential central Chinese talent retrieval and acquisition programmes1<sup>)</sup>

	1) A	Abbreviation	s:		
MOE	Ministry of Education	CAS	Chinese Academy of Science		
NSFC	National Natural Science Foundation of	SAFEA	State Administration of Foreign Expert Affairs		
	China				
CLGCTW	Central Leading Group for the		I = International focus		
	Coordination of Talent Work		d = fomestic focus		
	Source: Cao et al. 2019				

Cao et al. roughly approximates that by 2018, about 16,000 scientists and technology entrepreneurs could be brought back through central government programmes (Cao et al. 2019). The above table by Jonkers et al. (2019) shows a sample of central government programmes. Many programmes have been

running for a long time, but it remains unclear how effective these programmes are in bringing back Chinese or recruiting foreigners. In addition, there are a variety of local programmes, for example in Guangdong province (see chapter 5.3.4), which also provide substantial funding, for which no overview is available.

Li and Tang 2019 conducted a detailed analysis of the Chang Jiang/Cheung Kong Scholars programme, which is aimed at young professors and reports a total of 1,447 participants. They found that the international experience had a mixed impact on career opportunities in China: While the experience hardly makes a difference for young candidates, the time abroad slows down further development in China for "late-stage-careers". They attribute this to the lack of important personal contacts at the local level in China during this time. (Cao et al. 2019).

Textbox 7: 1000 Talents Programme

An important programme that both attracts international scholars to China and brings Chinese scholars back to the country is the 1000 Talents Programme. It was introduced in 2008 and has supported about 7,000 academics and entrepreneurs by the beginning of 2018. (Jia 2018) . The programme provides incentives in the form of significantly higher-than-average salaries and additional support for foreign researchers, for example in finding accommodation, moving to China, travelling to the home country, and finding jobs for the accompanying partners. (Jia 2018) . The prerequisite for applying for the 1000 Talents Programme is a firm commitment from a Chinese university for a position lasting three to five years. Applicants who have studied at renowned universities and have already published several papers have particularly good chances. In principle, Chinese academics up to 55 years of age can apply; foreign applicants must be under 65 years of age. (Jia 2018) . This age limit was introduced to prevent emeritus foreign professors from participating in the programme. Many young, international scientists value the 1000 Talents programme as a springboard for their own careers. For example, a researcher from Costa Rica who was working at the Max Planck Institute when he applied to China:

"I had just turned 33 when I first heard about this opportunity. The chance to build a lab like this while you are still relatively junior, with access to all these top-notch scientists [at CAS], is what made it so attractive." (Mervis 2019)

At the MPI, he estimates that it would have taken him ten more years to become head of a research group. Some Europeans and Americans express concern that academics and entrepreneurs are being poached by Chinese institutions and that the 1000 Talents programme is thus acting as an instrument of espionage. (Mervis 2019) . Other experts, however, describe the programme as very similar to European research grants that also attract international scientists. Spanish geneticist Jose Pastor-Pareja, who has been working under the 1000 Talents programme at Tsinghua University since 2012, compares the programme to Marie Skłodowska Curie actions under Europe's Horizon 2020. Pastor-Pareja comments:

"It's ridiculous to see it labelled as a quasi-terrorist organisation designed to steal things. [...] It's just another way to recruit talent. " (Mervis 2019)

Another example of the desired international opening is the International Young Scientist Fellowship programme administered by the National Science Foundation of China (NSFC), which is aimed at foreigners and for which an application can be submitted in English (as a rule, applications for internationally open programmes can only be submitted in Chinese) (Interview 2019).

One of the goals of the far-reaching reform of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS) in recent years was to increase the internationally recruited staff from 1% to 3%. Currently, 88 members of the Academy are foreigners and 771 are Chinese. However, this does not refer to the scientific staff. At the end of 2018, the Max Planck Society, which is comparable to the CAS, had 31 % non-Germans among

its total staff and 52 % of its scientists\* had a foreign nationality. (Max Planck Society 2019) . This planned step for the CAS and the reality in the MPG show that the desired internationalisation of Chinese science is still at a low level.

Textbox 8: Chinese Academy of Sciences President's International Fellowship Initiative

The Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS) offers numerous international fellowships under the name "CAS President's International Fellowship Initiative (PIFI)". PIFI is one of the important mobility programmes in China to enable international scholars to work or study at CAS institutions. It also aims to strengthen the collaboration of high-level international scholars with Chinese researchers at CAS institutions. The initiative is divided into four programmes, each targeting a specific group: renowned scholars, visiting professors, post-docs and international PhD students. (Chinese Academy of Science (CAS) 2016).

- Renowned academics, mostly professors, are invited to give lectures at at least two CAS institutes in China and to employ at least one CAS post-doc for one to three months in their home department. All costs for the post-doc and the travel abroad will be covered. For the lectures in China, including travel expenses, meals, hotel and honorarium, 50,000 RMB (approx. 6,700 EUR) per week will be provided.
- Visiting professors, at least titled assistant professor, are employed for two to nine months at a CAS institution to work on a cooperative project. Salaries vary from 20,000 to 40,000 RMB per month (approx. 2,700-5,300 EUR) depending on the professorship.
- Post-docs can apply to conduct research at a CAS-affiliated institute for one to two years. Participation in the programme is remunerated with 200,000 RMB (approx. 27,000 EUR) and travel expenses are covered.
- Furthermore, PIFI supports 200 international doctoral students annually who are doing their doctorate at CAS universities. The programme covers the tuition fees and supports the students financially. (Chinese Academy of Science (CAS) 2019).

Despite the greater openness and the underlying goals and instruments, in practice it is still often the case that foreign researchers, students or postdocs are in some ways at the bottom of the range of opportunities for action and funding in China. In relation to the size of the system, there are rather few, often very specific programmes for foreigners. These programmes are at the national level as well as at the local or provincial level, such as: Shanghai Pujiang Program, Shenzhen Kongque Program, Guangdong Zhujiang Program, Zhejiang 1000 Talents Program, 3315 Plan of Ningbo and Rising Star. These programmes are hardly known in the foreign community. The talent development programmes are often barely recognisable as talent mobility funding programmes, mostly to be applied for in Chinese and the application to be defended in Chinese (mere translation does not help). The regulations, application processes and evaluation criteria are unclear. Personal contacts or networks are often necessary for a successful application (Interview 2019).

Foreign students can only study at universities that have a corresponding programme for foreigners in the form of an International School. Only these universities are paid by the state for the places they offer (Interview 2019). There, the foreigners are among themselves. Structurally, integration into "normal" degree programmes is hardly possible. In addition, the university staff is often unable to communicate clearly with the foreign researchers and students due to their lack of English language skills and the foreigners' lack of Chinese language skills. Intercultural competence on both sides would be helpful to enable efficient communication (Interview 2019).

Furthermore, foreign scholars do not have the opportunity to participate in important project funding programmes in China. At the same time, the obstacles associated with visas and employment for

foreigners in China make mobility problematic for foreigners. In addition, the current Chinese legislation for non-governmental organisations puts obstacles in the way of non-profit foreign actors in China (for example, also the DFG or the Fraunhofer Gesellschaft).

Despite the above-mentioned positive figures for returnees and individual examples of successful foreign academics, it remains unclear what significance the various state programmes actually have on a broad scale and whether the international programmes for students really drive the internationalisation of universities or whether they are niche products. German students report that they have hardly any contact with Chinese students and are essentially in a society with other foreigners (Interview 2019).

# 3.3 Entrepreneurs hip

The basis for the development of the start-up scene is, among other things, the Torch programme (see chapter 5.2.1). Companies that set up in the Torch centres receive, for example, tax breaks, special training, premises, rent reductions, funds for research and development, and financial support for market-oriented science projects from the MOST (Schuman 2016; Abele 2019b) . In these high-tech zones alone, about 1000 companies are established every day (Abele 2019b) .

# 3.3.1 "Venture Communism"

The New York Times described the Chinese government's heavy involvement in national entrepreneurship as "venture communism" in September 2016. (Schuman 2016). Through state venture capital guidance funds, the government participates in private and state venture capital firms and their risk hedges. According to the Financial Times, the Chinese government has thus provided thousands of venture capital funds with about 1.8 trillion USD (about 12.6 trillion USD) by 2018. USD (about RMB 12.6 trillion) to thousands of venture capital funds by 2018, influencing market development. (Feng 2018). The government controls the areas in which companies are to receive particularly strong support and clearly focuses on technology-based industries, such as artificial intelligence, electromobility, robotics, big data, modern communication technologies and biotechnology. Experts see China as being particularly ahead in the field of artificial intelligence. In 2017 alone, for example, 48 % of the venture capital invested in artificial intelligence worldwide flowed to China. (Abele 2019b).

In 2017, the government published for the first time a guide that advocates entrepreneurship and innovation. Specifically, the government here advocates entrepreneurship that establishes hard work, the pursuit of excellence, craftsmanship, innovation and social responsibility. In the guide, the government also emphasises protecting the rights of entrepreneurs, ensuring fair competition in the country, as well as strengthening intellectual property protection to promote innovation. (Fan 2017). Meanwhile, the atmosphere in Chinese start-ups is similar to that in tech companies in Europe or the USA. (Bölinger 2018).

Entrepreneurship and start-ups are also strongly promoted at universities in China. Certain platforms are designed to give students the opportunity to try out innovative ideas, to exchange ideas and, if necessary, to set up companies. The X-Lab at Tsinghua University in Beijing offers such a platform and invites students, faculty, alumni, entrepreneurs, investors and experts to exchange ideas and work together. (Tsinghua University 2019).

# **3.3.2** Incubators and accelerators

In addition, there are now thousands of incubators and accelerators in China that accelerate start-ups. The biggest difference between them is that accelerators drive the development of an already existing start-up, while incubators support the path from an innovative idea to the founding of a company. (Hoyt 2017) . Accordingly, accelerators focus on companies, incubators on innovations. According to an evaluation by GTAI, there are about 4,000 Technology Business Incubators (TBI) in China. (Abele 2019b) . Some of the largest incubators and accelerators are located in Beijing's Zhongguancun Park, the Silicon Valley of China. (Huang 2019) . A high density of talent, investors, incubators and

accelerators, as well as government support, ensure that there are about 9,000 high-tech companies in this district alone, including the corporations Baidu and Sina (Jing 2018). Some of China's "Unicorns" (see below) have also emerged in Zhongguancun, such as ByteDance and Didi Chuxing. China's elite universities Beijing and Tsinghua with their science parks are also located in Zhongguancun. Other start-up strongholds are in Shanghai, Hangzhou and Shenzhen. (Hoyt 2017).

# 3.3.3 China's "Unicorns"

The rapid development of Chinese start-ups also becomes clear when one considers the high number of so-called unicorns or "unicorns". These are privately owned start-ups that are worth at least one billion USD (approx. 7 billion RMB). Well-known international examples are the ride-hailing service *Uber* or the accommodation provider *airbnb*. (CB Insights 2019) . The development of Chinese unicorns is enormous. While almost 50 % of all unicorns worldwide come from the USA, almost a quarter already come from China. (German 2019) . According to *CB Insights, there are* currently around 400 unicorns worldwide (as of September 2019), 89 of which are from China (CB Insights 2019) . The largest Chinese unicorns are Ant Financial (Alipay), Bytedance, and Didi Chuxing.

However, the figures from different sources vary widely and seem to change rapidly. Once a company goes public, it is no longer a unicorn, but still an essential company for the economy, contributing to technological and innovative progress.

Rank	Company (Headquarters in China)	Value (in US\$ and RMB)	Area
1	Ant Financial1 <sup>)</sup> (Hangzhou)	US\$ 150 billion (approx. 1050 billion RMB)	Fintech
2	Toutiao (Bytedance) (Beijing)	US\$ 75 bn (approx. RMB 529 billion)	Artificial Intelligence
3	Didi Chuxing (Beijing)	56 billion US\$ (approx. 395 billion RMB)	Transport sector; car-hailing
4	Kuaishou (Beijing)	US\$18 billion (approx. RMB 127 billion)	Mobile and telecommunications
5	DJI Innovations (Shenzhen)	15 billion US\$ (approx. 106 billion RMB)	Hardware

## Table 7: China's Top Unicorns 2019 (as of October 2019)

1) Ant Financial is part of Alibaba. Alibaba is listed on the stock exchange and is not a Unicorn. Thus Ant Financial is not a clearly associated unicorn, but is often counted as one. (Xinhuanet (新年网) 2019) Source: Own representation based on data from CB Insights 2019; Abele 2019b, p. 4

# 3.3.4 Venture capital in China

The establishment of technology-oriented companies is often dependent on venture capital (Schefczyk 2015). Venture capital is "the participation of an investor in a start-up/young company that needs capital for its growth". (Federal Ministry of Finance (BMF) 2018, p. 30). Venture capital is a "sub-form of off-market equity capital" and can be private or state-owned. (Stresing et al. 2018).

Venture Pulse Q2 2019 - Global analysis of venture funding, published by KPMG Enterprise, examines key trends and opportunities in the global venture capital market. Figure 24 shows venture investment in China from 2012 to mid-2019. While the number of venture capital activities has increased significantly again since the end of last year, the value of investments has decreased slightly. KPMG Enterprise interprets this development with caution, warning that such a jump may well be followed by a decline in investment in the next quarter (Q3) (KPMG Enterprise 2019).



Figure 24: Venture financing in China (2012-2019)

Source: KPMG Enterprise 2019, S. 93

China has only seen relevant venture capital investment since 2014. The growing start-up spirit in China is due to the risk appetite of the Chinese, but also to the start-up support of the government. It is becoming increasingly easier for university graduates to found and register companies, for example by providing free premises for founders. (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019). This trend is also reflected financially: from 2015 to 2017, the amount of investment in venture capital increased by 25%. This is the fastest venture capital growth in the world. (Florida and Hathaway 2018). China has also caught up strongly compared to the EU or the USA. Current figures for a concrete overview of venture capital investments vary greatly in different studies, so that only indicative values can be given. While China invested only about USD 5.6 billion (approx. RMB 39.2 billion) in 2010 according to Forbes, the value in 2018 was about USD 105 billion (approx. RMB 735 billion). In the US, the value increased from USD 30.8 billion (approx. RMB 216 billion) to about USD 111 billion (approx. RMB 777 billion) in the period. (Fannin 2019). According to KPMG, China's value in 2018 was about USD 85 billion (about RMB 595 billion) the value of the US was as high as USD 130 billion (about RMB 910 billion). (KPMG Enterprise 2019). This means that China is close on the heels of the USA. In Europe, the value in 2017 was only EUR 15.6 billion (approx. USD 17.2 billion or approx. RMB 120 billion). (German Bundestag 2018). Compared to China and the US, the EU still has some catching up to do. The EU seems to have realised this development and has announced that more capital will be invested in innovative startups in the future (Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi) 2018).

## **3.4** Conclusion on the actors in the R&I system

China's development of the education system has led to strong academisation and a large number of young graduates. These form a large pool of manpower for research and technology. While there is still a high demand in the technology fields and graduates quickly find jobs in industry, there are also growing problems with adequate jobs for graduates in other subjects. Many graduates are not educated well enough or fit enough to provide sufficient expertise to achieve the state's goals. The Chinese government has to manage the balancing act of avoiding graduate unemployment on the one hand and training well-qualified experts and recruiting them internationally on the other.

China has been successfully using sending talent to build expertise for China's development for many years. Germany also takes in a great many Chinese students. The current discussion in the US (or even in Australia) about the dangers posed by Chinese is not directly transferable to Europe. Europe is by far not as intensively interdependent as China and the USA. But in Europe, too, it should be examined

whether and how greater benefits can be obtained for the host countries and risks minimised.

China has become a destination for student mobility and also scholar mobility. Especially students from Africa and BRI-associated countries are supported with Chinese scholarship programmes. But 5.6 % of German international students also went to China in 2016. From a German perspective, the improved conditions in China should be further exploited. It would be in the interest of Germany's own innovation development if more students and scientists found their way to Chinese universities and laboratories. There seem to be many suitable programmes, but the path is often not transparent. As far as is known, the impact of studying in China on the career opportunities of German graduates is not tracked. It may be useful to analyse the current experiences of German students and to examine and possibly expand the existing support services. At the same time, it should be monitored more closely how well international students are actually being educated in China across the board, regardless of pure enrolment figures.

China has a variety of programmes to encourage Chinese professionals to return to China. The figures on effort and impact are patchy. Nevertheless, it is clear that returnees play an important role in China and that a return is attractive for more and more Chinese, as Chinese companies offer better working conditions and opportunities for advancement. This creates opportunities for returnees from Germany and also the risk of a knowledge drain. It is in the interest of the German innovation system to open up career options for the talents trained in Germany in German firms and institutions or Chinese firms in Germany. At the same time, Germany can also benefit from returnees to China who make new contacts with Germany possible in the first place. German companies and research institutions need talent, both students and employees. An analysis of the current career paths of Chinese graduates in Germany may be a first step towards developing suitable instruments to make the best possible use of opportunities.

For Germany as a location for innovation, broad China competence and Chinese language skills are necessary. This current situation should be optimised. More people study Chinese in France than in Germany.

Over the past two decades, the startup and entrepreneurial scene in China has grown significantly. This development strengthens the expansion of advanced technology as well as economic growth (Tse 2016). The Chinese government supports this development and encourages startups through financial and structural support. These are also sometimes open to foreign founders. This may be interesting for German founders in individual cases.

# 4. Performance of the innovation system

China's declared goal is to become the world leader in science and technology by the middle of the 21st century. China's size and dynamism require its own Chinese innovations for this.

The impact of China's policy so far can be indirectly deduced by looking at available output indicators. According to these, after rapid development, especially in the last 10 years, China has now assumed a leading role worldwide in some technology areas (e.g. Figure 3, Figure 25, Figure 29).

Indicators for the results of research activity are measured indirectly. Established indicators are publication activity as the results of scientific work and the registration of patents as the results of application-oriented research. The impact of research on the innovation system is more difficult to determine. It is described approximately by the citation of publications or could also be measured, for example, by patent utilisation figures. The presentation of the publication and patent utilisation figures in the following is essentially based on the data compiled by the Fraunhofer-ISI, GIGA and DAAD as part of the BMBF's commission to monitor the Asia-Pacific research landscape, and which is available for further evaluation. (Frietsch et al. 2018a).

## 4.1 Publications



Figure 25: Publications "fractional" and "whole count", Total and as a proportion of the world (2005 - 2017)<sup>1)2)</sup>

1) Publication trends that can be assigned to individual countries via the authors' addresses2

) "Whole count": all authors of a publication are credited with 1 to the country of origin (in the case of 4 authors from 4 countries, each country receives 1); "Fractional count": each publication counts as 1 and authorship is calculated proportionally (in the case of 4 authors from 4 countries, each country receives 0.25 credit).

Source: own representation based on adjusted SCOPUS data, Frietsch et al. 2018a
China and also the competitor countries under consideration are developing positively in terms of absolute publication figures. China shows the already described stronger increase over the last few years. In the fractional count, China caught up with the USA in 2017. Accordingly, China's rise is also visible in the share of Chinese publications in the global publication volume. China has now reached a global share of about 18 % in the fractional count, while the American share (also about 18 %), or even the British and Japanese shares, have visibly declined within 12 years. Germany's and France's share is comparatively stable, Korea's relevance is increasing. While there have been signs of a certain stagnation in most of the countries considered since around 2014, no flattening of the curve can be observed in China. In this respect, the development process, similar to Korea, is obviously not yet complete.

China's publication numbers are artificially boosted by a strong reward system and, at least in some universities and provinces, also premium system, and the quality of many articles is not high (Huang 2018). While this is relevant, it should not distract from the fundamental actual research performance evidenced by publications and citations. That not only the absolute number of publications is increasing but also the quality is shown, for example, by the excellence rate in Figure 28.



#### Figure 26: Co-publications in China and Germany, together with selected countries, total1)



1) Presentation of co-publications: The authors' countries of origin are shown for publications with authors from different countries. Source: own representation based on adjusted SCOPUS data in Frietsch et al. 2018a An examination of co-publications over time comparing Germany and China with major competitor countries shows that both countries have expanded their international cooperation over the last 12 years, China 4-fold, Germany 2½-fold.

The US and China have established a very close relationship in research, which also has a certain dependency as a result. China's co-publications are very concentrated in the US with almost 2/3 share. Co-publications between China and the USA also show a larger increase than between China and the EU. In addition, three times as many Chinese researchers go to the USA than to EU member countries.

(Publications Office of the European Union 2019) . Nevertheless, among the countries considered, Germany is China's third most important cooperation partner after the USA and the United Kingdom, together with Japan. Even though other countries were not considered here, this ranking also applies worldwide.

Germany is more balanced in its scientific co-publications. Increases with China are offset by even higher increases with the United Kingdom and France or even the USA. Nevertheless, China has developed increasing relevance for Germany in recent years and is now visibly ahead of Japan and Australia in fourth place among the countries considered.

### **Quality of the publications**

The common way of making statements about the quality of research is the number of citations of publications. This looks at how often a publication has been used by other authors. The so-called excellence rate refers only to the most cited publications sorted by subject area and shows the change in the quality of research results independent of the size of the system under consideration. For example, the quality of research from a large and a small country can be compared.

About 14 % of the research papers published with German participation are among the most cited publications in the respective subject. Compared to the other countries considered, Germany is thus a good research location and has been stable over a long period of time.



Figure 27: Excellence rate of publications (2005-2015)<sup>1)</sup>

 Publications that are counted among the 10% most highly cited publications ("whole count") in a research field and year, in each case as a percentage of the total number of citations in this field and year.
 Source: own representation based on adjusted SCOPUS data in Frietsch et al. 2018a

Figure 28 confirms the statement made above that the quality of China's research output is improving rapidly. Since 2015, China's excellence rate has been higher than Korea's and Japan's and there is no sign of the curve flattening. While the UK's excellence rate is also rising, and those of Germany, France, Japan and Korea are largely stable, the US's excellence rate is falling.

For a comparative system description, it is helpful to attempt to depict the resources flowing into a system and the system outcome. In relation to the scientific part of the innovation systems of China, Germany, Japan, Korea, the USA, France and the UK, this is illustrated in Figure 29 by the combination of publications and R&D expenditure or by the combination of publications versus the number of scientists in the countries.





 Input-output representation of the innovation system of selected countries over time using the indicators publications ("Whole Count") vs. R&D investments (top) and publications vs. number of scientists (bottom). The individual data points refer to the situation of one year with a progression from 2005 to 2017.
 Source: Own representation based on OECD 2019b ; Frietsch et al. 2018a

Figures 28 show how efficiently the UK translates a fairly small budget increase into publication output and how little a budget increase in Japan leads to an increase in publications. China has made great leaps in recent years, achieving an increase in publications along with the increase in R&D expenditure, and to a similar extent as in France, Germany or Korea, but with much larger jumps in both indicators from year to year. Over many years, China has thus managed both to enable continuous large budget increases and at the same time to develop a sufficient number of scientists from the education system who, in suitable, rapidly established research structures, also produce a corresponding output with the money. China's budget and publication output has reached the level of the USA.

Since "whole count" figures are used here, effects such as the artificial expansion of authorship or also the low quality of publications certainly play a role. However, these effects are not the main driver of

the development.

In the past four years, there are indications in Germany and Korea, and very visibly in the USA, that the budget continues to rise, but not the number of publications. This effect should be investigated together with the curve of Japan, as it is possible that marginal utility or marginal productivity of the science system is being reached here.

Looking at the relationship between the number of researchers and publications at the bottom of Figure 29, a similar picture emerges. The UK is efficient, Japan is stagnant, France, Korea, Germany and also the USA are roughly on a similar line, indicating similar researcher productivity. The productivity of researchers in the UK seems to be higher than that of the other countries and the productivity of researchers in China and Japan seems to be lower. At this point, the gap between the curves of China and the USA does not close either.

German scientists are productive with high quality and broadly positioned in their international cooperation. Germany is a relevant research location worldwide and stable in its performance record. It is a generally accepted statement for Germany's knowledge economy that scientific cooperation with strong science nations such as the USA, Great Britain or Japan is an obligation in order to participate in the best possible way in global knowledge production. This understanding should apply in the same way to China, now by far the world's second most important research nation, which has also quickly caught up with the leading research nations in terms of research quality and continues to develop positively. If we take the United Kingdom as a guide, because development with the USA is an inappropriate comparison for Germany, Germany's co-publication development with China lags somewhat behind (Figure 26 above). If it is assumed that China now has a similar importance to the USA - and this is what Figure 25 says - Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with China should actually be oriented towards Germany's co-publications with the USA.

The result of the indicator analysis is the recommendation to strengthen German cooperation efforts with Chinese partners. To do this, one must take a closer look at the subject areas in which German forms of cooperation lag behind those of other nations and examine whether an expansion of cooperation in the respective subject area would be advantageous for Germany. In areas where advantages are seen, cooperation should be expanded in a long-term, systematic and relevant manner. The input-output analysis indicates a marginal benefit in the science systems. Higher investment does not seem to lead to higher productivity. At the same time, the UK figures suggest an improvement in productivity without high additional investment. The correlations could be looked at more closely.

# 4.2 Patents

Patents are important indicators for showing the success of an innovation system (Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) 2018b). China issued a national "IP strategy" as early as 2008 and has continuously adjusted the existing patent laws, most recently in early 2019. This was followed in 2010 by a national patent development plan (ChinaPower Project 2019). The associated government incentive mechanisms for applicants to expand patent applications are having an effect: the number of Chinese patent applications has risen continuously both internationally and at the Chinese National Intellectual Property Agency (CNIPA, formerly SIPO) in recent years. The number of China's transnational patents (*"patent families with at least one application at the European Patent Office (EPO) or at the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) under the Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT)") has increased between 2006 and 2015. (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 88) ) increased at an annual growth rate of 22.3% between 2006 and 2015. In 2014, China overtook Germany, leaving the US, Japan and the EU with more total transnational patent applications than China. With a share of 30 % of all transnational patents in China, applications in the fields of computers, electronics and optics are a particular focus. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 60).* 



Figure 29: Representation of transnational patent applications (2005-2015)

The developments of the international patent applications of France, Germany and the United Kingdom have been stable for many years. Apparently, the higher R&D investments or even the higher numbers of scientists in Germany, for example, or the expansion of international research cooperation have no significant impact on patent applications. So if patent application numbers make a statement about a country's innovative strength, it seems to be stable in the three European countries, but not increasing. China's international patent applications have been rising steadily over the 10 years under consideration. At least until 2015, there is no sign of China's curve flattening. A relatively high share of Chinese applications, both at the transnational level (7.9 percent) and especially at the CNIPA (23.1 percent), are filed by public research institutions and universities. Technologically, Chinese applications are concentrated on information and communication technologies and consumer goods (Frietsch et al. 2018, p. 90).

#### **Co-patents**

The representation of transnational co-patent applications in Figure 31 shows a descending trend in the filing of co-patents with China. This expresses the increasing technological strength and independence of Chinese firms, which are gaining weight in international markets, and the decreasing relevance of joint ventures with foreign firms. All other countries remained largely constant in their patent filing behaviour in terms of cross-border cooperation, with the Europeans and the USA comparatively well above the figures for Japan and Korea. Apparently, the need for cross-border cooperation is lower in Asia. The development in China may therefore also be seen as a consolidation based on national needs and driven by national companies, which is typical for Asian countries.

Source: own representation based on adjusted EPA - PATSTAT data in Frietsch et al. 2018a



Figure 30: Share of co-patents in transnational patent applications (2005-2015)<sup>1)</sup>

1) Figures in %. Source: own presentation based on adjusted EPA - PATSTAT data in Frietsch et al. 2018a

When presenting the filing of patents and co-patents at the national level at the Chinese patent office CNIPA, the quantitative growth becomes even clearer than in the case of international applications.

The transformation of the State Intellectual Property Office (SIPO) into the China National Intellectual Property Administration (CNIPA) is, according to Frietsch, a signal that the transition from the phase of imitation to innovation should be accompanied by an authority with more decision-making rights for stricter supervision of the observance of intellectual property rights and more central government funding. (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 56).

"At the national level at CNIPA, patent numbers have exploded in the years since 2008. While foreign applicants slightly more than doubled their filing numbers between 2008 and 2014, Chinese inventors increased their patent output by about four times. They filed about 650,000 patents nationally in 2014, out of a total of 780,000 applications at the Chinese Patent Office." (Frietsch et al. 2018a, p. 88)

Actors from other countries co-file patents with Chinese in China comparatively rarely. It appears that almost all co-patent applications at CNIPA are agreed between Chinese and US actors. Other countries are marginally involved. Here, as in the case of scientific work, a high degree of dovetailing between Chinese and US actors is evident.



Figure 31: Patents and co-patents filed with CNIPA

Source: own representation based on adjusted EPA - PATSTAT data in Frietsch et al. 2018a

The development of patent applications both internationally and nationally indicates that actors in established industrial locations seem to have been applying for a stable number of patents for several years. Only China and Korea show significantly increasing application numbers. Despite the rising number of patent applications, China sees a need to catch up even in the quality of patents in order to reduce the current dependence of the Chinese economy on foreign patents. China's catching-up is also still quite recent and older patents relevant to many technologies are held by foreign companies. Between 2008 and 2017, China had to acquire patent rights from abroad for USD 185.2 billion (approx. RMB 1.3 trillion), while at the same time Chinese patent uses abroad only generated USD 12.2 billion (approx. RMB 33.6 billion). And of this, almost a third was acquired in 2017, at USD 4.8 billion (approx. RMB 33.6 billion). By comparison, the US raised USD 128.4 billion (approx. RMB 898.8 billion) and Japan 41.7 billion (approx. RMB 291.9 billion) in 2017 (ChinaPower Project 2019). Greater independence of China from foreign patents will only happen step by step, despite the increase in applications.

### 4.3 Innovative capacity of Chinese companies

A key question for Germany and other industrialised nations is how innovative the Chinese innovation ecosystem and Chinese companies actually are. Indicators that would enable a comparison are rare and the data basis in China is often unclear, see below. The innovative capacity of Chinese companies is interpreted quite differently. According to Atkinson and Foote (2019), who look at Chinese innovative capacity in competition with the USA, the importance of scientific innovation capacity, in which China has so far only been successful in individual areas, is rated too highly. Chinese strengths lie more in engineering-driven innovation, consumer-oriented innovation and efficiency innovation (Atkinson and

#### Foote 2019).

In addition, when considering the role of business enterprises in China, the role of "state-owned enterprises" and their often non-transparent forms of financing and unclear decision-making structures made comparability difficult. It is not only the enterprises that are directly owned by the state, the State-Owned Enterprises (SOEs), but also enterprises that belong to individual party members or their family members or that belong to subdivisions of the state would have to be taken into account. These "state-owned" companies often align their research expenditures and innovation goals with government requirements. They also have better access to financing from, again, state-owned banks, which enables them to invest higher amounts in certain R&D areas (ChinaPower Project 2019). With this direct and indirect power of the party and government already described above, companies are mobilised to provide money for specific causes, often in technological areas important to the party: '*the state invests heavily in SOEs to enable an edge in certain areas and such companies can burn money and get competitive advantages*' (interview 2019). Market requirements or profitability for the enterprises then come second (Interview 2019).

The innovation capacity of companies in China is monitored by the Chinese Ministry of Research and Technology using indicators and documented in a report published every two years entitled "China Science and Technology Indicators" (most recently in 2018). (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018) . In addition, MOST conducts an "Enterprise Innovation Survey" in which 646,000 enterprises are surveyed. (Liu et al. 2018) . It provides an overview of enterprise innovation and includes questions on innovation collaboration and on factors hindering innovation. It also provides an analysis of entrepreneurs' understanding of innovation.

### 4.3.1 R&D personnel

R&D personnel are seen in companies as an important factor for the company's ability to innovate (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018) . The increasing demand for innovation and innovative activity should be accompanied by a steadily growing R&D workforce in academia and companies. In 2015, Chinese companies employed 2.9 million people (full-time equivalent FTEs) in R&D. The employment landscape in China of people in R&D has changed significantly over the past 15 years. Fifteen years ago, about 50% of researchers worked in business and 50% in publicly funded research; currently, almost 80% work in business. (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018). There has been an absolute increase in R&D personnel from 500,000 FTEs in 2000 to almost 3 million FTEs in 2015. According to UNESCO statistics, there are a total of 1,740,442 research FTEs in China in 2018. (UNESCO 2019b) . It can be assumed that the Chinese statistics also count technical staff, but this is not clearly defined in the Chinese source.



80



Compared to the current 3 million FTE R&D personnel in China (or 1.7 million according to UNESCO figures), German firms employed 404,767 FTE in research in the same year. (Stifterverband 2019), 132,542 were employed at German universities and 101,005 in research organisations (vs. approx. 600,000 in China in R&D outside companies) (Federal Statistical Office 2019).

#### 4.3.2 **R&D** expenditure

Between 2003 and 2017, R&D spending by Chinese companies increased steadily. In 2017, China's enterprises reached R&D expenditures of over USD 380 billion (approx. 2.4 trillion RMB or approx. 350 billion euros). This is a 10-fold increase compared to 2003 in absolute terms. The share of national R&D expenditure has increased from 60.1 % to 76.8 % during the period. This trend emphasises the growing role of enterprises in innovation in China (see Figure 33). In Germany, \$91 billion (about RMB637 billion or about €83 billion) was spent on corporate R&D in 2017. This accounts for a national share of 66.1 (OECD 2019b).



Source: Own representation based on OECD 2019b

According to Chinese statistics, the main source of R&D funds in Chinese companies is in-house funds. Between 2010 and 2015, these accounted for 94 % of R&D expenditure, followed by government funding at 4 % and foreign and other funding at around 1 % each, see Table 8. (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018) In comparison, a 2017 KfW study for Germany found that 82 % of R&D funding comes from internal resources. 9 % are bank loans, 6 % state subsidies and 3 % other sources. (Zimmermann 2019) . Internal company funds therefore play an even greater role in China than in Germany. However, the ambiguity in the financing of "state-owned enterprises" and their reporting of R&D funds must also be taken into account here. Banks or investment funds are not mentioned as a "source" of financing in Chinese statistics. Yet, for example, as of 2016, according to US data, there were at least 780 "government-linked" investment funds with a capital of 326 billion USD (approx. 2.28 trillion RMB). (Duesterberg 2018) .

It is worth mentioning that the role of R&D funding by foreign countries at a low relevance level has decreased again in relation to total investment. This includes the forced R&D investments of foreign firms in "joint ventures" and also the development of research capacities in the interest of German firms in China, such as that of SAP in Shanghai, or also the establishment of foreign firms with R&D approaches in the technology zones and parks (see Chapter 2).

Category	Source of R&D expenditure	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Government expenditure	23,7 (3)	28,9 (3,7)	36,3 (4,6)	40,9 (5,2)	42,2 (5,4)	46,3 (5,9)
R&D expenditure	Corporate spending	480,9 (62)	611,8 (78,3)	729,5 (93,4)	846,1 (108,3)	942,9 (120,7)	1019,8 (130,5)
(in EUR bn)	Foreign expenditure	8,3 (1,1)	10,5 (1,3)	8,9 (1,1)	9,4 (1,2)	9,3 (1,2)	9,5 (1,2)
	Other	5,7 (0,7)	6,8 (0,9)	9,5 (1,2)	11,2 (1,4)	11,7 (1,5)	12,6 (1,6)
	Government expenditure	4,60	4,4	4,6	4,5	4,2	4,3
<b>R&amp;D</b> expenditure	Corporate spending	92,7	93	93	93,2	93,7	93,7
by source in %	Foreign expenditure	1,6	1,6	1,1	1	0,9	0,9
	Other	1,1	1	1,2	1,2	1,2	1,2

 
 Table 8: Budget information and composition of expenditures for research and development by companies in China

Source: own representation based on data from the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018

In terms of sectors, the highest budget was spent on R&D in computer and ICT applications, the field of activity of Huawei and other large companies, at 16.1 % of total expenditure in 2015. Electrical machinery and manufacturing equipment (10.1 %) and automotive manufacturing (9 %) follow. (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018) . According to a survey by the Stifterverband on R&D in industry in 2017, the focus of R&D in German industry in 2016 is different. In Germany, the focus on manufacturing is particularly on motor vehicles and motor vehicle parts with 34.8 % of total expenditure on R&D, electrical equipment and electronic and optical products are at 15.8 % and pharmaceutical products at 7.1 %. (Stifterverband 2019) . This weighting is also reflected in the assessment of German experts: Germany's strength is in engineering and China's strength is in the development of new business models, which is particularly crucial in the digital industry (Interviews, 2019).

# 4.3.3 Chinese National Enterprise Innovation Survey

China conducted the first industrial enterprise innovation survey in 2007 based on the OECD's Oslo Manual. The second "National Enterprise Innovation Survey" was conducted in China in 2017 by the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) for industry, construction and services, also on this basis. According to the results of the 2017 survey, innovation activities in four forms played a role in around 40 % of the companies surveyed: product innovation, process innovation, organisational innovation and marketing innovation. (Liu et al. 2018).

Of the 192,000 enterprises that reported innovation activities in 2016, 120,000, i.e. 62.5 %, had so-called "cooperative innovations", i.e. innovation activities together with other companies or institutions. Among the 160,000 companies that reported successful technology innovations, as many as 70.8 % reported cooperative innovation. It can be seen that cooperative innovation is now one of the important factors in the innovation activities of enterprises in China. The size of the companies plays a role: the larger the company, the more openness for innovation processes and cooperation (Liu et al. 2018). It remains unclear in the report which forms of cooperation are meant and who cooperates with whom.

According to the responses on the age of the managers/entrepreneurs surveyed in China, there is a fairly high proportion of relatively young people, with around 44% of entrepreneurs aged under 40 and 81%

under 50. This is in line with China's comparatively young academisation. The proportion of young entrepreneurs may have an impact on the innovation activity of the companies they lead.

Innovatively active companies see a high relevance of political strategies to accompany innovative capacity - which is understandable considering the political system. For example, 55 % see rules for the protection of intellectual property as important, 54 % see rules for talent recruitment and promotion as right. A significant share of Chinese companies would like to see further plans and initiatives for government financial support in prioritised industries, or tax incentives for R&D. (Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) 2018).

In 2016, more than 70 % of the companies were of the opinion that the lack of qualified personnel and the company identification of the personnel are important limiting factors for continuous innovation processes (this coincides with the statements of the German industry in China (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2019). High innovation costs, lack of technical information, lack of financial resources and uncertainty of market demand are other barriers to innovation mentioned. In many cases, as many as 20% of the respondents, there is simply no need for innovation. The risk of market dominance and the ease of imitation of innovations were generally not seen as the main obstacles to innovation (Liu et al. 2018).

# 4.4 Conclusion on the performance of the innovation system

The indirect indicators of the performance of the Chinese innovation system have been showing rapid and clearly positive developments for years. Publication numbers have reached the level of the USA, and the quality of publications is also improving. Co-publications show China's very high focus on cooperation with partners in the USA. Chinese patent applications have high growth rates both in international applications and in national Chinese applications. China is an important knowledge and innovation actor worldwide, with which cooperation is imperative for a knowledge-based economy like Germany. The comparison of Germany's cooperation with China with the cooperation of other countries with China indicates that there is still potential for expanding German-Chinese cooperation.

An interesting aspect might be suggested by the input-output view that in some industrialised countries higher R&D expenditures - in contrast to the previous development - no longer lead to increasing publication numbers. The question of whether R&D systems reach a point of marginal productivity may be of interest for further research.

According to the official Chinese reports on the innovation capacity of companies, the importance of research activities in companies has increased rapidly in the last 20 years. The topics of large and relatively young digital firms play an important role. China now has an R&D structure of business, universities and research institutions in some provinces that looks similar to that in developed countries. Despite the large human resources available, the limitation of suitable personnel, along with available finances, plays a hurdle in further innovation. Chinese companies want a clear policy framework.

# 5. R&I system functionality in China at regional level

The aim of the chapter is to strengthen the understanding of system functionality in China. The strategic approaches and specifications described in Chapter 2 are broken down in practice to the provincial, individual city and district levels. These are responsible for the formulation of implementing regulations and local-specific rules. In relation to the technology sector, they are intended to reach individual companies and research centres or universities in order to strengthen the location of the local level and thus China as a whole.

The multiplicity, diversity, unclear formulation, temporal and thematic overlapping of plans and reports make the Chinese system quite opaque to the external, but also to the internal observer. (Yang 2019b). In addition to the "Medium- and Long-Term Plan for S&T Development (2006-2020)" and the "13th

Five-year Plan on Science, Technology and Innovation" (see Chapter 5.1.2), according to the National Centre for S&T Evaluation (NCSTE), another 60 "Special Policies", 80 "Regulations", 62 "Tasks" and 242 "Policy Measures" on research and innovation were issued at the national level between 2006 and 2015. (Yang 2018; Interview 2019). Even Chinese experts have difficulty keeping an overview of how this accumulation of central plans, regulations and measures affects the research landscape and local R&D policies (Interview 2019). This is then compounded by a wide variety of local implementation regulations.

According to Tse, the resilience with which China's development model reacts to internal and external challenges and obstacles can be explained by the so-called "three-layer duality". (2016) can be explained by the so-called "three-layer duality": At the top level, the central government formulates guidelines and goals, which the rest of the administrative apparatus at regional and local level follows according to a top-down model. At the middle level are the regional and local administrative bodies, which try to channel and coordinate innovative ideas with targeted support measures and cooperation in order to achieve the ideas or milestones set by the government. (Tse 2019).

The public and private enterprises operating at the lower level, the so-called "duality" of enterprises, as well as the research institutes are supposed to be the executing forces and the beneficiaries of the national innovation plans (Tse 2016). In this context, science parks (see chapter 5.2) play a role as a policy instrument for economic growth by attracting in particular small and medium-sized high-tech enterprises (SMEs) (Cheng et al. 2014). Science Parks provide these companies with services of various kinds to support them in their innovation activities (Interviews 2019). The type of services, which goes as far as financial support, varies and depends on the respective provincial or district policy and also on the respective investor of the park.

Over time, the Chinese government has realised that this purely top-down approach does not sufficiently improve innovation capacity in a way that leads to indigenous innovation. Freedom of action for local governments in the use of budgets and in the development of instruments is now helping to improve innovation-oriented plans and their implementation. (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 905) . The openness of administration, companies and the population to new technologies favours a disruptive innovation policy. (Sieren 2019) . Successful pilot projects at the regional level thus sometimes count as drivers for a successful strategic orientation of the central government. (Heilmann and Melton 2013, p. 594) .

Regional R&D policy stands out because of another feature: financial support at the regional level exceeds (not in all provinces, but in Guangdong, for example) central government funding. This middle level of "three-layer duality" thus helps in the first place to implement national plans, but it also always pursues its own goals. The framework that the central government sets for this is "fluid" and must always be re-tared depending on the actor, role, time, province, etc. In principle, the actors at the middle level have the right to act in their own interest. Basically, the actors at the middle level have a natural interest in gaining far-reaching advantages for themselves and their region or the respective sectors through the implementation of trend-setting central guidelines (Frietsch et al. 2018a; Publications Office of the European Union 2019; Breznitz and Murphree 2011).

Some national plans and programmes have a special relevance for technological development in China because of their political importance, their budget or also their long-term nature. One such programme is the so-called Torch Programme. It is the central implementation tool for the local level to implement the central government's plans, as is done for example in the Greater Bay Area (GBA).

Due to the complexity, the analysis focuses on the implementation approaches for the GBA and Guangdong Province mentioned by the Chinese interviewees as currently relevant. Three aspects are examined in this chapter: 1) the interaction between the strategies at the national level and the implementations at the local level using the example of the Greater Bay Area and the centrally acting Guangdong Province. Two relevant levels are considered: the provincial administration and the Science Parks/High and New Technology Zones (HNTZ). The Torch Programme is also included here. 2) Two

Science Parks as concrete implementation units are presented as examples to illustrate their functioning. 3) The instruments used in Guangdong Province to drive innovation and the potential opportunities for Germany and German actors are presented.

# 5.1 Greater Bay Area: National Plan and Regional Implementation

The GBA is a strategically grouped region consisting of Hong Kong, Macao and nine cities from Guangdong province. The economic, political and innovative importance of the region and the interplay of strategic approaches of the central and provincial levels are illustrated in the following chapter.

# 5.1.1 Greater Bay Area and Guangdong Province

The GBA is a 56,000 km2 coastal region with a population of over 66.7 million in southern China, comprising the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) and Macao Special Administrative Region (Macao SAR), and the cities of Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Foshan, Huizhou, Dongguan, Zhongshan, Jiangmen and Zhaoqing, all located in Guangdong Province (see figure 34) (Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 2019, p. 1; KPMG and HKGCC 2017, pp. 6-7).

Guangdong Province, in the wake of the Open-Door Policy (1979), has developed into China's economically strongest and most innovative province early on since the 1980s (Sigurdson 2004, p. 8). With a gross regional product (GRP) of 9.7 trillion RMB (approx. 1.2 trillion RMB), Guangdong is the most innovative province in China. RMB (approx. EUR 1.2 billion), Guangdong is the richest province in 2018, contributing nearly 11% of China's GDP (National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBS) 2019). In 2016, Guangdong's foreign trade volume accounted for a disproportionate 25% of China's total (USD 954 billion, approx. RMB 6.7 trillion), illustrating the region's strong export focus (Gätzner 2018, p. 13).



Figure 34: Geographical, economic and demographic information on the cities of the Greater Bay Area

BIP = GDP, Einwohner = population Source: Gätzner 2018, p. 13 ; KPMG and HKGCC 2017

A central role in the region's development is played by the city of Shenzhen, which was designated a

special economic zone in 1980 and attracted domestic and foreign companies with subsidised land and a low corporate income tax of 15% (about half the national rate) (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 17).

Special economic zones in China are geographically demarcated areas, with their own administration and a separate customs area (often duty-free), where uniform business procedures are applied and where companies located there receive certain benefits. (World Bank 2010). They are functionally more diverse and cover much larger land areas than other types of economic zones. In China, the term special economic zone (SEZ) usually refers to the following seven specific zones: Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Shantou, Xiamen, Hainan, Shanghai Pudong New Area and Tianjin Binhai New Area.

Shenzhen was originally established as a Special Economic Zone (SEZ) in 1980 to operate a socialist market economy, as it is close to Hong Kong. In the following three decades, Shenzhen received a huge influx of industrial investment, most of which was in low-tech manufacturing activities.

Numerous production facilities focusing on the final assembly of information and communication technology (ICT) products have sprung up in Shenzhen and increasingly in the surrounding cities. In order to make production more qualitative, faster and more cost-efficient, companies gradually invested in technology development and thus managed to gradually shift their focus from simple assembly and production activities with low profit margins to producing their own technology innovations (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 20; Sigurdson 2004, p. 10). This is exemplified by ZTE and Huawei, which were founded as trading companies in Shenzhen in the 1980s and are now among the world's leading telecommunications companies. (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 21). Shenzhen is also home to global market leaders such as Tencent, the developer of WeChat with a specialisation in AI, the battery and electric car manufacturer BYD and the drone manufacturer DJI, which has a global market share of 70%. (Rohde 2019b; Gätzner 2018, p. 17).

In the past three decades, Shenzhen has developed from a fishing town with a population of 30,000 into a metropolis with over 12 million inhabitants (Gätzner 2018, p. 13). Worldwide, only the ports of Shanghai and Singapore have a higher goods turnover than Shenzhen's, with 24 million standard containers. (Gätzner 2018, p. 13).

A distinctive feature of the development of Shenzhen and other cities in Guangdong is that the industry is dominated by private companies and is thus somewhat more detached from national programmes and government influence. The disadvantages that this industry has faced due to the lack of government support have been turned to its advantage by the low level of political influence:

- The production of ICT hardware is dependent on the import of high-quality components and generates a low profit margin. It also results in high energy consumption and environmental pollution. For this reason, this industry originally received little support from the Chinese government. (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 16). In Guangdong, private enterprises overrode this and a nationally unique ICT agglomeration developed, accounting for 76.8% of all Chinese electronics and ICT exports in 2009. (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 17). Due to the differentiation of enterprises over the past four decades, almost the entire production process from development to the manufacture of individual components to final assembly can be implemented in the region. Up to 90 % of the components for ICT hardware are sourced from Guangdong itself, so that the dependence on imports has decreased and a higher value added is achieved. (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 23).
- When it comes to granting loans, large companies and state-owned enterprises are favoured over smaller and private SMEs. Contributing to the flourishing of private enterprises in Guangdong, in addition to tax breaks and subsidies from the local and provincial governments, is an informal rotating financing system in which enterprises lend to each other on a trust basis. For example, a manufacturer can buy components from a supplier on credit and pay for them once the final product has been sold to the customer (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, pp. 24-26).

companies in Guangdong are in a strong relationship of dependency, they mostly abide by the agreements, so this system, according to Breznitz and Murphree (2011, S. 26) works reliably.

- In response to weak IP protection in China, companies in Guangdong released new innovations incrementally and quickly. This meant that new models were brought to market at short intervals in order to continuously counteract product piracy. (Breznitz and Murphree 2011, p. 19). Private companies therefore invest on average significantly more in R&D than state-owned enterprises and are characterised by being particularly application- and market-oriented. (Gätzner 2018, p. 18).

Guangdong's growing importance as a technology and innovation hub is reflected, among other things, in the number of High and New Technology Development Zones (HNTZs) (see Chapter 5.2): Guangdong is home to 12 HNTZs, making it the province with the most HNTZs. The more than 97,000 registered enterprises in the HNTZs employ over 2.3 million people across China and generate 3.1 trillion RMB (approx. 380 billion RMB). RMB (approx. 380 billion EUR) in operating revenue (as of the end of 2017). (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 4).

Investment in R&D in Guangdong amounted to RMB 200 billion (approx. EUR 25 billion) in 2016 and the share of spending on R&D as a percentage of GDP was 3% in the GBA and 4% in the city of Shenzhen. This puts the region above the investment of other provinces and the nationwide spending share of 2%. (Gätzner 2018, p. 17).

Since 2016, Guangdong has been the province where most domestic patents are granted (see Figure 35). In 2017, over 330,000 new patents were filed in Guangdong (State Intellectual Property Office of the People's Republic of China (SIPO) 2018, p. 97). More than 90% of R&D activities in Guangdong take place in private companies, which (Sigurdson 2004, p. 9) which means that they hold a large number of patents. Two of the top five companies worldwide with the most patent applications in 2018 are located in Shenzhen: Huawei ranks first with 5,405 and ZTE fifth with 2,080. Universities in Guangdong also fare well in the global comparison of patent applications. Shenzhen University (founded in 1983) ranks <sup>6</sup> third in the world with 201 patent applications. (Wang 2019). The R&D activities of companies in Guangdong are particularly specialised in IT, high-end manufacturing, biomedicine, new materials and renewable energy. Efforts are being made to expand research in the fields of robotics, drones and big data. (Gätzner 2018, p. 17). The representation of patent applications over time shows the importance of the province for China and the rapidly growing importance of tech companies in the province.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In second to fourth place are Mitsubishi Electric (2,812 patents), Intel (2,499 patents) and Qualcomm (2,404 patents).



#### Figure 35: Number of domestically granted patents in China's five most patent-rich provinces (2011-2017)

Source: (State Intellectual Property Office of the People's Republic of China (SIPO) 2018), S. 97-98

In order to follow the national strategies and use them for its own region, the Guangdong provincial government drafts its own plans. Currently, the five-year plan of Guangdong Province, the document No. 1 with 12 regulations on innovation policy of 2017 and the guidelines on the construction of laboratories at the provincial level are relevant (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015). The importance of the Science Parks and the High and New Technology Development Zones (HNTZ) is particularly emphasised (see chapter 5.2). Guangdong is already the province with the most HNTZs and aims to build up to 15 HNTZs in the "National HNTZ" category and 30 HNTZs (and more) in the "Provincial HNTZ" category by 2020. (Ye Qing (叶青) 2017). The plans for regional expansion of HNTZs give indications that there will be huge demand in the near future in areas such as infrastructure, construction, real estate, financial services, innovation and technology. The simultaneous opening up of the Chinese economy provides an opportunity for foreign companies to establish branches in the GBA and gain a foothold in the Chinese market (KPMG 2019).

### 5.1.2 National plan and regional implementation

As explained in Chapter 2, the system functionality of research and innovation in China, like all other areas, is determined by forward-looking policies such as various initiatives and plans respectively for the future. These directional policies do not represent a concrete strategy with an underlying operational process (Interviews 2019). They can therefore also change over time, or be partially or completely supplemented, replaced or overlaid by other documents.

The initiative on the GBA was launched by the central government in February 2019. (Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 2019; 《粤港澳大湾区发展规划纲要》(双语全文)(Outline of the Guangdong-Hong Kong- Macao Greater Bay Area Development Plan) 2019) enacted. The GBA was first mentioned in the 13th Five-Year Plan in 2016. Previously, the cities in Guangdong were referred to as the Pearl River Delta (PRD) and their development was promoted separately from Hong Kong and Macau.

Due to the geographical proximity to Hong Kong and Macao and the economic importance of the entire region, plans for the PRD or GBA have been advanced for a good ten years with the aim of turning southern China into an innovation centre for the entire country (Interview 2019). Through the GBA plan, Hong Kong and Macau will now also be more integrated into the plans and the environment of Mainland China. This is also part of the integration of the two Special Administrative Regions under the "One Country, Two Systems" agreement. Furthermore, the JCC is expected to serve as a catalyst for the

BRI (KPMG and HKGCC 2017, p. 7). The GBA is to be transformed into a world-class innovation centre or cluster, similar to Silicon Valley or Tokyo. (Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 2019).

According to Rohde (2019a, p. 15) the choice of the name GBA implies that China is aiming to compete with the Greater Tokyo Area in Japan and the San Francisco Bay Area (Silicon Valley) in the USA. Although the GDP of the GBA is higher than that of comparable high-tech zones in absolute terms, in terms of economic output per capita the region lags behind (see Figure 36). (Gätzner 2018, p. 16).

### Figure 36: The largest book regions worldwide



Source: Pharma Boardroom 2018, p. 7

The GBA Outline Development Plan will be highly relevant for the innovation landscape in the GBA and especially in the economically most important Guangdong province. However, the impact of the plan cannot yet be assessed due to its recent publication (interview 2019). However, there are predecessor plans and other overlapping documents that have already influenced structures and instruments in the GBA area, including in Guangdong Province (see Figure 37).

# The Road to the Outline Development Plan for the Greater Bay Area

The GBA (or PRD) is increasingly addressed in national planning documents. As described, the central plans are taken up by the local government and translated into more concrete guiding documents and economic instruments according to local conditions and interests, as is the case in Guangdong (Interview 2019). Strategic documents for the development of the region are presented below:

- 2008: The Outline of the Plan for the Reform and Development of the Pearl River Delta (2008-2020) (《珠江三角洲地区改革发展规划纲要(2008-2020年)》)

The overall planning and strategic approach to the Greater Bay Area builds on the 2008 Outline of the Plan for the Reform and Development of the Pearl River Delta (PRD Outline). The document contains goals and measures for the economic and social development of the region. It aims to build a modern industrial system with a focus on modern services, advanced manufacturing and cutting-edge technologies. Further goals are the modernisation of the regional infrastructure and environmental protection through effective land use, the development of a circular economy and the reduction of air pollution. Although the document mainly refers to the province of Guangdong, it already aims at supra-regional cooperation with Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan as well as the ASEAN states. (National Development and

Reform Commission (国家发展和改革委员会) 2008).

- 2010: Framework Agreement on Hong Kong/Guangdong Cooperation (Framework Agreement) (《粤港合作框架协议》)

The supplementary agreements and plans of 2010 and 2011 are interesting in that they translate the already generally formulated goals in the PRD Outline into concrete measures. The document defines environmental protection and preservation of ecology as central goals of the cooperation between Hong Kong and Guangdong. The quality of life in the region is to be improved by combating air pollution, improving clean production, promoting the widespread use of electric vehicles, protecting seawater quality, developing a circular economy and preserving marine resources. (Hong Kong and Macao Affairs Bureau of the People's Government of Guangdong Province (广东省人民政府港澳事务办公室) 2016).

- 2011: The National Twelfth Five-year Plan (2011-2015) (《国家第十二个五年规划》)

The 12th Five-Year Plan is outstanding because it formulates China's planned economy/fiveyear plans for Hong Kong and Macao as well for the first time. This not only underlines the gradual rapprochement of the Special Administrative Regions with the mainland, but also shows the already achieved integration of both territories into China's industrial and innovation policy. Especially with regard to Hong Kong, the special importance of certain sectors, such as international finance, becomes clear. By focusing on and strengthening new emerging industries in the GBA, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region is expected to enter into a symbiotic state with Guangdong to produce a world-class cluster. (Central People's Government (中华人民共和国中央人民政府) 2011).

- 2016: The National Thirteenth Five-year Plan (2016-2020) (《中华人民共和国国民经济和社 会发展 第十三个五年规划》)

The 13th Five-Year Plan sets as a goal the promotion of the PRD as one of three world-class city clusters (along with Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei and Yangtze River Delta). The opening up, transformation and upgrading of the PRD will be accelerated by opening new science and technology centres and industrial innovation centres in Shenzhen. The development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area will be reinforced for the first time in a national plan (National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) 2016, 94, 106, 153). The concept of the GBA is based on a document jointly issued by Hong Kong, Macao, the cities of Shenzhen, Dongguan, Guangzhou, Zhuhai and Zhongshan in 2011, "The Action Plan for the Bay Area of the Pearl River Estuary". (KPMG and HKGCC 2017, p. 7).

2019: Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (2019-2035) (《粤港澳大湾区发展规划纲要》)

The development plan for the GBA envisages building a dynamic world-class city cluster and global technology and innovation hub through the development of new National Innovation Demonstration Zones (NIDZ, see Chapter 5.2). (Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs 2019, p. 15) . The GBA, as a coastal region, is expected to contribute to the implementation of the maritime BRI and strengthen the connection between Hong Kong and Macau with mainland China through development zones in Qianhai, Nansha and Hengqin. (KPMG 2019, P. 1) . To implement the goals, the expertise and strengths of each city will be combined. Shenzhen and Dongguan are the centre for business, innovation and advanced electronics manufacturing, Zhuhai and Foshan for advanced equipment manufacturing, Hong Kong for finance, transport and logistics, and Macao for cooperation with Portuguese-speaking countries and tourism. (KPMG 2019, P. 2-3).



# Figure 37: Interrelationships of national and regional planning in the Greater Bay Area

Source: own representation

# 5.2 High-tech zones and science parks

In 1984, the central authorities created a variant of the above-mentioned special economic zones (SEZs), the economic and technology development zones (ETDZs). ETDZs are usually located in the suburban regions of a major city. Within the ETDZ, a management committee, usually selected by the local government, oversees the economic and social management of the zone on behalf of the local government (China Special Report: Industrial Parks-China's Vehicles for Manufacturing. 2009). Within these zones, different rules and regulations apply than in the rest of the country in order to be attractive to domestic and foreign investors. The infrastructure is also better developed. These SEZs and ETDZs also serve the Chinese government as a "testing ground" for regulation and economic management. (Webber et al. 2002).

The Torch Programme was initiated at the end of the 1980s. In addition to the ETDZs, High- and New-Technology Zones (HNTZs) are also established as a result, which are aimed more strongly at technology development. These zones are also referred to as science parks in the literature. (van Essen 2007).

In addition to nationally recognised HNTZs, there are also provincial HNTZs.

In addition to the relatively fixed and recognised HNTZs and also ETDZs, various other forms of local technology agglomerations exist in China under the term "science parks". The most recent development is National Innovation Demonstration Zones (NIDZ), which have been introduced since 2009.

During three decades of steady economic growth and technological development with strong govern-

ment support at all levels, national SEZs, ETDZs, national and provincial HNTZs and other varieties of science parks played a central role in China's science, technology and innovation agenda.

# 5.2.1 Torch Programme and the importance of High-Technology Development Zones

The Torch Programme (*huoju jihua/guihua* 火炬计划/规划) plays a prominent role in China's centrallocal innovation policy. It was launched in 1988 by the State Commission for Science and Technology (now: Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST)) and formulated as a specific goal the commercialisation, industrialisation and internationalisation of domestic R&D. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 6; Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 901). The programme contains three core objectives: 1) the establishment of new High and New Technology Development Zones (HNTZs, also known as High-Tech Zones (HTZs) or Science Parks), 2) the design of service centres that have the support of HNTZs as their main purpose, and 3) the promotion of projects and companies that are considered promising in the fields of new materials, biotech and electronics. (Sigurdson 2004, p. 7) . Tasks of the Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, for example, are to enforce tax, investment and trade policies favourable to HNTZs and to support researchers and entrepreneurs in business management and product marketing (Heilmann et al. 2013, pp. 906-907). Since 1999, Torch has also awarded innovation funds to private SMEs with a technological focus in the HNTZs: through loans, subsidies, investments and seed capital for start-ups, an assortment of support is offered (Heilmann et al. 2013).

# High and New Technology Development Zones (HNTZ)

The central government must formally recognise all HNTZs under the Torch programme. According to Heilmann et al. (2013, S. 907) the requirements for recognition of HNTZs are indicative, requiring them to meet minimal quantitative targets. As a result, HNTZs sometimes differ greatly in their organisational structure, incentive policies and the level of qualification of the companies and people located there. (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 907). Guangdong hosts a total of 12 HNTZs (as of end-2017). (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 4).

Unlike much of the national innovation plans, the Torch programme is not aimed at state-owned companies or research institutes, but primarily at private companies and individual researchers and research groups (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 906). In economic terms, HNTZs are hubs in their own right, which differ from the rest of the country in terms of their innovation-economy design and orientation. On the one hand, their goal is to promote high-tech industries. On the other hand, HNTZs are often experimental fields whose results are used in the further development of national and regional programmes. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 6, 48) . HNTZs also function as catalysts for technological innovations and are an indispensable part of the national innovation system. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017) .

Indeed, of the 103,631 HNTZ enterprises nationwide, only 4,430 are large enterprises and the remaining 95.73% are medium, small or micro enterprises (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中) 2018, p. 28). Of all the registered high-tech enterprises (48,917 in total) in the HNTZs, only 2.29% are state-owned enterprises. Large parts of the remaining enterprises are private (42.74%), limited liability companies (34.12%) and joint stock companies (12.17%). (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 26).

The overall objectives of the Torch Programme are set at the national level by the government. In January 2013, the government published the 12th Five-Year Plan for the Development of High- and New-Technology Zones, a document dedicated exclusively to HNTZs. The goals set out in the document include attracting 3,000 international talents and developing HNTZs with international competitiveness. In the "Notice on Issuing the HNTZs' Innovation-driven Strategy Upgrading Action and Implementation

Plan", MOST issued the main document on the strategic development of HNTZs until 2020 in March 2013 and specified the targets (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 7).

The goals formulated in the following 13th Five-Year Plan for the Development of HNTZs (2016-2020) (published: May 2017) with regard to HNTZs are much more ambitious: the number of HNTZs is to be increased to 240 HNTZs by 2020 and an annual registration rate of new companies of 15 % is to be achieved. The HNTZs are to participate with a share of up to 6.5 % in public and private expenditure on R&D activities and experiments. Furthermore, the plan formulates the establishment of an innovation network, the increase of the total value of the HNTZ service sector to 25 % of GDP and more involvement of HNTZ companies in the BRI as goals. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 9).





Source: DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 7

The Torch programme is a classic top-down approach with central coordination at national level and central support institutions. At the same time, the HNTZs supported by the Torch Programme are purely local and decentralised initiatives, as implementation and funding is under the control of the municipalities and HNTZs themselves (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 906-907). This establishment is highly dependent on local economic conditions. Among other things, local governments set regulations regarding tax relief, land and space use, and conditions for grants and subsidies. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 18). All initiatives under the Torch programme, including the HNTZs, are 65% business-funded and only 1% government-funded. This clearly distinguishes the programme from other national technology programmes such as the 973 and 863 programmes (see Table 9).

#### Table 9: Funding sources of selected Chinese national technology programmes

973 programme 863 programme Torch programme			
	973 programme	863 programme	Torch programme

Government	96 %	39 %	1 %
Company	k. A.	k. A.	65 %
Bank loan	k. A.	k. A.	22 %

500100. Heimann et al. $2015$ , p. $902$
--

As described above, the experiences from the HNTZs are taken into account in the formulation of national technology strategies. An example is the 530 Plan of<sup>7</sup>the HNTZ Wuxi, which served as a template for the 1000 Talents Programme at the national level (Heilmann et al. 2013, pp. 908-909).

For the exchange of Torch HNTZs on a horizontal level, several platforms have been created such as the Association of Chinese HNTZs (founded in 1992), the National HTZ Work Conference (annual meetings in Beijing, founded by MOST in 1991) and the Joint Conference of HNTZ Directors (annual meetings at different locations, founded in 2002). (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 906).

The first HNTZ was created with the Beijing New Technology Industry Development Zone (Zhongguancun). Between 1991 and 1992, another 51 HNTZs were established (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 6). By 2010, the number was below 60 HNTZs, but since then many more zones have been established, so that in 2017 there are 156 HNTZs under the Torch programme (as of 2017)(Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 4). In March 2018, the establishment of twelve more HNTZs was announced. (China Briefing 2018). With 67 HNTZs, a disproportionately high number are located in eastern regions of China (see Figure 39). (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 4). The National Medium- and Long-Term Programme for Science and Technology Development (2006-2020) has contributed to the surge in HNTZ numbers from 2010 onwards. Aiming to raise China to the level of an innovation nation by 2020, the programme envisages the creation and strengthening of HNTZs as incubators for R&D and high-tech industries (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 6).



### Figure 39: Number of high tech zones per province

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> With the 530 Plan, Wuxi aimed to recruit 30 top Chinese researchers living abroad in five years through financial incentives such as high incomes and free office and residential space.

HNTZs make a high contribution to the export growth of higher-value technological products. (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 897; DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017). For example, the share of HNTZ exports as a percentage of all Chinese exports increased from 2% in 1995 to 16.7% (2009) to 21.12% (2017) (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 897; Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 3). HNTZs account for more than 30% of total R&D expenditure (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 897).

Of the 19.4 million employees in HNTZs, over 56% have at least a college degree. (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 27). The HNTZs attract only limited capital and skilled personnel from abroad: just under 6.7% of all companies and 4.5% of hi-tech companies are financed from abroad. (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 26). In 2017, HNTZs had a total of 62,561 foreign employees and 126,029 Chinese scholars returning from abroad, accounting for only 0.32% and 0.65% of all employees, respectively (Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry Of Science & Technology (科技部火炬高技术产业开发中心) 2018, p. 27).

New patent applications by companies in HNTZs accounted for about 187,000 in 2015, 17 % of all patent applications by companies in China. On average, there are 164.8 patents per 10,000 people in HNTZs, which is higher than Silicon Valley's average of 65.5 (see Figure 40) (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 15-16).





Patenbesitz pro zehntausend Personen = patents ownership per ten thousands individuals, Durchschnitt HNTZ: HNTZs' average Source: DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 16

DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. (2017, S. 3–4) recommends in an ad hoc study commissioned by the EU Commission on financial incentives for innovation in China that European companies locate in Chinese HNTZs. This offers the advantage of being able to enjoy tax incentives and preferential policies and of being embedded in an innovation-rich landscape. In addition, the HNTZ administration supports foreign employees in applying for visas and finding accommodation, thus facilitating the establishment process in China. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 18). It is necessary for foreign companies to select the HNTZ according to their needs and to have the process of establishment accompanied by experts in legal, tax and governmental affairs. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 3-4).

#### High- and New Technology Enterprises (HNTE)

The Chinese central government has been promoting R&D actors through the designation of High and

New Technology Enterprise (HNTE) under the Corporate Income Tax Law since the 1990s. Originally, HNTEs were located exclusively within HNTZs, but since 1996 recognition has also been open to enterprises outside the zones (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, pp. 11-12). However, they still account for almost half of all high-tech enterprises in the country. (Heilmann et al. 2013, p. 897).

Through an "Administrative Measure for the Recognition of High and New Technology Enterprises" (MOST; MOST; SAT 29 JAN 2016) by the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation and MOST, the incentives and recognition requirements for HNTE 2016 have been simplified. However, it is still a complex application process (Murphy and Yu 2019).

HNTEs are subject to a reduced corporate income tax (CIT) rate of 15% instead of the regular 25%. (Dezan Shira & Associates 2017). Other benefits of being an HNTE include:

- 150 % tax deduction from eligible R&D expenditure for CIT purposes;
- CIT exemption on profits from technology transfers, or the granting of intellectual property rights, if an HNTE achieves an annual profit of less than RMB 5 million (approx. EUR 625,000);
- Reimbursement of training costs for staff;
- Accelerated depreciation for qualifying fixed assets, worker housing assistance, land use priority, etc. (Wang 2017; Dezan Shira & Associates 2017).

Companies that have been registered as a company in the PRC for at least one year, derive at least 60 % of their revenue from high-tech activities, have at least 60 % of their R&D expenditure in China, and have at least 10 % of their workforce made up of technical personnel performing R&D are eligible to apply for HNTE status. Furthermore, applicants must own intellectual property rights for their main products and/or services and be able to demonstrate R&D expenditure in the last three financial years that is above 5% for a total turnover of less than RMB 50 million, or above 4% for a total turnover between RMB 50 and 200 million, or above 3% for a total turnover of more than RMB 200 million. (Murphy and Yu 2019). Preference will be given to companies that are designated as HNTEs and that cover a government-supported technology area, including in particular the following: Electronic Information Technologies, Biological and Medical Technologies, Aerospace Technologies, New Materials Technologies, High-Tech Services, New Energy and Energy Saving Technologies, Resources and Environmental Technologies, and Innovation for High and New Technologies in Traditional Industries. (Wang 2017; DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2019b; Ministry of Commerce (中华人民共和国商务部) 2008).

HNTEs are a national status under the Torch programme, but the application and recognition process is at provincial level (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2019b). Only in the first step, companies are screened through a national platform (HNTE Certification Management Platform (www.innocom.gov.cn/)) based on self-assessment. The rest of the recognition process is managed by provincial authorities. In Guangdong, for example, companies can apply for HNTE status every year between March and June via an online portal of the Guangdong Provincial Department of Science and Technology (gdstc.gd.gov.cn/tzgg/). (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2019a). HNTE status is awarded for three years and can be reapplied for (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2019b).

As part of the application process, companies must submit a variety of documents. In addition to the application form, these include proof of legal establishment (registration document), intellectual property certificates, technical specifications and quality inspection reports on the product/service, a statement on employees and technical staff, and financial statements. (Murphy and Yu 2019).

Recognition as an HNTE is open to foreign R&D companies based in China. However, of the more than 10,000 companies that are awarded HNTE in China each year, only about 3% are currently foreign companies, a large proportion of which are in turn from Hong Kong or Taiwan (DEVELOPMENT

Solutions Europe Ltd. 2019a). Apart from that, most foreign HNTEs are from Germany or the USA. In Shanghai, for example, TÜV Rheinland, BASF New Materials, Siemens Healthineers and Loesche are registered as HNTEs. (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2019b).

### National Innovation Demonstration Zone (NIDZ)

The Chinese government has been appointing "National Innovation Demonstration Zones" (NIDZ) since 2009 to test national plans for their effectiveness for the whole country in selected areas. The foundation for NIDZs was laid by the State Council against the backdrop of the global financial crisis in the government document "Opinions on Leveraging Science and Technology Support to Promote Steady and Rapid Economic Development". (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, p. 10).

NIDZs are established in particularly successful HNTZs, or clusters of HNTZs. Zhongguancun in Beijing (March 2009), Wuhan Donghu (East Lake) in Hubei (December 2009) and Shanghai Zhangjiang (March 2011) were appointed as the first NIDZs (DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. 2017, 10-11; 54). Since then, a total of 19 NIDZs have been established nationwide, including an eight-HNTZ NIDZ in the GBA (Guangzhou, Zhuhai, Foshan, Huizhou Zhongkai, Dongguan, Zhongshan, Jiangmen and Zhaoqing) (as of February 2018). (Hu Yongqi 2018) . In doing so, the government is using instruments that are also intended to have an impact in other parts of the country as innovation-oriented measures. Accordingly, innovation-oriented tax and financial reforms for the high-tech industry are formulated and adopted and tested in the NIDZs. If these prove to be promising and efficient, they are implemented at the regional level and extended to the national level as an idea that has already been successfully applied. National strategies thus function at the local and regional level and vice versa (top-down as well as bottom-up principle). (Heilmann et al. 2013, 897, 901).

# 5.2.2 Science Parks

# **Definition of Science Parks**

Silicon Valley is considered a pioneer in the development of science parks around the world. Originally known as Stanford University Science Park, Silicon Valley emerged since the early 1950s. It was followed by Sophia Antipolis (France) in Europe in the 1960s and Tsukuba Science City (Japan) in Asia in the early 1970s. This trio represents the oldest and most famous science parks in the world. According to UNESCO, there are now over 400 science parks worldwide, and the number continues to grow. At the top of the list of countries with the most science parks is the USA, which reportedly has over 150 science parks. Japan follows with 111 science parks. China began developing science parks in the mid-1980s and now has around 100, 52 of which have been approved by the national government and the rest by local governments. (UNESCO 2019a, 2019a; Nurutdinova 2012).

Firms located in science parks tend to be more involved in collaborations with universities and research institutions than firms outside them (Löfsten and Lindelöf 2005). Proximity to a science park improves the possibility for students and university researchers to start a business that would most likely not have been initiated otherwise. (Monck et al. 1988). Other goals that the founders of science parks have are, for example, the technology transfer from universities to companies or the support of start-ups and university spin-offs. (Westhead and Batstone 1998).

Siegel et al. argues that the presence of full-time managers is an important resource for inexperienced entrepreneurs. They typically have the role of facilitating both informal and formal linkages between government agencies, universities and businesses (Siegel et al. 2003).

### **Science Parks in China**

In China, science parks and business incubators are primarily real estate-based organisations and are often built by real estate developers. They have identifiable administrative centres that focus on accelerating business processes through knowledge agglomeration and resource sharing. In addition to

high-tech infrastructures, science parks offer service components such as financial services. As a result, science parks offer new business opportunities even for established companies, they promote entrepreneurship and create knowledge-based jobs. (World Bank 2010).

In China, the concepts of hi-tech zones and science parks cannot be sharply separated. According to Webber et al. (2002), the concepts of special zones, HNTZs and science and industrial parks are blurred within China and often it is a large open economic space consisting of several intertwined sub-zones (Webber et al. 2002).

In a study, Tan (2006) compares science parks with industrial clusters in China. An industrial cluster is generally defined as a geographical concentration of firms in a particular industry with links to related institutions such as financial service providers, educational institutions and government bodies at different levels (World Bank 2009). Although clusters come in different forms, all clusters have one thing in common: they include companies of different sizes belonging to one industry. Industry clusters are seen as a source of strategic competitive advantage and provide similar incentives to attract companies as science parks do. (Tan 2006). While SEZs and also HNTZs are usually created through a "top-down" approach of government policy, most clusters are formed organically through a "bottom-up" process. However, some clusters have also emerged over time from or within industrial parks or even ETDZs (Zeng 2012).

Science parks, from the perspective of central and local government, are intended to improve economic growth by attracting small and medium-sized high-tech enterprises (Cheng et al. 2014). As with HTNZs, science parks are also intended to facilitate indigenous technology development and transfer (Wang and Meng 2003).

The results of the study by Weng et al. (2019) show that five factors are responsible for the success of a science park: Resource allocation to the park, park size, supply and funding and financial services, legal policy services and administrative capacity, and a high level of infrastructure in the park. (Weng et al. 2019).

The management structure of the science parks helps to secure some of the success factors. The management usually consists of a so-called park management committee sent by the respective municipality and a state-owned company that is supposed to manage the parks according to the market principle. The park management committee is part of the city government and thus the park easily gets support from the local government. Legal services are also guaranteed due to the proximity to the local government (Interview 2019). According to the interviews, the committee is perceived as more important than the management: *"The resources are the most important success factors, which are only accessible to the senior managers in the management committee"* (Interview 2019).

Guangdong is the economically strongest province in the People's Republic. Parks in this region are characterised by the fact that they have often developed more positively than other parks in China (Interview 2019).

# Case study Tian An Cyber Park in Shenzhen

Shenzhen is one of the most important and dynamic high-tech cities in China. In the wake of Shenzhen's post-1980 developments described above, central and local governments recognised the urgent need to promote technological upgrading and sustainable economic growth in the city. One important strategy was to build science parks to promote high-tech clusters. The first science park in China, the "Shenzhen Science Park" (Shenzhen Keji Yuan), now known as Shenzhen High-Tech Industrial Park (SHIP), was established in 1985 followed by an increasing number of other high-tech parks. In 2007, there were 52 (Beijing Zhongguancun Software Park Development Co., parks in Shenzhen Ltd (北京中关村软件园发展有限责任公司) 2018); (Liu Jiuru (刘九如) and Xiong Wei(熊伟) et al. 2015).

Science Parks headquartered in Shenzhen include Tian An Cyber Park, founded in 1990. The park operator is the Tian An Cyber Park Group, which manages 15 industrial properties in ten cities across China and plays an important role in industrial park development and business incubation. Currently, the group operates more than 16 million sq km of land in four national incubators. The Tian An Cyber Park in Shenzhen is home to around 12,000 small and medium-sized growth-oriented private enterprises, 80 listed companies and 100 other non-listed larger companies. In addition, Tian An Cyber Park entered into partnerships with over 100 enterprises and renowned business organisations and service organisations. The park is dedicated to building an innovative business ecosystem that provides space as well as support facilities to meet the needs of upstream and downstream enterprises at various stages of growth and to map the entire value chain of relevant industries. In addition, services are also offered.

The Tian An Cyber Park has strategic partnerships with Huawei and Tencent in the areas of cloud services and big data use. As part of the international cooperation, the Tian An Cyber Park has established a total of ten think tanks, so-called "International Business Express", with partners from the USA, Australia, France, Israel, England, Japan and South Korea. The Swiss company Logitech is located in a Business Express (Tian An Cyber Park 2019).

As with all other science parks in China, internationalisation is actively pursued in Tian An Park. Among the advantages for foreign companies, the park management mentions tax benefits, information procurement and support from the local government, especially follow-up support for successful companies (interview 2019).

As was also confirmed in the interviews with German actors, access to reliable and up-to-date information is an important factor for the success of German companies (see Textbox 10). Without "guanxi" (relationships), one often cannot get the necessary information to use the existing economic instruments in China. Science Parks such as the Tian An Park offer information services for foreign companies. However, the success of internationalisation in Tian An is difficult to measure. In Dongguan, one of the Tian An locations, the proportion of foreign companies is only 10 %. This is probably due to the fact that the foreign companies are not familiar with the Chinese system and cannot assess what advantages they would get by locating in the park. *"The park is there to help the located companies cope with informal rules and unclear policies"* (Interview 2019).





Source: Tian An Cyber Park 2019

#### **Organic island in Guangzhou**

Guangzhou International Bio Island (GIBI) is the central hub of Guangzhou's biotechnology industry (consisting of Bio Island and Science City), which has been endorsed by the National Development and Reform Commission at the provincial level. The idea for the park was formulated in the Outline for Reform and Development Planning of Pearl River Delta Region in 2008. The opening of the Science Park was declared a national strategic project and a regional central construction project. The administrative committee of the Guangzhou Development District is the authority responsible for the park. The implementing Biotech Island Company is guided by the concept of the Guangzhou Development District and developed an all-round service system for enterprises in the park under the direction of the government. This includes various services, business consulting and the organisation of conferences and meetings. The park is a platform of the Guangzhou Development District and is used for the development of the "Sino-Singapore Guangzhou Knowledge City" and the "Guangzhou Science City". Established in 2010, Guangzhou International Bio Island Investment & Development Co., Ltd is responsible for investment, development and operation management and investment promotion for the Bio Island (Guangzhou International Bio Island ( $\Gamma'$ 州国际生物岛) 2019).

On 8 July 2011, the opening ceremony for the Guangzhou International Biotech Island took place. Covering an area of 1.83 km<sup>2</sup>, the park focuses on the establishment of high-end biotech companies, R&D institutes focusing on biotechnology, biotechnology service companies and relevant financial investment organisations providing services such as investment and financing for the development of the biopharmaceutical industry. To date, more than 100 biotechnology companies have located here (Guangzhou International Bio Island (广州国际生物岛) 2019).

Since the opening ceremony of the Bio-Island, several conferences have been organised for international biotechnology projects, such as "UK-China Health-tech Open Innovation Workshop", "Israel-China Science Bridges" or the Chinese Biopharmaceutical Association's presentation in the US. The Park is

actively involved in establishing international cooperation mechanisms with several countries such as the UK, USA, Israel, Switzerland, Cuba, Canada and the Netherlands. (Guangzhou International Bio Island (广州国际生物岛) 2019).

Germany is also represented on the Bio Island. A Merck Innovation Hub in the sense of a business accelerator is to be opened in the Bio-Insel in November 2019. (Merck 2019) . With this, Merck aims to benefit from the existing innovation ecosystem of numerous technology companies, startups, universities, research institutes and related institutions in Guangdong Province. The <sup>700m2</sup> centre will house a presentation room showcasing the latest technologies, innovation projects and future research topics from the three business sectors. Merck has continuously invested in the development of innovation in China. For example, as part of the Merck Accelerator, programmes are run in Darmstadt and now also in China. Selected startups are offered the chance to first work on their project in the Innovation Hub in China and then develop it further in the Innovation Center at Merck's corporate headquarters in Darmstadt and explore the European market. *"China is a major hotspot for innovation and one of our most important growth markets. We are now building a strong platform here for Merck and our business partners to drive innovation in southern China. At the same time, we are strengthening our presence in this vibrant innovation ecosystem," said Kai Beckmann, Member of the Executive Board of Merck, during an interview of LABOs at the signing ceremony in Guangzhou (LABO 2018).* 



Figure 42: Illustration of the Bio-Island in the city of Guangzhou

Source: Guangzhou International Bio Island (广州国际生物岛) 2019

Similar to Tian An Park, the internationalisation of the Guangzhou Bio Island is one of the goals of park development. There, too, the share of foreign companies is only 10 %. There are numerous funding opportunities for all companies. However, the subsidies are often decided on a so-called "case by case basis", so that not only foreign but also companies of overseas Chinese face the challenge of interpreting and understanding the non-transparent regulations. It is recommended to maintain intensive contact with key stakeholders to identify opportunities: "Communication is everything. You always have to talk to the important people. It is often a matter of negotiation. Expecting clear guidelines is unrealistic" (Interview 2019). The park administration also offers regular training seminars, including on current funding topics (Interview 2019).

# 5.3 Guangdong Province Innovation Tools

The measures of Guangdong Province are analysed as examples of the innovation-economic instruments actually available to foreigners. Some of them are quite similar to German offers. The province has published a *"Policy to further facilitate research and innovation"*, in which the so-called "12 golden articles" are named, which describe the measures with which Guangdong tries to make settlements attractive. (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al.

### 2015):

- 1. Establishment of R&D subsidies for companies;
- 2. Pilot project Innovation Voucher;
- 3. Pilot project "Governmental Forward Commitment Procurement" on public procurement of innovative products and services;
- 4. Establishment of a risk compensation system for business incubators;
- 5. Establish a subsidy system for business incubators;
- 6. Improve land use policies for the construction of business incubators;
- 7. Support the further development of new R&D institutes;
- 8. Granting universities and research institutes the right to independently dispose of scientific and technological achievements;
- 9. Improve the incentive mechanism to implement technology transfer of scientific and technological achievements;
- 10. Improve the personal reward system for technology transfer of scientific and technological achievements in universities and research institutes;
- 11. Improve the assessment system to achieve a high professional qualification;
- 12. Improving housing provision for talented people.

# 5.3.1 R&D subsidies for companies

Relevant for foreign companies are business R&D subsidies. These can be obtained under the following conditions (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015):

- For a company registered in Guangdong Province (excluding Shenzhen) with independent legal entity and sound financial management organisation;
- The company has already invested in research and development activities;
- The research activities carried out by the company must comply with central and regional guidelines in terms of subject matter and outcome, e.g. the two guidelines published by the Central Government Reform Commission "*The High-Tech Sectors Supported by the State*", "*Current Priority Development Guidelines for Key Sectors of the High-Tech Industry*";
- The implementation sites must be in Guangdong Province.

The annual support rate for enterprises is based on the application status of the enterprise and the provincial budget. In 2015, the share of possible support was 5% for an R&D expenditure of RMB 5 million or more (converted to mean that from an investment of about EUR 625,000, one can receive about EUR 31,000) and 10% for an R&D expenditure below RMB 5 million (i.e. EUR 60,000 for an investment of EUR 600,000) (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015).

German companies do not invest in R&D at the beginning of their presence in China, but in trade, production and services. Only when the need for development work grows after some time, e.g. due to customer needs, do they invest in research (Interview 2019). Then the conditions in a "park" are usually economically more lucrative and administratively easier than outside. According to German industry representatives in China, different packages are then available for use depending on the park, city and province (Interview 2019).

Offers from provinces and parks are mainly available for company branches with technology development in China. The fact that these offers are not used by German companies to enter the Chinese market is also due to the fact that Chinese employees with industry experience are needed to use the opportunities and the necessary communication with the respective authorities and intermediaries (Interview 2019).

**Innovation vouchers** are government-issued securities that SMEs can use to purchase technology services from R&D institutes. The following companies are eligible to apply. (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015). :

- State-recognised high-tech companies;
- Companies that have received support from the innovation funds for SMEs at national, regional or city level in the last five years;
- Award-winning companies of a national, regional or city innovation and entrepreneurship competition sponsored by the relevant science and technology department;
- Enterprises that have received GB/T 29490-2013 (Scale for Management of Intellectual Property Rights of Enterprises);
- Companies that have successfully applied for patents or software copyrights in the last 5 years.

In Germany there are similar models of "innovation vouchers". One example at the federal level is the BMWi's "go-Inno" programme, which supports potential analyses, realisation concepts and project management with a maximum of EUR 5,500, EUR 13,750 and EUR 8,250 respectively. In addition, innovation vouchers are often used at Länder level. One example is the programme "Mittelstand.innovativ!" programme in NRW. In this programme, innovation consulting as well as implementation-oriented research and development activities are subsidised with a maximum of 10,000 and 15,000 euros respectively (internal communication DLR-PT).

Governmental Forward Commitment Procurement for innovative products and services is a contractual agreement between the government as buyer and companies to agree on procurement of yet-to-be-developed products in the future. The government commissions intermediary agencies that establish a kind of performance catalogue with producers for a product/service yet to be created and then agree on an acceptance of this product. This arrangement reduces the risk for a company to invest in an innovative development and offers the government to have a concrete influence on the product specification from the beginning. (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015).

# 5.3.2 Business incubators

At the local level, a certain proportion of the city's planned land use can be used as construction land for a business incubator each year. To establish a business incubator, a legal entity must own at least 2,000 <sup>m2 of</sup> useable land in Guangdong Province. A service team, an accompanying service offer and already 20 interested enterprises must be presented.

Venture capital institutions with financing and investment capacity in start-up companies in incubators receive risk compensation for their investment from local governments. In case of company insolvency, the provincial compensation fund will compensate the venture capital institution for the investment loss of 30% and the city compensation fund will compensate another 20%. Compensation at the provincial level for risk compensation or capital loss is a maximum of RMB 2 million (approx. EUR 250,000).

Financial institutions that have lent to enterprises within a business incubator are also covered against bad debts: up to 10% of bad debts are reimbursed by provincial and municipal credit risk compensation. The compensation from the provincial government for risk compensation or capital loss shall not exceed RMB 2 million (EUR 250,000). (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province

(广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015)..

# 5.3.3 Universities and research institutes

Universities and research institutes can decide for themselves how to use the income they generate through scientific and technological achievements. Patent use fees, profits from university-owned start-ups or spin-off companies can be freely used by the university without approval from the authorities. At least 50% of a patent profit should go to the inventor(s)/patent applicant(s). Filing patents, making profits and using them on the open market are important bases for assessing the university's technical competence (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015).

In Germany, the Employee Invention Act applies nationwide. (Federal Office of Justice 2019) . Inventions made by an employee in the course of his or her employment belong to the company. In the law, there is a special paragraph for universities that entitles the inventor to 30% of the patent profits (Federal Office of Justice 2019) .

The establishment of new private R&D institutes will be further supported in Guangdong. The new type of R&D institutes is based on an enterprise model with the following characteristics:

- Independent legal entity,
- Diversified financing base also via investment companies,
- Build-up model according to the international standard,
- Market orientation and a modern management system.

The same guidelines apply to them as to the state scientific research institutes. They are eligible for tax relief and R&D subsidies. The start-ups are entitled to exemption from various tax burdens, e.g. import duties and import turnover tax, excise duty, etc. R&D expenditure financed from own resources can be subsidised up to 20%, with a maximum of RMB 10 million (approx. EUR 1.125 million). (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015). This is reminiscent of the Fraunhofer model with approx. 30% basic funding, but the maximum amount is quite low: only rather small institutes are conceivable or educational institutes that are subsequently financed by fees and conduct research on the side.

# 5.3.4 Skilled workers and talents

In contrast to Germany, in China professional competence and expertise is more strongly represented by the job title. The guideline for evaluating "professional titles", which does not only refer to the academic degree (title evaluation index), should be understood against this background. Professional titles are therefore also dependent on how much funding a scientist obtains, how many awards he/she receives, how many publications are published. The academics are thus subject to a point system for their evaluation. (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015).

Talent should be attracted to the region through the provision of suitable housing. This includes the construction of transitional housing or the purchase of commercial property for talents who do not have housing in the region. Furthermore, the use of state-owned building land can be used to build transitional or rental housing for talented people, and the purchase or leasing of commercial property for talented people with their own funds should be supported. (Department of Science and Technology, Guangdong Province (广东省科学技术厅) et al. 2015).

# 5.4 Conclusion on R&I system functionality in China

The JCC initiative issued by the central government in February 2019 is subject to political and historical

evolution and is based on previous plans and initiatives. In particular, the GBA focuses on the strategy to deepen the integration of Hong Kong and Macao into China's economic system. The interplay between the strategies of the central government and the provincial government shows both top-down and bottom-up approaches, as the example of the HNTZ shows.

Guangdong Province, which largely forms the GBA, is the most innovative and economically strongest province in China. With its numerous HNTZs and science parks, it offers domestic and foreign companies numerous funding opportunities for their innovation activities. The innovation-economic support instruments are diverse and well-funded, as the so-called "Golden Rules" of the provincial government show. These instruments are aimed at companies, business incubators, universities and research institutes as well as skilled workers and talents in the region. If German companies meet the requirements, they can also make use of the benefits. However, the use of these instruments by foreign or German companies is more difficult. The reasons for this are the lack of contact with the competent authorities, insufficient Chinese language skills and the competence to understand and interpret the complex and partly non-transparent regulations.

However, the impact of the central strategy on the local level and its implementation cannot be derived from the example of Guangdong for the whole of China. This is because the economic and regional disparities of the provinces in China are large, especially between the economically strongest province like Guangdong and the other much weaker provinces. Even if the political and administrative structures of the provinces are similar, innovation policy measures depend on the respective province with its own financial possibilities.

The transferability of the "golden rules" mentioned here to Germany also requires a closer look at the framework conditions in Germany and the EU, which is not the subject of this study. Nevertheless, some of the instruments applied in Guangdong may be transferable with adaptation to local conditions and provide new food for thought: Forward procurement, comparable to innovative public procurement (see Chapter 2.6); the comparison of Chinese innovation vouchers with corresponding German offers; a closer look at tax credits or special deductions for (self-produced) intangible assets; the form of support for incubators; the incentive system for inventors in patents. The diverse talent programme of Guangdong province could also contain suggestions for Germany.

# 6. Foreign direct investment

With the purchase of the German robot manufacturer KUKA in 2016, Chinese foreign direct investment (FDI) in Germany came into the public eye. Previously, Chinese companies had already been active as investors, especially in European countries that had been heavily affected by the global economic and financial crisis since 2008, i.e. Greece, Italy and Portugal. As a reaction to the increasing Chinese direct investments in Germany and Europe, this development was observed and also evaluated with concern about political influence and technology outflow. (Jungbluth 2018, p. 8) . In 2018, the German government for the first time vetoed acquisitions of German companies by Chinese buyers, e.g. the planned takeover of the electricity grid operator 50 Hz by the state-owned State Grid Corporation of China (Felbermayr et al. 2019, p. 3). According to Felbermayr et al. (2019, S. 3) the debate on Chinese FDI in Germany and Europe has so far been "rather devoid of evidence". The political discussions as well as the assessment with regard to the benefits and risks of Chinese investments require an analysis of the individual actors, their motives, the role of politics and also the economic interdependence of both countries. A central question is also whether the acquisition of German companies leads to increased technology transfer or even technology outflow to China. At the same time, German investments in China are relevant and the question arises whether the opportunities given in China can be used and in what form German interests are represented in China.

FDI occurs primarily in two forms: On the one hand, these are new establishments in the target country

to carry out production, sales or R&D ("greenfield" investments). The other is the acquisition of shares in existing companies up to the purchase of the entire company (mergers and acquisitions or M&A).

Basically, the mood of the German economy in 2019 is rather China-positive. According to a study by the Commerzbank AG (27.05.2019, p. 2), 30 % of the SMEs surveyed consider China to be a reliable trading partner. Against the backdrop of the trade conflict between the USA and China as well as Brexit and the resulting planning uncertainty, China is thus ahead of the USA (17 %) and the UK (8 %). (Commerzbank AG 27.05.2019, p. 2) . Around 2,000 German companies with an annual turnover of at least EUR 2 million were surveyed.

# 6.1 Economic policy background in China

Chinese foreign investments primarily serve economic goals, which are, however, complemented or also shaped by political goals. China's political goal is to compensate for the slowdown in economic growth at home since 2010 (World Bank 2019) at home through activities abroad. The liquidity accumulated through the export surpluses of the past years is used to acquire technologies in which there is currently a backlog. (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, p. xiii) . In some cases, trade policy factors also play a role when investments are made in order to circumvent tariff and non-tariff trade barriers. (Chen and Fang 2016, p. 3) . These include the advantage of being perceived as a domestic rather than a Chinese company. (Chen and Fang 2016, p. 6) . Other motives for FDI by Chinese private companies include market development, buying up competitors or suppliers, risk diversification and tapping into business characteristics/profiles of individual companies, but also circumventing weak domestic returns (Felbermayr et al. 2019, p. 5). For high-tech companies, e.g. from the IT sector, market access plays a more important role. Here, FDI often takes place via establishment investments (greenfield). For companies from the "mid-tech" sector, it is more a matter of knowledge and technology transfer. (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, p. 12).

Due to China's restrictive handling of foreign exchange transfers abroad, every foreign investment, even of a small size, must be reported and approved. Companies make sure that their foreign investments fit not only their own goals but also the Chinese government's technology and industrial policy objectives. Approval processes are then easier and more successful. Companies that invest in projects of political initiatives receive easier access to foreign exchange and are subject to facilitated capital controls. (Jungbluth 2018, p. 18). To what extent companies with FDI actually pursue the government's political priorities or use this more as a side effect, for example to get easier and faster approvals for capital movements abroad, is impossible to judge. The simultaneous joint action of state, quasi-state and private actors shows a similar pattern in FDI as also in intra-China initiatives (see Chapter 2, Interviews 2019).

# Made in China 2025 (MIC 2025)

The Made in China 2025 initiative described in chapter 2.2.3 aims at a technological catching-up process up to technology leadership in defined sectors. The tapping of foreign knowledge and technology potential through FDI is used as a transitional solution until China is able to develop and produce corresponding technologies itself. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2018). This includes investments in new R&D facilities (greenfield investments) in industrialised countries, as well as the acquisition of companies (M&A) with technological advantages (Wübbeke et al. 2016, p. 41). When analysing Chinese direct investment in Germany and Europe, the question arises whether MIC 2025 or economic reasons are behind it. According to a study by the Bertelsmann Foundation, around 64 % of all Chinese investments in Germany can be assigned to the main areas of MIC 2025 (Jungbluth 2018, p. 17).

# **Belt and Road Initiative (BRI)**

As a strategic approach to China's international orientation, the Chinese Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) (described in more detail in Chapter 2.2.4) aims not only to open up new export markets and raw material suppliers, but also to build a positive China image through cultural exchange. (Islam 2019) . Technology

transfer to China, on the other hand, has not yet been a priority focus of the strategy. A reference to innovation-relevant investments abroad exists only in individual sub-aspects, e.g. within the framework of the so-called Digital Silk Road. This involves digitalisation, networking and the expansion of internet infrastructure in the countries along the Silk Road. (Chan 2019) . In the long term, BRI could influence Chinese FDI from cooperation on the use of Chinese Beidou satellites and through the development of common technological standards within the framework of the Digital Silk Road. (Chan 2019) .

### Interplay of public and private investors and funding

In the course of China's economic reform, a variety of types of enterprises have emerged that are also active abroad as investors. An important role is played by state-controlled enterprises, which include *state-owned enterprises* (SOEs) that are managed and controlled by the state-owned asset trusts of the central and provincial governments (such as AVIC, Norinco, Weichai, XCMG). In addition, there are hybrid corporate forms with state anchor shareholders, the majority of whose shares are in free float on the capital market (e.g. CIMC, Shang Gong). The predominantly privately controlled companies include largely privatised former state-owned enterprises (Anhui Zhongding) and privately founded companies (Fosun, Jiangsu Jinsheng, Ningbo Joyson). (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, p. 23). Mergers of private companies are often forced by state authorities (o.A. 2019). On average, 50-60% of all cumulative Chinese FDI in Europe between 2013 and 2018 came from state-controlled companies. (Hanemann et al. 2019, pp. 13-14). These are capable of significantly larger transactions than privately controlled companies.

The links between the state and the private sector in China are difficult for outsiders to understand because they can also be informal (e.g. through internal party organisations or the appointment of party members to the executive and supervisory boards). (Jungbluth 2018, p. 19). The state role in investment funds and investment management companies is sometimes obscured by opaque ownership and financing structures, so that they masquerade as private companies. An example of this is JIC Capital Management Ltd, which claims to be private but is owned by the State Council through several intermediary companies. JIC Capital Management Ltd. had a 51% stake in the acquisition of the Dutch semiconductor manufacturer NXP, alongside a private investor. (Wübbeke et al. 2016, pp. 51-53). Huawei is considered an example of a nominally private company, but has been closely intertwined with the state apparatus and security agencies since its inception, and has been purposefully built as a national champion (Umback 2019, p. 7).

An important contribution to the increase in FDI is made by Chinese state-owned banks through lending. These include the China Development Bank, the Export-Import Bank, the Bank of China, the China Bank of Construction and the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. All of these banks have had branches in Europe since the beginning of the 2010s and offer Chinese investors great support for company acquisitions (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, p. 3). The interest rates of the state-owned banks are in line with the market; what is more unusual is the amount of the loans (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, pp. 88-89) and the fact that it is sometimes easier for Chinese investors to obtain financing for FDI than for domestic transactions. FDI is therefore sometimes a *"second-best solution" from a* company's point of view. (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, pp. 9-10).

When investing abroad, the Chinese state can exert influence through various instruments: implicitly through plans and through expressed expectations that SOEs must meet and private firms want to meet, through easier lending, through controls on capital exports and also through investment funds. In the competition for high-tech companies, Chinese investors have competitive advantages through state influence. (Taube 2018a; Ifo Institute 2018, pp. 18-19). However, despite the interconnections, it cannot necessarily be assumed that all Chinese foreign investors act on state directives. (o.A. 2019).

In interviews with German industry intermediaries, doubts were expressed that Chinese companies pay higher prices for companies than other competitors due to state interconnection and therefore win the contract. This may be true in individual cases, but not across the board (Interview 2019). One cause of higher purchase price offers by Chinese investors may be due to different methods of company valuation. Company valuations are carried out much more aggressively in China than in Germany, which can be seen, for example, in the valuation of market capitalisation in relation to turnover for listed companies. Investors from China pay more attention to the expected future development of the company. The companies active in Germany are usually listed in China and cannot justify excessive prices for investments to their shareholders (Interview 2019).

Indirect investment in Germany can occur through Chinese FDI in other countries: Chinese investors are involved in companies that take over German companies. As a result, these companies are then indirectly influenced by China. One example is the participation of the Chinese group Dongfeng in the French PSA Group, which in turn has a stake in Opel. These indirect takeovers by Chinese investors can hardly be controlled in the European internal market (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, p. 9).

Fear of Chinese FDI has increased in Germany and Europe in recent years. There are fears that China is consistently pursuing political motives through the participation or acquisition of technologically strong companies and that a technological sell-out in favour of China is taking place (Jungbluth 2018). In particular, the targets set in the MIC 2025 for technological disclosure and the non-transparent state influence on companies give rise to this concern. More openness and greater transparency on the part of China with regard to state involvement in FDI is desirable and should be in China's interest, as the blanket condemnation of Chinese FDI would decrease. (Jungbluth 2016, pp. 35-36).

# 6.2 Development of Chinese direct investment abroad

FDI is often a next stage of development of previous foreign economic activities such as foreign trade. Unlike trade, they are usually long-term commercial activities. The group of countries whose firms act as foreign investors to a relevant extent is limited.

Activities of Chinese investors on a larger scale only started from 2010 onwards (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, pp. 1-2). After having been one of the most important FDI destinations for a long time, China is now emerging as an important FDI source country, which also reflects the country's increased economic importance. In 2017, for example, China was the third most important FDI source country after the USA and Japan, with around USD 125 billion (approx. RMB 875 billion). (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 2018, p. 6). What is striking when looking at the development of China's FDI volume over time is that China still invested around 196 billion USD (approx. 1.37 trillion RMB) abroad in 2016. According to UNCTAD's World Investment Report, the decline is due to stronger government controls by the Chinese government to curb capital outflows abroad. These were introduced in 2016, particularly in response to FDI in sectors such as real estate, hotels and the entertainment industry. (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 2018, p. 48).

Globally, Hong Kong ranked fifth among countries with the highest FDI outflows in 2017, with USD 83 billion (approximately RMB 581 billion). Together, China and Hong Kong ranked second overall, ahead of Japan, with a combined volume of around USD 208 billion (approx. RMB 1.45 trillion) (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 2018, p. 6). The high value for Hong Kong is explained by Jungbluth (2016, S. 40) as the Hong Kong effect and can be explained by the fact that Chinese investors use subsidiaries in Hong Kong as a stopover for their FDI in order to circumvent the strict capital controls in China. Between 2009 and 2014, nearly half of China's capital flowed abroad through Hong Kong. In sixth place among the countries with the highest FDI outflows in 2017 was Germany, with around USD 82 billion (approx. RMB 574 billion). (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 2018, p. 6).


Figure 43: Share in global foreign direct investment (2008-2017)

Source: Own representation based on the data of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 2018

China and Hong Kong were the two largest FDI recipients worldwide after the USA in 2017, with a volume of USD 136 and 104 billion respectively (approx. RMB 952 and 728 billion). Germany ranked eleventh as a recipient country in 2017, with FDI totalling around USD 40 billion (approx. RMB 280 billion). (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) 2018, p. 4).

#### Textbox 9: "Golden visas" for investors

Individual states grant citizenship or at least unlimited residence rights to foreign investors with "golden visas" if a certain investment volume is exceeded. In addition to numerous Caribbean states, the USA, Canada and EU member states such as Cyprus, Portugal, Latvia, Spain and Hungary also offer such programmes. The programmes differ greatly according to the amount of investment required: in France, more than ten million euros must be invested for a residence permit, while in Hungary and Greece an investment of more than 250,000 euros (approx. 2 million RMB) is already sufficient. (Xu et al. 2015).

Chinese investors represent the largest group of investors in "golden visa" programmes (Xu et al. 2015). Chinese investors are mainly looking for legal certainty. This type of FDI is very volatile and follows trends, for example in the selection of target countries. In addition, these investments are associated with a high risk of money laundering and tax evasion. For European countries, there is not much economic effect associated with these investments - often related to real estate acquisition - compared to otherwise motivated FDI. China loses a relatively large amount of capital in this way without receiving any economic countervalue.

The most important target regions for Chinese FDI outside Asia are North America and Western Europe as well as Australia, but Brazil and Russia are also important. The fact that emerging China is engaging in FDI in industrialised nations on this scale is a new phenomenon. Overall, the volume of Chinese FDI in the EU is now three to four times higher than the corresponding volume of EU investment in China. (Hanemann et al. 2019, p. 16). The vast majority of this is in the form of mergers and acquisitions, with only 4.5% of investment in new companies. (Felbermayr et al. 2019, p. 15). In 2016, EUR 37 billion (approx. RMB 296 billion) was invested; in 2017, around EUR 29.1 billion (approx. RMB 232.8 billion) was invested; and 2018, at EUR 17.3 billion (approx. RMB 138.4 billion), was the second year in a row

in which Chinese investment in the EU fell. (Hanemann et al. 2019, p. 9-10). The total number of transactions also decreased from 247 in 2017 to 196 in 2018. (Ernst & Young 2019, p. 3). European FDI in China was around EUR 10 billion (approximately RMB 80 billion) annually from 2011 to 2015. Since then, a decline has been observed.

Looking at the figures in Figure 44, we see that over 18 years there was a clear asymmetry in favour of European investment stocks in China. Since 2017, China's cumulative FDI stocks in the EU have caught up with the EU's corresponding stocks in China. The fairly stable steady annual growth rates of EU investment stocks in China and the strong Chinese increases in the EU in recent years are well visible.



#### Figure 44: Mutual investment stocks of China and the EU (2000-2017)<sup>1)</sup>

1) Figures in EUR billion Source: Haneman, Thilo and Huotari, Mikko 2018, p. 17

In Europe (EU and non-EU), the UK (USD 81 billion, approx. RMB 567 billion), Germany (USD 41 billion, approx. RMB 287) and France (USD 25 billion, approx. RMB 175) account for 43% of Chinese investment since 2005, amounting to USD 343 billion. In a European comparison, Germany was third as a Chinese FDI destination country in 2018, and second in 2017 (Hanemann et al. 2019, pp. 11-12). China is now the second largest non-European investor in Germany (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, p. 11). In 2017, Chinese FDI in Germany exceeded that of Germany in China for the first time . (Jungbluth 2018, p. 9). In 2016, however, Chinese investors only made a total of around 0.4% of their foreign direct investment in Germany . (Jungbluth 2018, p. 14). Including investors from Hong Kong, this figure rises to 0.7%.

China has only been emerging as a relevant investor abroad for a decade, resulting from the country's economic growth and increasing economic openness. China is becoming increasingly politically and economically active in the global arena and must accordingly be taken seriously (Loesekrug-Pietri 2017). According to Loesekrug-Pietri (2019), Europe is not only "China's most important export market" but also "the first destination for Chinese investors", which is likely to become more pronounced in the near future in view of the trade conflict between the USA and China. China's expected increasing dependence on Europe as a reliable partner, according to Wübbeke et al. (2016, S. 9) Europe into a strong negotiating position on economic framework conditions. China's increased interest in Europe may be perceived by European decision-makers not only as threatening but as an opportunity to assert their own norms, values and interests. *"European government leaders, however, do not always play out* 

this position of strength out of consideration for their interlocutors and the expected billions in investment" (Loesekrug-Pietri 2019).

#### Sectoral focus in Europe

The breakdown of Chinese investment in the EU by economic sector shows changes after 2016 (see Figure 45): while the transport, infrastructure, real estate and ICT sectors show significant declines towards 2018, there was growth in the automotive, finance/services and health/biotechnology sectors (Hanemann et al. 2019, p. 13). At the same time, a decline in particularly large individual investments was observed, and there is a balanced distribution of FDI across different sectors, so that no one sector accounts for more than 20% of the total (Hanemann et al. 2019, p. 13).

Figure 45: Sectoral distribution of Chinese direct investment in the EU (2010-2018)<sup>1)</sup>



1) Figures in EUR bn Source: Hanemann et al. 2019, p. 13

Of interest is the question of the extent to which the decision to invest in certain sectors is shaped by government plans and strategies such as Made in China 2025. The analysis of Chinese company investments by sector (see Figure 49) indicates a clear match with the political goals: 64 % of Chinese investments in Germany can be assigned to sectors that are named as crucial for the implementation of the MIC 2025 strategy. These sectors are in particular the automotive industry, mechanical engineering and robotics, energy systems and biomedical/medical technology. In the automotive sector, Chinese companies invest primarily in "newer" areas such as batteries, sensor technology or autonomous driving (Hanemann et al. 2019, p. 13). However, this effect may also be influenced by the fact that these are the sectors in which Germany has strong and thus economically attractive companies. The high share of investment in MIC 2025 sectors cannot be clearly explained on the basis of current research. They may be motivated by government guidance and associated economic incentives, or by the high economic and technological relevance of the sectors. It can be assumed that there is an overlapping of political and economic reasons. (Jungbluth 2018, 17-18).

# 6.3 Germany and China's foreign economic integration

Germany and China are export-oriented economies. Exports accounted for around 47% of GDP in Germany in 2017, and around 19.8% in China (World Bank 2019). In 2005, exports still accounted for around one third of total economic output in both countries. In the years that followed, the export ratios diverged: while in Germany the export ratio continued to rise, in China the domestic share has grown since 2006 and the export ratio has fallen (see Figure 46). (World Bank 2019).





Germany and China's exports are strongly intertwined. Both countries accounted for around 5 % of the partner country's exports in 2015. However, exports to the USA are of even greater importance for both countries, which means that both exporting countries are more dependent on import demand from the USA than from the other country. The share of German exports to China is rising (from 2% in 2005 to just under 5% ten years later), while it is stagnating around 6% to the USA. The share of Chinese exports to the USA is rising, while it has stagnated to Germany since 2011 (approx. 5.5%) (see Figure 47). (OECD) . US President Trump imposed tariffs on Chinese imports in 2018, which he increased again in May 2019. Tariffs of 25 % will be imposed on imported goods worth USD 200 billion. As a result, exports between China and the USA are expected to decline in the coming years. (Mildner and Schmucker 2019, p. 3).





<sup>1)</sup> Figures in %. Source: Own representation based on data from the World Bank 2019

1) Figures in %. Source: Own representation based on data from the OECD

The Federal Report on Research and Innovation defines the global trade share of research-intensive goods <sup>8</sup>as an indication of a country's competitiveness (Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) 2018a) . China is now the world's leading exporter of research-intensive goods. In 2017, China's global share (including Hong Kong) was around 15.2%, ahead of the US at 11.3% and Germany at 11.6% . (Gehrke and Schiersch 2019, p. 13) . "[...] The export structure - differentiated by high-, medium- and low-tech goods - suggests a shift in China's export strategy towards high-tech products." (Reinecke and Schierer 2018, p. 13) . The increase in exports of research-intensive goods from China is evidence of China's increased integration into global value chains. When looking at specialisation in research-intensive goods compared to the export of all manufactured goods. Although China is the world leader in the export of research-intensive goods, the share of China's total export is low (Gehrke and Schiersch 2019, pp. 16-18). Exports to Germany are dominated by electronics and machinery (together accounting for more than 50% of Chinese exports to China) and mechanical engineering (a fifth) (Center for International Development at Harvard University 2019).





Source: own representation based on data from United Nations (UN) 2019; quoted according to Gehrke and Schiersch 2019

Germany benefits "*as an exporter of high technology*" (Bartsch and Laudien 2016, p. 11) from China's large sales market. With regard to economic relations between Germany and China, the BDI in its policy paper of 2019 assesses a hypothetical economic unbundling between China and Germany as worrying: "This would be associated with enormous costs due to the strongly integrated value creation networks and the current position of German industry on the Chinese market as well as the existing potentials in business with China (Mair et al. 2019, p. 6). Protectionist behaviour towards China, as seen by the USA, will therefore hurt Germany economically. "*Nevertheless, a certain degree of self-protection is necessary to prevent a sell-out of German interests based on unfair competitive conditions,*" says Jungbluth (2016, S. 35). Germany should therefore insist more strongly on the dismantling of trade barriers and capital controls, on more market transparency and protection of intellectual property. (Bartsch and Laudien 2016, p. 11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Research-intensive goods include cutting-edge technologies and high-value technologies (high technologies). "Cutting-edge technology includes goods in the production of which more than seven per cent of turnover is spent on research and development on an annual average. High-value technology goods are goods in the production of which more than 2.5 per cent but less than 7 per cent of turnover is spent on research and development on an annual average" (German Institute for Economic Research (DIW) 2019).

# 6.4 Chinese investments in Germany

The purchase of and participation in existing companies accounts for around 82% of Chinese FDI activities in Germany, while new establishments account for around 18% (Welfens and Yushkova 2017, p. 14). The investment volume is usually significantly larger in the case of acquisitions than in the case of new establishments. (Bartsch and Laudien 2016; Jungbluth 2016, p. 27). However, investments in new establishments are usually associated with higher long-term economic added value for the target country, e.g. through newly created jobs or infrastructure. (Felbermayr et al. 2019, p. 7).

An important motive for Chinese companies to relocate to Germany is proximity to industrial customers, as German companies increasingly see this connection to their Chinese suppliers as important (PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) 2015, p. 37). In the case of investments and acquisitions by Chinese FDI, the investor in most cases comes from the same or a comparable industry as the acquired company (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, p. 23). The German target companies often fit the portfolio of the Chinese investors and are intended to help them gain a foothold in Europe. An important motive for takeovers is the reputation of German and European brand names, which, in contrast to Chinese brands, are internationally recognised. By tapping into established brand names and the positive image of "Made in Germany", Chinese companies gain advantages in international markets. (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, p. 79; Ernst & Young 2019, p. 16).

Chinese investments in Germany usually follow existing business contacts, e.g. customer relationships. The Chinese entry is not sudden due to the existing interdependencies, but is the result of a lengthy negotiation process. These processes are accompanied and supported by consultancies and also frequently by the innovation agencies of the German federal states. In interviews, it was expressed that the current negatively coloured reporting in Germany on China is leading to significant uncertainty among Chinese investors. Chinese companies increasingly feel unwelcome or are afraid of negative reporting (Interview 2019).

In interviews with experts from business consulting, the area of Industry 4.0 and advanced manufacturing in particular was mentioned as a Chinese investment target in Germany. One reason for this is Germany's diversity and strength in this area, which is not the case with other target countries (Interview 2019).



#### Figure 49: Sectoral distribution of Chinese direct investment at MIC 2025 in Germany (2014-2017)<sup>1)</sup>

#### 1) Figures in %. Source: Jungbluth 2018, p. 17

When looking at Chinese investments in MIC 2025 sectors, according to a study by the Bertelsmann Foundation on Chinese FDI, there is (Jungbluth 2018) only shows a slightly higher share of state-owned enterprises (22% compared to 18% for all investments). The high share of investment by private companies in state-supported sectors can be explained by state incentives described above, such as easier access to foreign exchange and capital export controls. (Jungbluth 2018, pp. 18-19) . Another study by the CESifo Group (Fuest et al. 2019, p. 16) analysed Chinese investments worldwide according to whether they are influenced by the government's BRI and MIC 2025 strategies. This study shows that state-owned companies are more likely to take policy guidelines into account in their investments, while private companies follow economic interests.

Chinese investors mainly buy family businesses in the western federal states (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, p. 24). Regional focal points of Chinese FDI in Germany are Baden-Württemberg and North Rhine-Westphalia, followed by Bavaria. These are basically the headquarters of many German firms, and in particular of many firms in the preferred sectors of Chinese investors. (Jungbluth 2018, p. 21). The three federal states also have the highest patent intensity of the German federal states. The three states accounted for more than three quarters of all patent applications in Germany in 2018: Bavaria with 14,852 applications has a share of 31.9 %, Baden-Württemberg with 14,608 applications has a share of 31.3 % and North Rhine-Westphalia with 6,856 applications has a share of 14.7 %. (German Patent and Trade Mark Office (DPMA) 2019) ). This makes the motive of technology acquisition understandable, especially for investments in Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg. The new federal states account for only 10 % of all Chinese investments. Here, investments are made primarily in Saxony and Thuringia. German companies often have high debt and lower profitability before being taken over by Chinese investors. (Fuest et al. 2019) . In this context, it was stated in interviews that in many cases companies were not owned by Germans before the acquisition by Chinese investors and that the purchase by Chinese investors is associated with hopes of a more stable development. Especially in the case of share acquisitions of German companies on the stock market, shares are acquired on the international stock market from different owners. According to statements by industry consultants, Chinese companies tend to have disadvantages here because Chinese capital market rules tend to hinder quick decisions (Interview 2019).

#### **Innovation aspects**

The takeover of German companies by Chinese (and other) investors is associated with the risk that knowledge and technology will flow to China and thus innovation and value creation potentials in Germany will be lost. The acquisition of a company is often accompanied by at least a partial relocation of learning and innovation processes to the investor's location. (Stiglitz and Greenwald 2015, p. 379). With regard to Chinese parent companies, there are cases where the development of equipment is transferred to the parent company. However, the most important transfer channel seems to be the personal visit of employees from China to the German research and development departments. However, it is also apparent that the Chinese investors invest in R&D capacities in Germany to a greater extent than under the previous owners. (Hans Böckler Foundation 2017, pp. 17, 20). In addition, Chinese companies are increasingly establishing R&D centres in Germany. One example is the new research and testing centre of ZCC Cutting Tools in Düsseldorf with about 20 new employees in research, development and testing. Previously, the company had R&D activities only in China. (NRW.Invest 2019). Another example is Geely's new research centre in Hesse, where around 100 new jobs will be created in R&D for the automotive sector. (Investment Platform China / Germany 2019a).

In a Dutch case study of a company takeover, the Chinese investors did not directly influence the R&D activities, but focused on the financial results of the company. There was no outflow of technologies to China or relocation of R&D capacity (Ferchen et al. 2018, p. 32).

#### Effects on Germany as a business location

The establishment of new R&D locations by Chinese companies through greenfield investments has positive effects on Germany as a location for innovation (Welfens and Yushkova 2017, p. 14). Huawei's European research centres, in which large investments have been made and which employ more than 1,200 people, are an integral part of the Group's innovation capacities. (Umback 2019, p. 8). Overall, Germany is one of Huawei's preferred locations, according to founder and CEO Ren Zhengfei in a 2019 interview. (Balzli et al. 2019).

Interviews with representatives of the innovation agencies of the federal states show that the federal states have an interest in foreign - including Chinese - direct investment. Previous experiences with Chinese investors have been predominantly positive. They are perceived as long-term oriented and reliable, with little influence on the German location. The innovation agencies are actively acquiring investors in China, e.g. through events, and in some cases also through a permanent presence in China. The federal states have different approaches depending on their economic strength, the costs (for example for real estate), or also the sector specialisations in different regions. Headquarters" or research departments are more likely to be considered in expensive, attractive cities, while production, sales or warehouses are more likely to be located in favourable regions (Interview 2019).

The aim of the agencies is to attract Chinese companies that fit into the economic structure of their own regions or cities. By creating a technology profile of their own strengths and needs and corresponding profiles of Chinese provinces, the agencies try to select and approach Chinese companies already in China so that they can be integrated as smoothly as possible into the value chains in a German region and come into contact with the German companies based there at an early stage. By actively approaching investors, it is primarily owner-managed, internationally open, SME-like companies in China that are addressed. With their acquisition strategy, German agencies also help Chinese investors to argue their case for capital export to the Chinese state. The companies are looked after after their investment in Germany. They actively try to use Chinese graduates of German universities as bridge builders (various interviews in 2019).

According to the representatives of the innovation agencies, Chinese investors behave significantly differently than Western investors and are rather passive. The reasons are cultural and also language problems. As long as the acquired companies generate profits, Chinese investors tend to interfere little in entrepreneurial decisions. As a result, the expectations of the German partners are often not met and opportunities are also missed. In contrast to German investments in China, where German companies familiarise themselves intensively with China and Chinese culture, similar behaviour is often not observed among Chinese investors so far (Interviews 2019).

For some of the German companies taken over, there are increased export opportunities in Asia in general and better access to the Chinese market in particular. (Jungbluth 2016, p. 32) . For example, Putzmeister, which was acquired by the Chinese Sany Group in 2012, benefits from the financial strength of the parent company. The latter in turn benefits from the innovations of the acquired company and uses these as a basis for acquiring further companies in the mechanical engineering sector. (Le Corre and Sepulchre 2016, p. 24) . Positive employment effects can be expected in the acquired companies. (Jungbluth 2016, p. 31) However, the actual number of jobs saved or created is difficult to quantify. In its statement on the hearing at the Bundestag's Committee for Economic Affairs and Energy on the handling of foreign investments, the BDI states: "*Chinese investors have investment holdings of 2.2 billion euros in Germany, which is only around 0.4 per cent of total foreign investments (2016). German investments in China are 35 times as high. Chinese investors control 139 companies in Germany, 16,630 employees work for Chinese-owned companies in this country. By contrast, 45 times more Chinese work for German investors in China." (Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (BDI) 2019, P. 3).* 

In the long term, the consequences for the acquired German companies could change. The development of, for example, the transfer of relevant technologies and patents to the Chinese parent company is difficult to predict. (Jungbluth 2016, p. 33).

In view of China's relatively low investment volume in Germany, it is "exaggerated to speak of a Chinese investment flood in which German companies are systematically and comprehensively bought up". (Felbermayr et al. 2019, pp. 24-25). Even though China subsidises FDI in certain sectors and pursues economic policy goals, this has so far not proven harmful to Germany in terms of competitiveness and technology outflow, according to the BDI (Strack 2017, pp. 16-17). Moreover, it has been shown that Chinese FDI in Germany does have positive effects:

"Investments from China and other countries create jobs, bring capital into the country and contribute to tax revenue. Chinese investors also improve integration with the Chinese market, which is important for Germany. When investing in companies, Chinese companies bring a long-term interest compared to financial investors from other countries and in some cases offer location guarantees. In the past, they have already rescued German companies from insolvency. A fundamental openness and welcoming culture for foreign investors, regardless of their country of origin, must remain and possibly even be strengthened." (Jungbluth 2018, p. 6)

However, the public debate on Chinese FDI is often fear-based and loses sight of the potential opportunities. This can easily lead to compartmentalisation and fundamental scepticism or discrimination against China. Restrictions on access to Chinese investors, however, violate the principles of a liberal market economy and fair competition, as well as property rights and freedom of contract, and therefore cannot be in Germany's interest. (Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (BDI) 2019, P. 7).

A Foreign Trade and Payments Ordinance issued by the Ministry of Economics on 29 December 2018 has tightened the review procedures for Chinese investments in Germany. The review procedure not only leads to longer review periods and higher costs, but also to more legal uncertainty due to an expanded scope of discretion. Kroymann (2019, S. 23) criticises that *"in terms of investment control, Germany is thus moving further towards the investment environment in China, which has been widely criticised by the German side"* and predicts *"that the number of Chinese company acquisitions in Germany will fall as a result of the latest amendments to the Foreign Trade Regulation"*. According to the BDI's assessment, *"investments that would have called into question the protection of public order and security"* were already sufficiently protected before the regulation was adapted (Strack 2017, pp. 16-17).

# 6.5 Chinese market conditions for German companies

In addition to the general and continuous increase in bilateral trade volume between China and Germany, there has been an increase in Germany's direct investment in China since 2014. According to the Chinese Ministry of Commerce, Germany was the largest European investor in China at the end of 2018 with USD 33.4 billion (approx. RMB 233.8 billion). (Schmitt and Abele 2019).



Figure 50: Shares of German companies in China by industrial sector (2017)

Source: own representation based on data from the German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, S. 10

According to the German Chamber of Commerce Abroad, around 5,200 companies from Germany were active in China in 2017. Shanghai remains the economic centre. Around 43 % of all German companies are located in eastern China, in the Yangtze delta. (Rödl&Partner 2018). Other conurbations of German entrepreneurs can be found in Beijing, in the Bohai-Rim region in northern China and in the Pearl River Delta. (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 8). Most of the investments flow into companies in the manufacturing industries such as machinery and industrial equipment (29.3%), the automotive industry (19.5%) and business services (11.7%) (see Figure 50). (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 10).

#### Figure 51: Locations of German companies on the Chinese mainland



Source: German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, S. 8

In principle, foreign enterprises can operate in China in the following organisational forms under investment law: as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise (WFOE), as an equity joint venture (EJV) and as a cooperative/contractual joint venture (CJV). (Rödl&Partner 2018) . WFOE is comparable to the

German GmbH, whose shares are 100 % foreign-owned. It is the most common corporate form for FDI in China and is often a wholly owned subsidiary of the German company. In contrast, an EJV is a joint venture (JV) between a foreign and a Chinese partner. If the foreign shareholding is at least 25 %, this form of enterprise is associated with tax benefits. As a rule, corporations can be considered as Chinese partners. The second form of joint venture - CJV - is particularly suitable for short-term or project-related cooperation. In general, a joint venture only exists if there is at least one Chinese partner. (Rödl&Partner 2018, p. 15).

Most German firms in China (73.8%) have the legal status of a WFOE, while 10.2% are organised as (Sino-German) joint ventures (EJV or CJV) (see Figure 52). Since 2015, the share of German WFOEs has increased (69.9 % in 2015). These figures refer to China and do not include companies located in Hong Kong and Macau.



Figure 52: Legal status of German companies in China in 2018

Source: German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, S. 8

According to the Business Confidence Survey 2018/19, published by the German Chamber of Commerce Abroad in China, the majority of German companies based in China (54.3 %) generate less than 5 % of their income through exports, but produce mainly for the local market and are therefore only marginally dependent on exports. Within export-active companies, only 5% report exporting 25% or more of total exports to the US (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 22) . As a consequence, the Business Confidence Survey found that only one third of German companies based in China are either directly or indirectly affected by the current trade conflict between China and the US. (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 23) .

Other current developments are influencing European FDI activities in China: On the one hand, the Chinese government is increasingly using "market opening rhetoric". (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 6) is being used. There is talk of increased liberalisation of some regulations and the promotion of free market forces. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 53). Nevertheless, according to the AHK, the regulatory framework in China continues to cause concern and is affecting the general business climate. Although 50 % of German companies believe the Chinese promises regarding market opening, the actual implementation of these promises is more sober than expected from the perspective of German investors. (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 6) . On the other hand, according to the European Business Confidence Survey 2019 (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019a, p. 16) Chinese companies were perceived to be as innovative as or more innovative than European companies for the first time in 2018. The Chinese market is perceived as advantageous by European companies mainly due to government incentives, low research costs and the productivity of local R&D teams (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019a, p. 15-16).

Textbox 10: Perceptions of German actors in China

Even though the list of challenges for Germans in China is long, the interviewees within the framework of the study assess their experiences and opportunities in China predominantly positively. The interviews focus on three questions and were answered as follows (essential statements are taken up):

# How are the framework conditions for foreign companies perceived?

- The so-called "negative list" (see chapter 6.6) with currently 48 product areas makes market access for German companies in China more difficult. In addition, the central "Foreign Investment Law" is not ideally implemented due to local protectionism. Local governments have their own unwritten rules and treat local and foreign companies unequally. For example, foreign companies are not allowed to participate in the construction of "critical infrastructure". However, this term offers much room for interpretation and is exploited by some local governments and interpreted in a way that favours local companies even outside the 48 areas.
- In addition to IPR and legal certainty, there are Chinese regulations that are open to free interpretation and thus cause problems for foreign companies. Additional measures, such as some environmental requirements and fire safety regulations, are considered excessive, but cause additional costs. As Chinese companies often have good relations with the authorities, they are not treated as strictly as foreign companies.
- In addition, Chinese companies are better informed about when and how tenders are published.
- "Framework conditions are not the same for everyone, but it is also difficult to demand equal conditions. That's where China wants to protect the state's interest. It's no different in Germany."

# What are the main challenges for German companies?

- The biggest challenge for German companies is still to find and retain qualified staff both for administrative tasks and for production. One reason for this is the rising wage costs (6 % salary increase per year). Loyalty on the part of Chinese employees is also hardly to be expected.
- *Guanxi* (relationships) are still very important in China, especially in the second- and thirdtier cities. Those who have guanxi get much faster access to information and can therefore react more quickly to current developments: "*The informal things are still very important. It is time-consuming and difficult to navigate such things.*"
- There are other hurdles that foreign companies have to overcome that are not in the regulations, such as cloud computing: as a rule, foreign companies can work in the field, but their server must be located in China. Amazon, for example, has failed to participate in projects in this area.
- Through the Cyber Security Law (see chapter 2.7.1) there is even more unequal treatment: *"the Chinese companies enjoy full freedom in Europe, while the European companies have no access to websites like Google. Secure data transfer is by no means guaranteed."*
- Problems with the rule of law, cultural aspects and strong state control are also mentioned as problem areas.

# How do you perceive the opportunities for German companies in China?

- IPR has been significantly improved in China in recent years. In court cases, it can be observed that some results are very positive. This means that the intellectual property of

German companies is better protected.

- Foreign companies generally do not get any special favours: *"the time when you got many advantages as a foreign company is now over"*. Tax advantages and general location benefits are offered by some provinces such as Hainan, Guangdong or the Free Trade Zones, although German companies still have to comply with the often opaque regulations of the local governments.
- With Made in China 2025, foreign companies can get market shares in ten segments. In individual cases, German companies are also promoted. However, access to funding often only comes through guanxi to the local government. For SMEs, it is particularly difficult to obtain information about the subsidies in good time, because unlike large companies, SMEs cannot afford their own government relations departments that deal intensively with information procurement and analysis.
- In the Belt and Road Initiative, the tenders are not transparent and Chinese are preferred. "Even if you get in, the standard of social security, for example, is not the same as the German standard, so problems arise in the implementation."
- Despite everything, German companies have enough opportunities in China simply because of the size of the market. Moreover, the Chinese government is very good at artificially increasing demand in the country.
- "In the last 10 years, Germany has already had a big piece of the pie." If you understand the Chinese market better, you can still gain a lot.

In general, around 40% of German companies in China currently see an improvement in China's economic development. However, this percentage has fallen compared to previous years. With regard to future economic developments, 30 % expect a worsening of the situation. (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 12). Due to rising labour costs, the expected decline in economic growth and the lack of regulatory transparency, predictability and objectivity, one third of the companies say they have no plans to invest in the Chinese location within the next two years. (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 20).

As a result of a lack of systematic recording of the R&D activities of German companies in China, it is difficult to make statements about motivation, future plans and the nature of investments in research. (Czernich 2014, p. 2). General reasons for relocating domestic R&D activities to a foreign location are market development, tapping specific knowledge or skilled labour, and savings in wages and non-wage labour costs. (Czernich 2014, pp. 9-10).

The internationalisation of German R&D has increased in recent years. China is an important target country for German companies (Czernich 2014, p. 7). Companies such as BASF, Bayer, Continental, Daimler, SAP, Siemens, VW and Wacker are increasingly operating R&D centres in China in order to be able to respond directly to specific local customer requirements. (Abele 2019a). The Asian presence of many German companies is becoming increasingly important, according to data from Abele (2019a) will continue to be expanded: BASF, for example, plans to transfer about 25% of its current 10,650 R&D personnel from Germany to Asia by 2020, about half of them to China. Siemens, too, wants to take advantage of China's development potential and expand an R&D centre for mass transit signalling in Fuzhou, in Futian province. Siemens is relying on tailored R&D development work and the training and further education of local personnel. (Investment Platform China / Germany 2019b). With its three plants in the north-east of the People's Republic, BMW is benefiting above all from China's affinity for innovation: in May 2019, BMW became the first international automotive group to receive a licence from the authorities in Shanghai to test autonomous driving systems under real-life conditions on Shanghai roads. As a result, BMW has been building a new research centre for this purpose at its

Shanghai site since June. (Investment Platform China / Germany 2019a).

Relocating R&D activities to China is attractive for German companies due to various incentives: the Chinese government lures with tax incentives in the R&D sector, relatively cheap and qualified technical personnel are available, and companies with a Chinese R&D location benefit from local knowledge (INS Global Expansion Simplified 2018). China continues to have attractive framework conditions for a thriving innovation system: The size of the market, homogeneity in terms of language, culture and time zone, as well as technology openness allow for good scaling options and exploitable opportunities for investors (McKinsey Global Institute 2015).

In interviews, German actors in China point out that R&D investments are not suitable for initial entry into the Chinese market. Only when there is a certain knowledge of the market and the customers, an understanding of the regulatory framework has been built up and suitable Chinese employees are in the company, do the next steps towards technology development and then possibly also research follow if necessary (interviews 2019).

German companies are increasingly setting up subsidiaries in China, no longer just to save production costs through low wages, but primarily to tap into the Chinese market, and to conduct R&D activities (INS Global Expansion Simplified 2018). Among other things, this enables them to serve demanding local customers more effectively, faster and at lower cost, and to test innovations under unique conditions (market size, efficient network of suppliers, openness to innovation, etc.). (McKinsey Global Institute 2015, 107; Abele 2019a). Wübbeke et al. (2016, S. 10) However, we recommend that companies exercise caution, especially in R&D activities in critical technology fields, as data and intellectual property are less well secured in China.

# 6.6 Barriers to entry in China

There is no open market for foreign investors in China (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 5). Although German companies perceive China's development positively, trade and investment restrictions continue to hamper foreign investors' access to the Chinese market. Chinese companies, on the other hand, enjoy relatively free access to the EU's internal market. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019; Hanemann et al. 2019).

As already mentioned, there are visible and invisible *playing field asymmetries*. They range from unequal access to capital and subsidies, to systematic disadvantages through regulations, to financial advantages for domestic actors. Public procurement measures and industrial subsidies can be mentioned here as examples of systematic preferential treatment of domestic companies. (Publications Office of the European Union 2019) . A subdued business outlook and a challenging regulatory environment characterise the current business climate of German companies. (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, S.5). German companies in China name the following problem areas (compilation from three sources) (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018) ; (Hanemann and Huotari 2018) ; (Glattner 2017) ):

- Lack of reciprocity due to market access barriers
- No access to certain sectors of the economy; in certain areas only minority shareholdings possible
- Joint venture compulsion in individual sectors
- Discrimination of foreign companies against domestic ones
- No equal access of foreign companies to public tenders
- Competition with state-subsidised companies
- Compulsion to transfer technology

- Data protection and data security
- Protection of intellectual property
- Limited access to fast internet
- Lengthy approval procedures
- Monetary affairs

In a 2019 study, the American Chamber of Commerce explains that (The American Chamber of Commerce in the People's Republic of China 2019, p. 8) that technology and R&D-intensive industries in particular face significant challenges from inadequate intellectual property protection, restrictive cybersecurity laws, and unique Chinese standards. The July 2017 Cybersecurity Law, which among other things authorises the Cyberspace Administration of China (CAC) to disclose source code, inhibits innovation and investment. (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019, p. 23). Due to structural restrictions, China ranks above the OECD average in terms of FDI restrictions in the OECD FDI Restrictiveness Index. (OECD).

In order to ensure the competitiveness of German and European industry through legal certainty in data transfer issues, these challenges must be addressed quickly (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019, p. 48; Reisach 2017, pp. 42-43). Discussions with China on the legal situation regarding cross-border data flows, cybersecurity and e-commerce can be addressed at the German-Chinese level in the bilateral cybersecurity dialogue. The panel met for the first time in Beijing in May 2018. Strack (2018, S. 49) proposes holding additional event-related bilateral meetings and establishing contact points in Germany and China. A comparable formal dialogue on cybersecurity issues is, according to the Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg (2019, S. 40) is also necessary at EU level. The EU Agency for Cybersecurity (ENISA) should be strengthened in its mandate to ensure the application of applicable international law on cybersecurity. EU-wide rules on risk assessment and measures for sanctions against cyber attacks should also be formulated. (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019, pp. 47-48).

One of China's most significant barriers to entry is the investment guidance catalogue for foreign investors. From 1995 to 2015, industries were divided into three categories: *encouraged*, *restricted*, or *prohibited*. Industries in the first category were officially supported by the Chinese government, with the foreign investor receiving tax incentives for their involvement in China. In restricted industries, different Chinese requirements for the investment were to be expected. Prohibited sectors were not open to FDI, but in all remaining industries, investment was largely free of conditions. As a formal prerequisite for setting up a company, approval by the Ministry of Commerce (MOFCOM) was mandatory, which often led to changes in the negotiated foundation agreements (Glatter 2017, p. 2).

In the course of the above-mentioned period, the steering catalogue was amended five times in accordance with the economic policy objectives of the Chinese government. The document was also adapted in the wake of China's accession to the WTO in 2001 and the resulting obligations. (Glatter 2017, p. 2) . A structural change took place in July 2017 with the new Guidance Catalogue. The restructuring now provides for two components of the Steering Catalogue: A list of industries that are promoted and a negative list. (General Office of the State Council (国务院办公厅) 2017). In addition, MOFCOM approval is no longer required, only registration with the State Administration for Industry and Commerce (SAIC). MOFCOM approval will still be required for FDI by enterprises in sectors included in the negative list, or in the case of an enterprise merger. (Glatter 2017, p. 2).

The negative list has been revised several times and in its latest version (as of July 2019) contains 40 restricted and prohibited sectors (Ministry of Commerce (中华人民共和国商务部) 2019). Currently, these include mining, energy, telecommunications, health care, publishing and education. (Weidlich 2019). The following sectors have been completely removed from the negative list and are now open to foreign investors: Oil and gas exploration, other manufacturing, maritime transport, species

conservation, manufacturing, film distribution and screening, and cultural entertainment. However, it remains prohibited to invest in artistic groups (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019b). The list is supplemented by the "Negative List for Market Access" of 21 December 2018. This lists prohibited and restricted industries and projects that apply equally to both domestic and foreign investors (Scheil 2019, p. 30).

Overall, the number of restricted and prohibited sectors for FDI has decreased significantly after 2015. From 1997 to 2011, a minimum of 108 and a maximum of 143 sectors were defined as prohibited or restricted, and up to 60 more sectors were promoted with restrictions (see Figure 53). In 2015, the number of prohibited and restricted sectors dropped to 76, in 2017 it was 63 and after the publication of the negative list only 48 (Weidlich 2019).



Figure 53: Number of restricted and prohibited sectors for FDI (1995-2018)

Other market access regulations outside the steering catalogue include a number of further catalogues, lists and provisions to be observed depending on the industry, location and investment volume (Glatter 2017, p. 3). This leads to 47 % of German companies citing administrative hurdles as the greatest regulatory challenge in business practice, followed by legal uncertainties and unclear framework conditions (43 %) (see Figure 54) (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 27).

Verboten = prohibited, Beschränkt = restricted, Gefördert mit Beschränkungen = Promoted with restrictions, Lenkungskatalog = Steering Catalog, Negativliste = Negative List Source: Weidlich 2019



Figure 54: Top 10 regulatory business challenges from the perspective of German entrepreneurs in China

Source: German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 27

On 15 March 2019, the second session of the 13th National Congress passed China's new Foreign Investment Law (FIL), which is scheduled to come into force on 1 January 2020. The new law combines and replaces three existing laws: the Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture Law, the Sino-Foreign Contractual Joint Ventures Law and the Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprises Law. The FIL is intended to create a greater level playing field between Chinese and foreign enterprises and provide a comprehensive legal basis for future investment and business activities by foreign players (Weidlich 2019, p. 26).

The contents of the FIL cover all activities of foreign investors and companies, including WFOEs and JVs, as well as investors active in Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan. As a concession to international pressure, it includes, for example, provisions prohibiting Chinese JV partners from stealing intellectual property or trade secrets (Article 22, FIL). In addition, the FIL prohibits government officials from taking administrative measures to carry out forced technology transfers (Article 22, FIL) and makes them criminally liable in case of non-compliance (Article 39, FIL). Furthermore, foreign investors are granted equal treatment in applying for licences (Article 30) and in public procurement (Article 16, FIL). (Chipman Koty 2019; National People's Congress 2019).

The central points of the FIL are the improved protection of property rights when investing in China and the principle of national treatment outside the negative list. (Rödl&Partner 2018) . However, potential market access barriers remain. The negative list (Article 28, FIL) continues to apply despite the reduction of prohibited or restricted industries, and a state security check for foreign investments is to be introduced (Article 35, FIL). In addition, antitrust requirements apply (Article 33, FIL) as well as special licences in certain industries (Article 30, FIL). The reciprocity clause in Article 40, FIL, states that in the event of a discriminatory or restrictive measure against Chinese investors by foreign partners, China may take "*corresponding measures*" against the foreign partner. (National People's Congress 2019) . This clause leaves room for interpretation due to its vague wording. (Rödl&Partner 2018) .

Another example of legal uncertainty is the "opening clause" of most normative documents in China, which <sup>9</sup>concludes with the words" [...] *and* others, as provided by *other/relevant laws* and regulations", thus also giving the Chinese administration a wide scope for interpretation. As any number of other regulations and laws can be referred to, this clause creates great uncertainty among foreign investors. (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019a, p. 27).

Ambiguous frameworks, constantly changing catalogues, lists and regulations, as well as a perceived discrepancy between legal texts and practical implementation (various interviews in 2019) make long-term planning, risk prevention and communication with German headquarters difficult for foreign investors. Uncertainties and additional financial burdens are the result of this vague regulatory framework (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019a, p. 24).

In addition to the regulatory challenges already mentioned, such as bureaucratic hurdles and lack of clarity in the legal environment, operational challenges are also a major problem in market access. These include the search for qualified personnel (63%), lack of employee loyalty to the group and rising personnel costs (76%) (see Figure 55). (German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 29).



# Figure 55: Top 10 operational business challenges in China from the perspective of German entrepreneurs

Source: German Chamber of Commerce in China 2018, p. 29

As a further restriction, the Chinese database-based "Social Scoring System" could have an impact on foreign companies in China in the future. The scoring system aims to monitor and control individuals, companies and organisations. Information on creditworthiness, criminal records and social and political behaviour is used. However, the sources of the data and their evaluation standards are unclear. This is one of the reasons why the system is viewed very critically by the West. (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019c). Pilot projects are currently running in individual cities. From 2020, it is to be rolled out on a large scale in China. The European Chamber of Commerce in China (2019c) expects significant disruption to all businesses in China as a result of the large-scale roll-out in 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For example: 汽车产业投资管理规定 (Regulations on Investment in the Automotive Industry), NDRC, 10 Dec 2018 http://www.chinalaw.gov.cn/Department/content/2018-12/10/594 230928.html (Last checked 22 Oct 2019).

The legal framework in China on competition and antitrust law, consumer protection, cybersecurity, etc. is changing rapidly and is often confusing. Foreign companies wishing to invest in China "should familiarise themselves with the new or expected regulations and [...] have resources ready to analyse and deal with legal issues", because violations of regulations and approvals (such as those of MOFCOM) can incur heavy penalties (Glatter 2017, pp. 1-2).

Companies from Germany active in China can take advantage of policy-making opportunities in China by participating in international working groups, commenting on China's draft regulations and exchanging views with authorities and industry partners. (Wübbeke et al. 2016, p. 9; Kessler and Blöchl 2018) . Such engagement can help actors on the ground and in Germany to get better information on economic policy strategies. (Wübbeke et al. 2016, p. 9) .

China's investment restrictions put foreign companies at a competitive disadvantage: "Chinese companies benefit considerably from the open markets and non-discriminatory FDI regimes in Germany and other European countries. Conversely, foreign companies in China are still formally and informally discriminated against compared to domestic companies. This situation illustrates that while the asymmetry in investment relations between China and Germany is quantitatively to China's disadvantage, qualitatively Germany is clearly at a disadvantage." (Jungbluth 2016, p. 35).

External political pressure is needed to persuade China to relax investment restrictions and implement reform promises to protect against technology outflows for international companies (European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019a, p. 8; Publications Office of the European Union 2019, p. 53). Germany can address this in bilateral negotiations, but a pan-European insistence on reciprocity can build much more pressure. (Loesekrug-Pietri 2019).

"In the past, Germany has relied on bilateral negotiations and rounds of talks with China. Progress, for example on equal market access, has not always been satisfactory. However, as Germany and other EU countries gain importance as an investment destination for Chinese companies, a new lever for more reciprocity could emerge." (Jungbluth 2016, p. 35)

# 6.7 Conclusion: Opportunities and challenges of Chinese FDI

Looking at the literature, the impression is that Chinese investments in Europe and Germany tend to have a positive effect and have not yet reached a level that would lead one to expect critical, negative effects for the economy (Löchel 2018, pp. 10-11; Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (BDI) 2019, p. 6; European Chamber of Commerce in China 2019a, p. 17; Jungbluth 2018). After the peak of Chinese FDI in 2016, there were adjustments on both the Chinese and the European side. In China, for example, the requirements for foreign investments have been tightened and in Europe a more critical examination of Chinese investments has begun. The authors mentioned above point out that European regulation must take into account that Chinese (and also non-Chinese) investments in Europe are fundamentally welcome and have positive economic consequences. An investment review should not be a politically protectionist measure and should not be perceived as such, because a further opening of the Chinese market is only realistic if Europe itself does not start closing itself off to the outside world. At the same time, Europe must take a critical look at China's most recent concessions in the opening of individual industries within the framework of FDI in the coming period and examine them. If necessary, further renegotiations are needed to achieve fair conditions for European investors in China.

# 6.7.1 Opportunities

From the point of view of business and business organisations, the positive aspects of Chinese FDI outweigh the negative. For example, in a policy paper published in March 2019, the BDI points out the important role of foreign investment in Germany in general and the positive role of China in particular (Mair et al. 2019).

In the interviews conducted as part of the study, representatives of business and investment promotion

agencies in various federal states generally expressed a positive attitude towards Chinese investors, especially with regard to new settlements, but also in the case of takeovers or majority shareholdings. The investments of German companies in China are also considered positive by experts, although they point to improved but still unfair conditions (interviews 2019).

German-Chinese cooperation has great potential for both sides in the future, both for economic development in general and for the field of innovation in particular. The sale of high-tech products in China offers a large market for German companies. (McKinsey Global Institute 2015, p. 42). At the same time, local companies can benefit and learn from China's rapid development in areas such as digitalisation and artificial intelligence. Synergies are of particular interest in these areas, as China has already made great strides and produced some innovative companies. In addition to their own engagement in China, direct linkages through Chinese participation in their own company are attractive for German or European companies and an opportunity for greater significance in the Chinese market.

China's industrialisation (1.0 to 3.0) - which is mentioned less frequently - and its increasing focus on high technology as part of the MIC 2025 strategy, holds great potential for the sale of high-quality German products (Ifo Institute 2018).

"The ecosystem in China, consisting of state support, start-up infrastructure, university education and cost-efficient supply chain, is fuelling the rapid development of digital technologies and products. German and European companies operating in China can also use the support system for their own research and product development and benefit directly from high-tech subsidies or tax reductions." (Haug 2019, p. 43)

# 6.7.2 Challenges

China's economic development and growing capacities in high-tech sectors are creating new sales markets for European companies, but at the same time are leading to stronger global competition. Especially the industrial sectors in which Germany plays a central role are the focus of Chinese industrial policy. Now that Chinese companies are in a position to offer technologically sophisticated products at sometimes lower prices, German companies are threatened with the loss of market shares both in the Chinese and European markets as well as in third markets. In the long term, lower market shares can lead to lower profits and thus less funding for R&D. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2019).

In this context, China's MIC 2025 strategy is also facing increasing international criticism, as it not only envisages the growth of China's high-tech sectors, but also explicitly aims to increase market share and squeeze out competitors. (Ifo Institute 2018) . For example, China's share of the national market for industrial robots is expected to reach 70 % by 2025, which would mean a significant reduction in the share of foreign companies. (Ifo Institute 2018) . In absolute terms, the general growth in China may nevertheless lead to positive effects for foreign companies.

Buying up foreign companies is one of several tools of MIC 2025 and support from the Chinese state in the form of concessional loans and administrative assistance can lead to distorted competition (Ifo Institute 2018) . The concern that state-backed buyouts of European high-tech companies are taking place on a larger scale needs to be addressed. Innovative European start-ups are attractive targets for China's big tech firms, while access to Chinese start-ups is made more difficult for Western firms. (Glatter 2017, p. 1; Jungbluth 2016, p. 35; Mair et al. 2019, p. 21).

The unequal market access described above and the resulting lack of a level playing field continues to be a relevant disadvantage for European companies in China. This poses incalculable risks for companies and inhibits their ability to innovate. (Kunze and Windels 2018, p. 7).

With regard to Europe, another danger is seen that is also highly relevant for Germany: individual states of the European Union could become too economically intertwined and dependent on China as a result of Chinese investments. China could gain political influence in this way. Since a large part of the decisions at the EU level must be made unanimously, it is possible that the blocking attitude of a single

country could limit the ability of the entire EU to act. (Loesekrug-Pietri 2019) . So far, however, the effects are still considered to be rather small. (Ferchen et al. 2018) .

Shifting R&D activities to China is attractive for German companies due to various incentives. Nevertheless, trade and investment restrictions continue to impede or prevent foreign investors from accessing the Chinese market. While Chinese firms enter a largely open market in Europe, European firms face restrictions in China (Bartsch and Laudien 2016, p. 11). According to German stakeholders based in China, despite the new Foreign Investment Law and other small steps towards more attractive investment conditions, German companies are not expected to achieve a *level playing field* to European standards in the short or long term (interviews 2019). Chinese market conditions are subject to constant change, which foreign companies must adapt to.

# 6.7.3 Measures

There has been an intensive discussion in recent years on how to deal with Chinese FDI and fair framework conditions. On the one hand, there is a desire to better protect the European market and its companies, but on the other hand, there is also the opinion outlined above that Chinese FDI represents a significant opportunity for Germany and Europe.

#### A common European approach

One point mentioned in many studies and commentaries is the need for stronger cooperation within Europe. In view of China's growing influence, it is increasingly important that the individual European states coordinate with each other and pool their negotiating power. In the area of trade, the European Commission has negotiating authority and is developing the European Investment Screening Mechanism and a China-Europe trade agreement in this context. With a common EU voice, it is easier to argue for a level playing field for European and Chinese companies in the areas of investment and market access. Only at the European level is there the necessary clout to draw boundaries and threaten relevant consequences. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2019, p. 15).

"Europe needs to better leverage the collective weight of EU member states. Larger member states like Germany and France need to take serious steps towards putting their privileged bilateral relations with China in the service of common European interests. Complaining about the 16+1 format China uses to interact with smaller EU members in Central and Eastern Europe while engaging in 1+1 formats with Beijing will not help to come up with a collective EU response on issues where Chinese action fails to resonate with shared European interests." (Benner et al. 2018, p. 7).

#### Increasing China competence and active monitoring of Chinese investors

One problem that often arises in connection with Chinese investments is the lack of knowledge about the background and structure of Chinese trade or concrete Chinese investors (Ferchen et al. 2018, vii). To answer the question of whether China is buying up European technology with state help, it is necessary to know what connections the investors have to the state, to what extent they are state-owned and whether they have preferential access to state financing. In questionable cases, it is even more important to have a solid knowledge base and trained staff to be able to consider evidence-based countermeasures (Interview 2019; d'Hooghe et al. 2018; Ferchen et al. 2018, vii). In addition, more knowledge about potential investors also leads to better economic outcomes for both sides. In some German states, potential Chinese companies are actively sought out as partners primarily from the Chinese SME sector, which fit well with German regional structures and technology priorities (Interview 2019). Experience and knowledge about China and its investors should be bundled and made available in a suitable form. In the sense of the European dimension mentioned above, this expertise should not only be available to Germany, but should also be open to other EU member states where appropriate.

On the one hand, this can be achieved by expanding Chinese language skills and China competencies in Germany. For broad and early promotion, it is recommended that Chinese be anchored as a regular

school subject and that modern China knowledge be taught in school subjects such as geography, politics, history and social sciences, as well as in upper school seminars and project weeks. (Stepan et al. 2018, pp. 9-10). In addition to the political-administrative anchoring in the school curricula, this also requires the financing of teachers, teaching materials and teacher training by the Ministries of Education and Cultural Affairs. (Stepan et al. 2018, pp. 9-10). At the university level, China competencies can be built up through offers such as double degree programmes, exchange programmes, training of administrative staff, etc. (Stepan et al. 2018, pp. 11-12). In addition, "*European students [...]* should be *encouraged to study in China in order to advance existing collaborations and avoid knowledge gaps about China in the next generation of researchers*". (d'Hooghe et al. 2018, p. 5).

On the other hand, it is considered useful to attract and involve Chinese talents with German or European degrees and German alumni with experience in China. Their expertise on economic, historical and cultural linkages in China is conducive to the assessment of actors and motives of Chinese FDI and can strengthen the information base for political decisions. (Ferchen et al. 2018, vii) . Currently, the USA is the most popular destination for Chinese talent. Germany and Europe can benefit from the current poor climate between the two countries and the accompanying tightening of entry regulations by the US against Chinese talent by increasing their attractiveness as a destination for foreign professionals. (Zhang et al. 2019) . This could be achieved, for example, through faster visa procedures, lower requirements for permanent residency and naturalisation, bilateral agreements and training partnerships. (Bartsch and Laudien 2016, p. 11; Petino 2019, p. 6) . Chinese returnees who have studied or worked in Germany and China alumni from Germany can also play an important role, for example, in the context of FDI in both directions. (Veugelers 2017, p. 15; Müller-Jung 2019) . .

"European governments need to invest in high-calibre, independent China expertise. Raising awareness about and responding to China's political influencing efforts in Europe can only succeed if there is sufficient impartial expertise on China in think tanks, universities, NGOs, and media across Europe. This will also help to keep out 'unwanted' Chinese money in those institutions. " (Benner et al. 2018, p. 7)

#### **EU Investment Screening Mechanism**

In view of China's increased financial engagement in Europe, there have been calls in recent years for an investment screening mechanism at the European level with the aim of exchanging FDI information at the supranational level. In March 2019, the European Parliament and the European Council decided to establish the EU Investment Screening Mechanism. The mechanism should be fully operational by October 2020. (European Commission 2019b) . Similar mechanisms have already been introduced by most OECD countries and some of the EU countries themselves. Compared to the screening mechanisms of other countries, the requirements of the European mechanism are considered less strict. The EU mechanism is not intended to replace any national screening procedures, but aims above all at better exchange and cooperation between the individual member states. In the case of investments, the EU Commission only has the right to make recommendations that affect several member states or the EU as a whole. These recommendations are not binding on the states, but in the case of non-compliance, this must be explicitly justified. (Hanemann et al. 2019).

Just under half of the EU states still have not established a corresponding instrument at the national level and will not be pushed to do so by the new mechanism. In this respect, the mechanism represents a compromise between, on the one hand, a stronger role for the EU as an overarching and coordinating body and, on the other hand, the control of the individual member states over their national FDI. (European Parliamentary Research Service 2019).

According to the EU Investment Screening Mechanism, the focus of an investigation is first and foremost on investments that affect security and public order. Furthermore, it is examined to what extent the investor is state-financed or acts in accordance with a state-directed policy or instruction. This is often the case, especially in the case of Chinese investments. (Hanemann et al. 2019).

In other countries, such as Canada, the tasks of the screening mechanism are broader, so that questions about the consequences for the economy and innovation in the country are also asked and included in the evaluation of an investment. There is also the idea of setting tighter barriers specifically for the digital economy in order to prevent the big foreign digital platforms from buying up emerging start-ups in the sector. (Shi-Kupfer and Ohlberg 2019) . However, such a broad-based mechanism for the EU would inevitably become a political instrument that would result in few clear boundaries and many individual discretionary cases. (Hanemann et al. 2019) .

The examples of Taiwan and Japan, which have significantly closer economic ties with China than Europe, show that stricter regulation of Chinese investments by no means leads to a fundamentally worse economic relationship. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2019, p. 14). There, much stricter investment control regimes have already been introduced to prevent the sell-off of China's own high technology. In this way, China's investments in Japan and Taiwan have been limited to 1/35 and 1/26 respectively of those in the other direction. (Zenglein and Holzmann 2019, p. 14).

# **Bibliography**

《粤港澳大湾区发展规划纲要》(双语全文)(Grundriss des Entwicklungsplans für die Greater Bay Area Guangdong-Hong Kong- Macao) (2019). In: *中国日报网 (China Daily)* 2019, 12.02.2019. Online verfügbar unter http://language.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201902/19/WS5c6b6b4da3106c65c34ea19d html, zuletzt geprüft

http://language.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201902/19/WS5c6b6b4da3106c65c34ea19d.html, zuletzt geprüft am 01.10.2019.

Abele, Corinne (2019a): Deutsche Firmen gründen vermehrt F&E-Zentren in China. Hg. v. German Asia-Pacific Business Association (OAV). Ostasiatischer Verein e.V. Online verfügbar unter https://www.oav.de/iap-12015/atikel-312.html, zuletzt geprüft am 06.10.2019.

Abele, Corinne (2019b): Chinas Hightech-Start-ups mischen an der Spitze mit. Chinas Start-up-Szene ist in den vergangenen fünf Jahren geradezu explodiert. Vor allem im Bereich künstliche Intelligenz sehen Experten China mittelfristig vorne. Hg. v. Germany Trade and Invest (GTAI). Germany Trade and Invest (GTAI).

Abteilung für Wissenschaft und Technologie, Provinz Guangdong (广东省科学技术厅); Technische und wirtschaftliche Forschung und Entwicklung der Provinz Guangdong (广东省技术经济研究发展中); Guangdong Soft Science Research Association (广东省软科学研究会) (Hg.) (2015): 粤府(2015) 1号"黄金政策"十二条实操指南 (Die "12 Goldenen Artikel", Richtlinie für technologische Innovation in Guangdong Provinz). Guangdong.

Aldama, Zigor (2019): Powered by the state, China takes charge of electric buses, with Shenzhen taking the lead. In: *South China Morning Post*, 18.01.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/magazines/post-magazine/long-reads/article/2182466/powered-state-china-takes-charge-electric-buses, zuletzt geprüft am 06.10.2019.

Apolinarski, Beate; Brandt, Tasso (2018): Ausländische Studierende in Deutschland 2016. Ergebnisse der Befragung bildungsausländischer Studierender im Rahmen der 21. Sozialerhebung des Deutschen Studentenwerks durchgeführt vom Deutschen Zentrum für Hochschul- und Wissenschaftsforschung. Hg. v. BMBF.

Arcesati, Rebecca (2019): Chinese tech standards put the screws on European companies. Hg. v. Merics. Online verfügbar unter https://www.merics.org/en/blog/chinese-tech-standards-put-screws-european-companies, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

Asien-Pazifik-Ausschuss der Deutschen Wirtschaft (APA) (Hg.) (2017): Chinas neue Cybersicherheitsgesetzgebung im Überblick. [Stand 21.11.2017].

Atkinson, Robert D.; Foote, Caleb (2019): Is China Catching Up to the United States in Innovation? Hg. v. Information Technology & Innovation Foundation (ITIF). Online verfügbar unter http://www2.itif.org/2019-china-catching-up-innovation.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 06.10.2019.

Balzli, Beat; Petring, Jörn; Afhüppe, Sven; Hua, Sha (2019): Huawei-Gründer und -Chef Ren Zhengfei. "5G ist für die USA eine Art Atombombe". In: *Wirtschaftswoche*, 17.04.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.wiwo.de/my/unternehmen/it/huawei-gruender-und-chef-ren-zhengfei-die-usa-bekaempfen-huawei/24228526-4.html, zuletzt geprüft am 25.10.2019.

Bartsch, Bernhard (2016): Das Ende der Panda-Politik. Deutschland genießt zu China ein Sonderverhältnis – noch. Doch je mehr der politische und wirtschaftliche Wettbewerb zunimmt, umso

mehr muss sich Deutschland auf Konfl ikte einstellen. Starken deutschen Interessen stehen bisher oft nur schwache Instrumente zur Verfügung. Hg. v. Bertelsmann Stiftung.

Bartsch, Bernhard; Laudien, Anika (2016): Deutsche Auswertung. Wie deutsche Unternehmen auf asiatische Innovationen reagieren. In: Innovationsfaktor Asien. Wie Europas Unternehmen auf den Innovationsdruck der neuen asiatischen Wirtschaftsmächte reagieren. Bertelsmann Stiftung. Gütersloh, S. 8–11, zuletzt geprüft am 28.10.2019.

BBC News (2019): Trade war: How reliant are US colleges on Chinese students? In: *BBC News*, 12.06.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-48542913, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Beijing Zhongguancun Software Park Development Co., Ltd (北京中关村软件园发展有限责任公司) (Hg.) (2018): 中关村软件园发展状况调查报告 (Bericht über den Entwicklungsstatus des Zhongguangchun-Parks).

Bekkers, Frank; Oosterveld, Willem; Verhagen, Paul (2019): Checklist for Collaboration with Chinese Universities and Other Research Institutions. Hg. v. The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies. Den Haag (HCSS Global Trends).

Belitz, Heike; Schrooten, Mechthild (2008): Innovationssysteme - Motor der Wirtschaft (Editorial). Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung. Vol. 77, Iss. 2, S. 5-10. Hg. v. Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft. Duncker & Humblot.

Belt and Road Portal (中国"一带一路"网) (Hg.) (2019): About Belt and Road Initiative. Online verfügbar unter https://eng.yidaiyilu.gov.cn/, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Benner, Thorsten; Gaspers, Jan; Ohlberg, Mareike; Poggetti, Lucrezia; Shi-Kupfer, Kristin (2018): Authoritarian Advance. Responding to China's Growing Political Influence in Europe. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS).

Bölinger, Mathias (2018): Erfinder nach Plan. Die Chinesen wollen in der künstlichen Intelligenz die Besten sein. Staatliche Überwachungswut hilft dabei. In: *Die Zeit* 2018, 20.06.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.zeit.de/2018/26/china-kuenstliche-intelligenz-staatliche-ueberwachung.

Breznitz, Dan; Murphree, Michael (2011): China's Run of the Red Queen – Government, Innovation, Globalization and Economic Growth. In: *Review of Policy Research* 28 (Nr. 6), S. 642–644, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Bundesamt für Justiz (2019): Arbeitnehmererfindungen. ArbnErfG 2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/arbnerfg/, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Bundesamt für Wirtschaft und Ausfuhrkontrolle (BAFA) (Hg.) (2016): Technologietransfer und Non-Proliferation. Leitfaden für Industrie und Wissenschaft.

Bundesamt für Wirtschaft und Ausfuhrkontrolle (BAFA) (2019): Güterlisten. Online verfügbar unter https://www.bafa.de/DE/Aussenwirtschaft/Ausfuhrkontrolle/Gueterlisten/gueterlisten\_node.html, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Bundesministerium der Finanzen (BMF) (Hg.) (2018): Monatsbericht des BMF November 2018.

Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF) (Hg.) (2018a): Bundesbericht Forschung und Innovation 2018. Kurzfassung.

Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF) (Hg.) (2018b): Bundesbericht für Bildung und Forschung: Ausgewählte Einzelindikatoren. Online verfügbar unter https://www.bundesbericht-forschung-innovation.de/de/Ausgewahlte-Einzelindikatoren-2770.html, zuletzt geprüft am 09.10.2019.

Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi) (2014): Schriftliche Fragen an die Bundesregierung im Monat August 2014 Frage Nr. 288. Frage: Welche EU-Richtlinien wurden bisher noch nicht in nationales Recht umgesetzt, und inwieweit fallen aus der bisherigen Nichtumsetzung Strafzahlungen an (bitte differenziert nach EU-Richtlinien und Frist der Umsetzung angeben)? Hg. v. Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi), zuletzt geprüft am 29.10.2019.

Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi) (Hg.) (2018): EU investiert in den deutschen Venture-Capital-Markt. Online verfügbar unter https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/Pressemitteilungen/2018/20180312-eu-investiert-in-deutschenventure-capital-markt.html, zuletzt geprüft am 18.09.2019.

Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi) (Hg.) (2019): Technologieszenario "Künstliche Intelligenz in der Industrie 4.0".

Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (BDI) (Hg.) (2019): Stellungnahme Auslandsinvestitionenin Deutschland. Anhörung Ausschuss für Wirtschaft und Energie des Bundestags zum Umgang mit Auslandsinvestitionen.

Bureau of Industry and Security (2019a): Lists of Parties of Concern. Entity List. Online verfügbar unter https://www.bis.doc.gov/index.php/policy-guidance/lists-of-parties-of-concern/entity-list, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Bureau of Industry and Security (2019b): Huawei Entity List and Temporary General License Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs). Online verfügbar unter https://www.bis.doc.gov/index.php/documents/pdfs/2447-huawei-entity-listing-faqs/file, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Büro für Hongkong- und Macao-Angelegenheiten der Volksregierung der Provinz Guangdong (广东 省人民政府港澳事务办公室) (Hg.) (2016): **粤港合作框架**协议 (Rahmenabkommen über die Zusammenarbeit zwischen Guangdong und Hongkong). Online verfügbar unter http://hmo.gd.gov.cn/kjxy/content/post\_42447.html, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Cameron, Fraser (2019): The European Union's New Rival – China. In: *GIGA Focus Asia* 2019 (Number 7), zuletzt geprüft am 15.10.2019.

Cannataci, J. A. (2018): Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to privacy. Hg. v. United Nations. Online verfügbar unter https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Privacy/SR\_Privacy/A\_73\_45712.docx, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Cao, Cong; Baas, Jeroen; Wagner, Caroline S.; Jonkers, Koen (2019): Returning Scientists and the Emergence of China's Science System. Hg. v. ResearchGate.

CB Insights (Hg.) (2019): The Global Unicorn Club. Current Private Companies Valued at \$1B+. Online verfügbar unter https://www.cbinsights.com/research-unicorn-companies, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Center for International Development at Harvard University (Hg.) (2019): Atlas of economic complexity. Online verfügbar unter http://atlas.cid.harvard.edu/, zuletzt geprüft am 29.10.2019.

Chan, Jia Hao (2019): China's Digital Silk Road: A Game Changer for Asian Economies. Hg. v. The Diplomat. Online verfügbar unter https://thediplomat.com/2019/04/chinas-digital-silk-road-a-game, zuletzt geprüft am 30.09.2019.

Chen, Guang (2019): Introduction of National S&T Major Project Evaluation in China. National Center for Science and Technology Evaluation of China (NCSTE). DLR Projektträger. Bonn, 2019.

Chen, Zhao; Fang, Tony (2016): Chinese Returnees and High-tech Sector Outward FDI: The Case of Changzhou. Discussion Paper No. 10045. Hg. v. Forschungsinstitut zur Zukunft der Arbeit (IZA) (IZA DP No. 10045).

Cheng, Evelyn (2019): China is building a 'comprehensive system' for tracking companies' activities, report says. In: *CNBC* 2019, 03.09.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.cnbc.com/2019/09/04/china-plans-for-corporate-social-credit-system-eu-sinolytics-report.html, zuletzt geprüft am 16.10.2019.

Cheng, Fangfang; van Oort, Frank; Geertman, Stan; Hooimeijer, Pieter (2014): Science Parks and the Co-location of High-tech Small- and Medium-sized Firms in China's Shenzhen. In: *Urban Studies* 51 (Nr. 5), S. 1073–1089.

China Briefing (Hg.) (2018): High-tech Zones in China: National Status for 12 Zones. Online verfügbar unter https://www.china-briefing.com/news/china-high-tech-zones-national-status-for-12-zones/, zuletzt geprüft am 20.10.2019.

China Daily (2017): Beijing awards scholarships to students from Belt and Road countries. In: *China Daily*, 10.05.2017. Online verfügbar unter http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/china/2017-05/10/content\_29281423.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 11.09.2019.

China Special Report: Industrial Parks—China's Vehicles for Manufacturing. (2009). Online verfügbar unter http://www.chinaknowledge.com, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

ChinaPower Project (Hg.) (2017): Is China both a source and hub for international students? Online verfügbar unter https://chinapower.csis.org/china-international-students/, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

ChinaPower Project (Hg.) (2019): Is China leading in global innovation? Center for Strategic & International Studies (CSIS). Online verfügbar unter https://chinapower.csis.org/china-innovation-global-leader/, zuletzt geprüft am 16.09.2019.

Chinese Academy of Science (CAS) (Hg.) (2016): CAS President's International Fellowship Initiative (PIFI). Online verfügbar unter http://english.cas.cn/cooperation/fellowships/201503/t20150313\_145274.shtml, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Chinese Academy of Science (CAS) (Hg.) (2019): China-Germany Sci-Tech Cooperation to Bring More Opportunities. Unter Mitarbeit von Jia Liu. Online verfügbar unter http://english.cas.cn/newsroom/china\_research/201906/t20190603\_211016.shtml, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019. Chipman Koty, Alexander (2019): China's New Foreign Investment Law. Hg. v. China Briefing. Dezan Shira & Associates. Online verfügbar unter https://www.china-briefing.com/news/chinas-new-foreign-investment-law/, zuletzt geprüft am 06.08.2019.

Commerzbank AG (27.05.2019): Neue Commerzbank-Studie: Unternehmen reagieren auf unsichere Rahmenbedingungen bei Internationalisierung. Maximilian Bicker, Bernd Reh. Online verfügbar unter https://www.commerzbank.de/de/hauptnavigation/presse/pressemitteilungen/archiv1/2019/quartal\_19\_02/presse\_archiv\_detail\_19\_02\_81226.html, zuletzt geprüft am 06.08.2019.

Cooperation between China and Central and Eastern European Countries (CEEC) (Hg.) (2019): China-CEEC Cooperation. Online verfügbar unter http://www.china-ceec.org/eng/, zuletzt geprüft am 08.10.2019.

Coym, Julia; Kedl, Kent (2019): Ist Ihr Unternehmen gerüstet? Eine Analyse zu MIC 2025. In: *Märkte der Welt* 2019, 21.03.2019 (Nr. 12).

Cyranoski, David (2019): Artificial intelligence is selecting grant reviewers in China. The tool is already saving time for the country's major grant funding agency. In: *Nature* 569 (Nr. 7756), S. 316–317, zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

Czernich, Nina (2014): Forschung und Entwicklung deutscher Unternehmen im Ausland – Zielländer, Motive und Schwierigkeiten. Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem. Hg. v. Geschäftsstelle der Expertenkommission Forschung und Innovation. Wissenschaftsstatistik GmbH im Stifterverband für die Deutsche Wissenschaft. Berlin (Nr. 13-2014).

d'Hooghe, Ingrid; Wolff, Marijn de; Montulet, Annemarie; Pieke, Frank N. (2018): Eine Bewertung der europäisch-chinesischen Zusammenarbeit im Hochschul- und Forschungssektor. Zusammenfassung. Hg. v. Leiden AsiaCentre und Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS). Leiden, Niederlande, zuletzt geprüft am 06.08.2019.

Defense Intelligence Agency USA (Hg.) (2019): China Military Power. Modernizing a Force to Fight and Win. Online verfügbar unter https://www.dia.mil/Military-Power-Publications/, zuletzt geprüft am 06.08.2019.

Deutsch, Waverly (2019): Don't underestimate China's entrepreneurs—steal them. The US prides itself on innovation, but China is catching up. Hg. v. Chicago Booth Review. Online verfügbar unter https://review.chicagobooth.edu/entrepreneurship/2019/article/don-t-underestimate-china-s-entrepreneurs-steal-them, zuletzt geprüft am 25.09.2019.

Deutsch-Chinesische Plattform Innovation (2019): Im Interview Herr Dr. Pattloch, Mitglied der DCPI-Expertengruppe. Herr Dr. Pattloch spricht über das Cyber Security Law und seine Auswirkungen in China. Interview mit Thomas Pattloch.

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG); Leopoldina Nationale Akademie der Wissenschaften (Hg.) (2014): Wissenschaftsfreiheit und Wissenschaftsverantwortung. Empfehlungen zum Umgang mit sicherheitsrelevanter Forschung.

Deutscher Bundestag (2018): Status quo und Pläne der Bundesregierung zur Verbesserung von Startup- und Gründungsfinanzierungen. Antwort der Bundesregierung auf die Kleine Anfrage der Abgeordneten Dr. Danyal Bayaz, Lisa Paus, Dr. Gerhard Schick, weiterer Abgeordneter und der Fraktion BÜNDNIS 90/DIE GRÜNEN – Drucksache 19/3976 –. Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (DIW) (2019): Forschungsintensive Industrien. Online verfügbar unter https://www.diw.de/de/diw\_01.c.412447.de/presse/glossar/forschungsintensive\_industrie.html, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Deutsches Patent- und Markenamt (DPMA) (2019): Aktuelle Statistiken: Patente. Online verfügbar unter https://www.dpma.de/dpma/veroeffentlichungen/statistiken/patente/index.html, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Deutsches Studentenwerk e.V. (Hg.) (2019): Ausländische Studierende in Deutschland. Der Sonderbericht zu ausländischen Studierenden, die für ein Studium nach Deutschland gekommen sind, zeichnet ein genaues Bild der Studien- und Lebenssituation der aktuell 282.000 Bildungsausländer/innen in Deutschland. Online verfügbar unter https://www.studentenwerke.de/de/content/ausl%C3%A4ndische-studierende-deutschland, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. (2017): Advance EU Access to Financial Incentives for Innovation in China. Fifth ad hoc study Analysis of National High- and New-Technology Zones. FWC FPI/PSF/2015 Lot 4 – Advance EU Access to Financial Incentives for Innovation in China. Hg. v. Europäische Kommission.

DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. (2018): Advance EU Access to Financial Incentives for Innovation in China. Guide for EU Stakeholders on Chinese national STI funding programmes. Hg. v. Europäische Kommission.

DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. (2019a): Funding programmes in Guangdong province. Online verfügbar unter http://chinainnovationfunding.eu/funding-programmes-guangdong-province-2/, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. (2019b): Shanghai's 2019 National High- and New-Technology Enterprise (HNTE) recognition. Online verfügbar unter http://chinainnovationfunding.eu/project/shanghai-2019-hnte-recognition/, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Dezan Shira & Associates (2017): China Regional Focus: Cash Incentives for High-tech Companies in Guangdong Province. Hg. v. Weining Hu. China Briefing. Online verfügbar unter https://www.china-briefing.com/news/china-regional-focus-cash-incentives-for-high-tech-companies-in-guangdong-province/, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

DLR Projektträger (Hg.) (2016): Neue Impulse durch Innovative Öffentliche Beschaffung. Ergebnisbericht zum Workshop im Rahmen des Dialogs zur Stärkung von Synergien zwischen Horizont 2020 und den Europäischen Struktur und Investitionsfonds (ESIF). Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF); Ministerium für Innovation, Wissenschaft und Forschung des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen (MIWF NRW). Bonn.

DLR Projektträger; VDI-TZ (Hg.) (2015): Innovation in China. Berichterstattung zur Forschungs-, Bildungs-, Technologie- und Innovationspolitik weltweit. 10. Schwerpunktausgabe. Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF) (Kooperation International). Online verfügbar unter http://www.kooperation-

international.de/fileadmin/public/downloads/itb/info\_15\_08\_28\_SAG.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Dong, Feng (2019): More foreign-trained Chinese return home to benefit science research. In: *Global Times*, 22.08.2019. Online verfügbar unter http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1162338.shtml, zuletzt geprüft am 27.08.2019.

Dorloff, Axel (2019): Eine Schulnote für jede Firma. Von 2020 an will China auch seine Wirtschaft per Sozialkreditsystem regulieren: Firmen, die gegen Auflagen verstoßen, werden abgewertet. Die meisten ausländischen Unternehmen sind nicht vorbereitet. In: *Tagesschau*, 28.08.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.tagesschau.de/wirtschaft/china-score-system-firmen-101.html, zuletzt geprüft am 16.10.2019.

Duchâtel, Mathieu (2019): China's Flexibility on Display at the Belt and Road Forum. Hg. v. Institut Montaigne. Online verfügbar unter https://www.institutmontaigne.org/en/blog/chinas-flexibility-display-belt-and-road-forum, zuletzt geprüft am 15.10.2019.

Duesterberg, Thomas J. (2018): Chinas Herausforderung in Wirtschaft und Handel an den Westen: Aussichten und Perspektiven aus amerikanisch-deutscher Sicht. Hg. v. Hudson Institute und Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung e. V. Online verfügbar unter https://www.kas.de/c/document\_library/get\_file?uuid=12eff37d-c72c-8431-078f-9ce11500ee40&groupId=252038, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Ebert, Julia; Heublein, Ulrich; Hillmann, Julia; Kercher, Jan (2018): Wissenschaft weltoffen kompakt. Daten und Fakten zur Internationalität von Studium und Forschung in Deutschland. Hg. v. Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) und Deutsches Zentrum für Hochschul- und Wissenschaftsforschung GmbH.

Edquist, Charles; Vonortas, Nicholas S.; Zabala-Iturriagagoitia, Jon Mikel; Edler, Jakob (Hg.) (2015): Public procurement for innovation. Cheltenham UK, Northampton MA: Edward Elgar (EU-SSRI forum on science, technology and innovation policy).

Erling, Johnny (2018): Afrikaner zieht es in die Volksrepublik. In: *Welt*, 20.09.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.welt.de/print/die\_welt/politik/article181593524/Afrikaner-zieht-es-in-die-Volksrepublik.html, zuletzt geprüft am 11.09.2019.

Ernst & Young (Hg.) (2019): Chinesische Unternehmenskäufe in Europa. Eine Analyse von M&A-Deals 2006–2018, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

Europäische Kommission (Hg.) (2019): Copernicus Refernce Data Access (CORDA). Online verfügbar unter

https://corda.eea.europa.eu/\_layouts/15/CustomLoginPageFBA/CustomLogin.aspx?ReturnUrl=%2f\_la youts%2f15%2fAuthenticate.aspx%3fSource%3d%252Fsitepages%252Fhome%252Easpx&Source= %2Fsitepages%2Fhome%2Easpx, zuletzt geprüft am 29.10.2019.

European Chamber of Commerce in China (Hg.) (2019a): Business Confidence Survey 2019. European Business in China. Unter Mitarbeit von Roland Berger. Online verfügbar unter www.europeanchamber.com.cn, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

European Chamber of Commerce in China (Hg.) (2019b): Comparison of Changes to Special Administrative Measures on Access to Foreign Investment (Negative List). Online verfügbar unter http://www.iberchina.org/files/2019/Negative\_List\_for\_Foreign\_Investment\_chn.pdf.

European Chamber of Commerce in China (Hg.) (2019c): The Digital Hand. How China's Corporate Social Credit System Conditions Market Actors. Online verfügbar unter

https://static.europeanchamber.com.cn/upload/documents/documents/The\_Digital\_Hand\_How\_China \_s\_Corporate\_Social\_Credit\_System\_Conditons\_Market\_Actors[709].pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 10.09.2019.

European Commission (Hg.) (2019a): Adequacy decisions. How the EU determines if a non-EU country has an adequate level of data protection. Online verfügbar unter https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/law-topic/data-protection/international-dimension-data-protection/adequacy-decisions\_en, zuletzt geprüft am 01.10.2019.

European Commission (Hg.) (2019b): EU foreign investment screening regulation enters into force. Online verfügbar unter http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/press/index.cfm?id=2008, zuletzt geprüft am 01.10.2019.

European Parliamentary Research Service (2019): EU framework for FDI screening. Online verfügbar unter

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2018/614667/EPRS\_BRI(2018)614667\_EN.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

European Union (Hg.) (2018): Connecting Europe & Asia. The EU Strategy. Online verfügbar unter https://eeas.europa.eu/sites/eeas/files/europe\_asia\_connectivity\_factsheet\_1.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Fägersten, Björn; Rühlig, Tim (2019): China's standard power and its geopolitical implications for Europe. Swedish Institute of International Affairs. Online verfügbar unter https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/ui-publications/2019/ui-brief-no.-2-2019.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 20.10.2019.

Fan, Feifei (2017): Entrepreneurs gain government support. In: *China Daily* 2017, 27.09.2017. Online verfügbar unter http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2017-09/27/content\_32533556.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Fannin, Rebecca (2019): China Rises To 38% of Global Venture Spending In 2018, Nears US Levels. In: *Forbes* 2019, 14.01.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.forbes.com/sites/rebeccafannin/2019/01/14/china-rises-to-38-of-global-venture-spendingin-2018-nears-us-levels/#af52b4f5a5c9, zuletzt geprüft am 15.10.2019.

Felbermayr, Gabriel; Goldbeck, Moritz; Sandkamp, Alexander (2019): Chinas ausländische Direktinvestitionen: Ein Überblick. Kiel Policy Brief. Unter Mitarbeit von Ifo Institut. Hg. v. Institut für Weltwirtschaft (ifW) (Nr. 123). Online verfügbar unter https://www.ifwkiel.de/de/publikationen/kiel-policy-briefs/, zuletzt geprüft am 22.10.2019.

Feng, Emily (2018): China's state-owned venture capital funds battle to make an impact. bstacles to raising and deploying cash might indicate \$1.8tn hoard is overstated 2018, 23.12.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.ft.com/content/4fa2caaa-f9f0-11e8-af46-2022a0b02a6c, zuletzt geprüft am 24.09.2019.

Feng, Wilson (2019): Are You Ready for China's Cybersecurity Law? The Chinese Cybersecurity Law presents an unprecedented challenge to financial institutions with operations in China, as they need to assess their exposure and begin the complex transition, a study of EY reveals. In: *Finews* 2019, 14.02.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.finews.asia/services/advertorials/28230-ey-cybersecurity-wilson-feng-law-china, zuletzt geprüft am 24.09.2019.

Ferchen, Matt; Pieke, Frank N.; van der Putten, Frans-Paul; Hong, Tianmu; de Blécourt, Jurriaan (2018): Assessing China's Influence in Europe through Investments in Technology and Infrastructure. Four Cases. Hg. v. LeidenAsiaCentre. Online verfügbar unter http://leidenasiacentre.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Influence-in-Europe-through-Investments-and-Technology-anf-infra.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Florida, Richard; Hathaway, Ian (2018): Rise of the Global Startup City. The New Map of Entrepreneurship and Venture Capital. Hg. v. Center for American Entrepreneurship (CAE). Online verfügbar unter http://www.startupsusa.org/global-startup-cities/, zuletzt geprüft am 25.09.2019.

Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung ISI; Informationsdienst Wissenschaft (idw) (08.04.2019): Chinas Innovationssystem muss offener werden – das gilt teilweise auch für Deutschland.

Frietsch, Rainer; Neuhäusler, Peter; Karpenstein, Axel; Schüller, Margot; Conlé, Markus; Schüler-Zhou, Yun; Wieczorek, Iris (2018a): Monitoring des Asiatisch-Pazifischen Forschungsraums (APRA) mit Schwerpunkt China Monitoring des Asiatisch-Pazifischen Forschungsraums (APRA) mit Schwerpunkt China. 1. Bericht (2018). Unter Mitarbeit von Fraunhofer ISI, Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) und GIGA. Hg. v. DLR Projektträger. Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF). Bonn (Kooperation International).

Frietsch, Rainer; Rammer, Christian; Astor, Michael; Berger, Marius; Daimer, Stephanie; Hud, Martin et al. (2017): Studie "Schrittweise Erhöhung der FuE-Quote auf bis zu 3,5% des BIP – Instrumente und Auswirkungen auf volks-wirtschaftliche Kennzahlen". Abschlussbericht. Fraunhofer ISI; Prognos; ZEW. Online verfügbar unter

https://www.isi.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/isi/dokumente/ccp/2019/Gesamtbericht\_FuE-Quote.pdf, zuletzt aktualisiert am Januar 2019, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Frietsch, Rainer; Schubert, Torben; Feidenheimer, Alexander; Rammer, Christian (2018b): Innovationsindikator 2018. Hg. v. Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (BDI). Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung (ISI); Zentrum für Europäische Wirtschaftsforschung (ZEW).

Fuest, Clemens; Hugger, Felix; Sultan, Samina; Xing, Jing (2019): Chinese acquisitions abroad: are they different? Hg. v. Munich Society for the Promotion of Economic Research - CESifo GmbH. München (cesifo Working Papers, Nr. 7585). Online verfügbar unter www.CESifo-group.org/wp, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

Gao, Hang; Wit, Hans de (2017): China and International Student Mobility. In: *IHE* (Nr. 90), S. 3–5. Online verfügbar unter https://ejournals.bc.edu/index.php/ihe/article/view/9992/8676, zuletzt geprüft am 22.08.2019.

Gätzner, Stefan (2018): Das Perlflussdelta. Chinas Tor zur Zukunft. In: *Plattform M&A China/Deutschland* 2018 (Februar 2018), S. 12–19, zuletzt geprüft am 22.08.2019.

Geddie, Kate (2015): Policy mobilities in the race for talent: competitive state strategies in international student mobility. In: *Trans Inst Br Geogr* 40 (Nr. 2), S. 235–248. Online verfügbar unter https://rgs-ibg.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/tran.12072.

Gehrke, Birgit; Kerst, Christian; Wieck, Markus; Trommer, Max; Weilage, Insa (2019): Bildung und Qualifikation als Grundlage der technologischen Leistungsfähigkeit Deutschlands 2019. Fortschreibung der Indikatoren mit ergänzenden Analysen zu Hochschulen in privater Trägerschaft und zur Digitalisierung in der betrieblichen Weiterbildung. Hg. v. Expertenkommission Forschung und Innovation (EFI) (Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem, Nr. 1-2019).

Gehrke, Birgit; Schiersch, Alexander (2019): FuE-intensive Industrien und wissensintensive Dienstleistungen im internationalen Vergleich. Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem. Research Report. Unter Mitarbeit von Expertenkommission Forschung und Innovation (EFI). Hg. v. Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung und Center für Wirtschaftspolitische Studien (CWS) (Nr. 6-2019). Online verfügbar unter http://hdl.handle.net/10419/194276, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

General Office of the State Council (国务院办公厅) (2017): 国务院办公厅关于印发自由贸易试验 区外商投资准入特别管理措施(负面清单)(2017 年版)的通知(Bekanntmachung der Generaldirektion des Staatsrates über Sonderverwaltungsmaßnahmen für den Zugang zu ausländischen Investitionen in Freihandelszonen (Negativliste) (Ausgabe 2017). Online verfügbar unter http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2017-06/16/content\_5202973.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 23.10.2019.

German Chamber of Commerce in China (Hg.) (2018): German Business in China. Business Confidence Survey 2018/2019. Bejing. Online verfügbar unter www.china.ahk.de, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

German Chamber of Commerce in China (Hg.) (2019): Flash Survey 2019. German Business in China - Q1 Business Performance & Risks. Beijing, Guangzhou, Shanghai. Online verfügbar unter www.china.ahk.de, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Germany Trade and Invest (GTAI) (Hg.) (2019): China fordert bei künstlicher Intelligenz USA heraus. Online verfügbar unter

https://www.gtai.de/GTAI/Navigation/DE/Trade/Maerkte/suche,t=china-fordert-bei-kuenstlicherintelligenz-usa-heraus,did=2231618.html, zuletzt aktualisiert am 28.02.2019, zuletzt geprüft am 23.09.2019.

Gerybadze, Alexander (2015): Instrumente der Innovationspolitik. Auf dem Weg zu einer neuen Industriepolitik? Hg. v. Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaftlichen Institut. Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Glatter, Joachim (2017): Das rechtliche Umfeld in China bleibt eine Herausforderung. Ausländische Investitionen 2017. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) (MERICS China Monitor), zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Glattner, Joachim (2017): Das rechtliche Umfeld in China bleibt eine Herausforderung. MERICS\_China\_Monitor\_No\_38., Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS). Berlin.

Goodman, Matthew P.; Hillman, Jonathan E. (2019): China's Second Belt and Road Forum. CSIS. Online verfügbar unter https://www.csis.org/analysis/chinas-second-belt-and-road-forum.

Guangzhou International Bio Island (广州国际生物岛) (Hg.) (2019): Bio-Island Introduction. Online verfügbar unter http://www.bio-island.com/en/Park.aspx?c=0201, zuletzt geprüft am 18.10.2019.

Haneman, Thilo und Huotari, Mikko (2018): EU-CHINA FDI: Working towards reciprocity in investment relations. MERICS PAPERS ON CHINA Update. Hg. v. Merics (No 3), zuletzt geprüft am 18.10.2019.

Hanemann, Thilo; Huotari, Mikko (2018): EU-China FDI: Working towards Reciprocity in Investment Relations. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) (Merics Papers on China, Nr. 3).

Hanemann, Thilo; Huotari, Mikko; Kratz, Agatha (2019): Chinese FDI in Europe: 2018 Trends and Impact of New Screening Policies. Hg. v. Rhodium Group (RHG) und Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS). Berlin.

Hans-Böckler-Stiftung (Hg.) (2017): Chinesische Investitionen 2016. Erfahrungen von Mitbestimmungsakteuren (Mitbestimmungsreport, Nr. 37).

Harvard Fairbank Center for Chinese Studies (2019): Can we live with China? 2019 Neuhauser Memorial Lecture with Susan Thronton. Podcast. Online verfügbar unter https://soundcloud.com/fairbank-center/can-we-live-with-china-2019-neuhauser-memorial-lecturewith-susan-thornton, zuletzt geprüft am 28.10.2019.

Haug, Christian (2019): Smart Factory in China. Chancen für deutsche Mittelständler. In: Investment Plattform China/Deutschland (Hg.): Neue Seidenstraße. Hochgesteckte Pläne und einsetzende Skepsis (Nr. 3), S. 42–45.

Hauptfachstelle des Ministeriums für Wissenschaft und Technologie (科学技术部重大专项办公室); Entwicklungs- und Reformkommission, Abteilung Hochtechnologieindustrie (发展和改革委员会高 技术产业司); Ministerium für Finanzen und Wissenschaft (财政部科教司) (Hg.) (2017): 国家科技重 大专项 2016 年度报告 (Bericht des nationalen Großprojekts für Wissenschaft und Technologie 2016), zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Heilmann, Sebastian; Melton, Oliver (2013): The Reinvention of Development Planning in China, 1993–2012. Development "Planning" in Present-Day China—System, Process, and Mechanism: Dialogues among Western and Chinese Scholars. In: *Modern China* 39 (Nr. 6), S. 580–628.

Heilmann, Sebastian; Shih, Lea; Hofen, Andreas (2013): National Planning and Local Technology Zones: Experimental Governance in China's Torch Programme. In: *The China Quarterly* (Nr. 216), S. 896–919.

Heublein, Ulrich; Hillmann, Julia; Hutzsch, Christopher; Kammüller, Susanne; Kercher, Jan; Kracht Arajulo, Julia; Schäfer, Christian (2019): Wissenschaft weltoffen 2019. Daten und Fakten zur Internationalität von Studium und Forschung in Deutschland. Fokus: Studienland Deutschland – Motive und Erfahrungen internationaler Studierender. Hg. v. Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) und Deutsches Zentrum für Hochschul- und Wissenschaftsforschung GmbH.

Hoyt, Jessica (2017): Top Accelerators and Incubators in China. In: *Globig*, 05.01.2017. Online verfügbar unter https://globig.co/blog/top-accelerators-and-incubators-in-china/, zuletzt geprüft am 24.09.2019.

Hu Yongqi (2018): New zones to boost innovation. In: *China Daily*, 27.02.2018. Online verfügbar unter http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201802/27/WS5a949658a3106e7dcc13e331.html, zuletzt geprüft am 15.10.2019.

Huang, Can; Sharif, Naubahar (2016): Global technology leadership: The case of China. In: *Science and Public Policy* 43 (Nr. 1), S. 62–73.

Huang, Fiona (2019): Chinese accelerators & incubators (Innovation works, legendstar...). In: *Entrepreneur Handbook*, 01.09.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://entrepreneurhandbook.co.uk/chinese-accelerators/, zuletzt geprüft am 24.09.2019.

Huang, Futao (2018): China: Quality defcit belies the hype. In: *Nature Index*, 24.12.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.natureindex.com/news-blog/china-quality-deficit-belies-the-hype, zuletzt geprüft am 28.10.2019.

Ifo Institut (Hg.) (2018): ifo Schnelldienst (71. Jhg., Nr. 14).

INS Global Expansion Simplified (Hg.) (2018): Forschungs- und Entwicklungsunternehmen in China gründen. Online verfügbar unter https://ins-globalconsulting.com/de/fue-unternehmen-gruenden-china/, zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Institute for Security & Development Policy (ISDP) (2019): Made in China 2025. In: *Institute for Security & Development Policy (ISDP)* 2019, 06.2019. Online verfügbar unter http://isdp.eu/publication/made-china-2025/, zuletzt geprüft am 14.10.2019.

International Association of Public Transport (UITP) (Hg.) (2017): ZeEUS eBus Report #2. An updated overview of electric buses in Europe. Europäische Kommission.

Investment Plattform China / Deutschland (Hg.) (2019a): Autos bauen mit 5G. China Investment Media GmbH. Online verfügbar unter https://www.investmentplattformchina.de/autos-bauen-mit-5g/, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

Investment Plattform China / Deutschland (Hg.) (2019b): Siemens setzt auf Forschung in China. China Investment Media GmbH. Online verfügbar unter https://www.investmentplattformchina.de/siemens-setzt-auf-forschung-in-china/, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

Islam, Mahamoud (2019): Was hinter Belt and Road steckt. In: Märkte der Welt, 07.03.2019 (Nr. 10).

Jia, Hepeng (2018): China's plan to recruit talented researchers. In: *Nature*, 17.01.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-018-00538-z, zuletzt geprüft am 25.09.2019.

Jing, Meng (2018): Zhongguancun: Beijing's innovation hub is at the centre of China's aim to become a tech powerhouse. In: *South China Morning Post*, 13.11.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/tech/start-ups/article/2172713/zhongguancun-beijings-innovation-hub-centre-chinas-aim-become-tech, zuletzt geprüft am 24.09.2019.

Jing, Meng (2019a): For a growing number of Chinese students, the doors to America are closing. In: *South China Morning Post*, 30.04.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/tech/article/3008128/growing-number-chinese-students-doors-america-are-closing, zuletzt geprüft am 25.10.2019.

Jing, Meng (2019b): China's top talent now wants to work for rising domestic tech stars, not big brand multinationals. In: *South China Morning Post*, 21.06.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/tech/policy/article/3015377/chinas-top-talent-now-wants-work-rising-domestic-tech-stars-not-big?utm\_source=CSIS%20All&utm\_campaign=8c15529717-EMAIL\_CAMPAIGN\_2018\_11\_08\_05\_05\_COPY\_01&utm\_medium=email&utm\_term=0\_f326fc46 b6-8c15529717-222120269, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

Jungbluth, Cora (2016): Chance und Herausforderung. Chinesische Direktinvestitionen in Deutschland. GED Studie. Hg. v. Global Economic Dynamics (GED). Bertelsmann Stiftung.

Jungbluth, Cora (2018): Kauft China systematisch Schlüsseltechnologien auf? Chinesische Firmenbeteiligungen in Deutschland im Kontext von "Made in China 2025". GED Studie. Hg. v. Global Economic Dynamics (GED). Bertelsmann Stiftung.

Jung-Grimm, Andrea (2019): 16+1 Gipfeltreffen: China-Euphorie in Dubrovnik. In: *Deutsche Welle* 2019, 13.04.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.dw.com/de/161-gipfeltreffen-china-euphorie-in-dubrovnik/a-48313303, zuletzt geprüft am 20.09.2019.

Kaufmann, Peter et al. (2019): Evaluation des Zentralen Innovationsprogramms Mittelstand (ZIM). Richtlinie 2015 Endbericht. Hg. v. KMU Forschung Austria.

Keagan, Matthew (2018): Shenzhen's silent revolution: world's first fully electric bus fleet quietens Chinese megacity. In: *The Guardian*, 12.12.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2018/dec/12/silence-shenzhen-world-first-electric-bus-fleet, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

Kessler, Florian; Blöchl, Jost (2018): So wirkt Chinas Gesetz für Cybersecurity. Betroffen sind alle. Vor allem ausländische Unternehmen müssen Strategien entwickeln, damit umzugehen. Deutsches Institut für Vertrauen und Sicherheit im Internet. 22.08.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.divsi.de/so-wirkt-chinas-gesetz-fuer-cybersecurity/, zuletzt geprüft am 28.10.2019.

KPMG (2019): Greater Bay Area Update. Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

KPMG; HKGCC (2017): The Greater Bay Area Initiative. A survey on key drivers for success.

KPMG Enterprise (Hg.) (2019): Venture Pulse Q2 2019. Global Analysis of Venture Funding. KPMG Enterprise.

Kroll, Henning (2019): Förderstrukturen in der Grundlagenforschung basierend auf Daten der DFG. Hg. v. Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung (ISI) (Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem, Nr. 7-2019).

Kroymann, Benjamin (2019): Neue Hürden für chinesische Investoren. In: *ChinaContact* (Nr. 03/04), S. 22–23, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Kunze, Frederik; Windels, Torsten (2018): Chinas Aufstieg als Herausforderung – historischer Perspektivenwechsel kann die Debatte bereichern. In: Ifo Institut (Hg.): ifo Schnelldienst, Bd. 71 (71. Jhg., Nr. 14), S. 3–6.

Kunze, Frederik et al. (2018): »Made in China 2025«: Technologietransfer und Investitionen in ausländische Hochtechnologiefirmen - Chinas Weg zum Konkurrenten um die Zukunftstechnologien. In: *ifo Schnelldienst* 71 (Nr. 14).

LABO (2018): Kompetenzzentrum in Guangzhou. Merck will Innovation Hub in Südchina errichten. Online verfügbar unter https://www.labo.de/news/guangzhou--merck-will-neues-innovation-hub-in-china-errichten.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Le Corre, Philippe; Sepulchre, Alain (2016): China's Offensive in Europe. New York: Brookings Institution Press.
Leszczensky, Michael; Helmrich, Robert; Frietsch, Rainer (2008): Bildung und Qualifikation als Grundlage der technologischen Leistungsfähigkeit Deutschlands. Bericht des Konsortiums "Bildungsindikatoren und technologische Leistungsfähigkeit". Unter Mitarbeit von Fatma Ebcinoglu, Christoph Heine, Ulrich Heublein, Christian Kerst, Hildegard Schaeper, Manuel Schandock et al. Hg. v. Geschäftsstelle der Expertenkommission Forschung und Innovation (EFI) (Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem, Nr. 8-2008).

Li, Feng; Tang, Li (2019): When international mobility meets local connections: Evidence from China. In: *Science and Public Policy* 46 (Nr. 4), S. 518–529.

Liu, Huifeng; Zhu, Yingchun; Chen, Yu; Wu, Da (2018): Statistical Analysis of Features of China's Enterprise Innovation Activity. Based on the 2017 data on Chinese Enterprise Innovation Survey. Hg. v. Centre for Science and Technology Studies (CWTS), Leiden University. Chinese Academy of S&T for Development.

Liu Jiuru (刘九如); Xiong Wei(熊伟) et al. (2015): 创新力场 Innovating Fields. 中关村软件园的发展探索 ZPark Evolution. Bejing: 电子工业出版社, zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Löchel, Horst (2018): Ein Gespenst geht um in Europa – das Gespenst »Made in China 2025«. In: Ifo Institut (Hg.): ifo Schnelldienst (71. Jhg., Nr. 14), S. 9–11.

Loesekrug-Pietri, André (2017): Davos will mark a crowning moment for Xi's China, as Europe faces a new world axis. In: *South China Morning Post* 2017, 15.01.2017. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/comment/insight-opinion/article/2061960/davos-will-mark-crowning-moment-xis-china-europe-faces-new, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Loesekrug-Pietri, André (2019): EU braucht eine strategische Antwort auf China. Gastkommentar. In: *Handelsblatt* 2019, 22.04.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.handelsblatt.com/meinung/gastbeitraege/gastkommentar-die-eu-braucht-eine-strategische-antwort-auf-china-/24242620.html?ticket=ST-3893102-ekVEKreIIkGgnkByi7gE-ap5, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Löfsten, Hans; Lindelöf, Peter (2005): R&D networks and product innovation patterns—academic and non-academic new technology-based firms on Science Parks. In: *Technovation* 25 (Nr. 9), S. 1025–1037. DOI: 10.1016/j.technovation.2004.02.007.

Mair, Stefan; Strack, Friedolin; Schaff, Ferdinand (2019): BDI-Grundsatzpapier China. Partner und systemischer Wettbewerber – Wie gehen wir mit Chinas staatlich gelenkter Volkswirtschaft um? Bundesverband der Deutschen Industrie e.V. (BDI). Berlin, zuletzt geprüft am 07.08.2019.

Masood, Ehsan (2019): South Asia's Pivot towards China. In: Nature 569 (Nr. 7754), S. 24-27.

Max Planck Gesellschaft (2019): Zahlen und Fakten. Hg. v. Max Planck Gesellschaft. Online verfügbar unter https://www.mpg.de/zahlen\_fakten, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

McBridge, James; Chatzky, Andrew (2019): Is 'Made in China 2025' a Threat to Global Trade? Hg. v. Council on Foreign Relations. Online verfügbar unter https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/made-china-2025-threat-global-trade, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

McKinsey Global Institute (Hg.) (2015): The China Effect on Global Innovation. October 2015.

Meister, Michael (2019): "Wichtige Ergänzung im Portfolio der Forschungsförderung". taatssekretär Michael Meister hat die jüngst auch für Deutschland im Kabinett beschlossene steuerliche Forschungsförderung gelobt. "Den Wettbewerbsnachteil gegenüber den meisten anderen OECD-Mitgliedsstaaten werden wir jetzt ausgleichen", sagte er. Hg. v. Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF). Online verfügbar unter https://www.bmbf.de/de/wichtige-ergaenzung-importfolio-der-forschungsfoerderung-8801.html, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Merck (2019): Merck Innovation Center China Programme. Unter Mitarbeit von Merck Group. Online verfügbar unter https://www.merckgroup.com/en/research/innovation-center/accelerator/china-program.html, zuletzt geprüft am 18.08.2019.

Mervis, Jeffrey (2019): When Europeans do science in China 2019, 11.09.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2019/09/when-europeans-do-science-china, zuletzt geprüft am 21.10.2019.

Mildner, Stormy-Annika; Schmucker, Claudia (2019): Making America Great Again versus Made in China. The US Geo-Economic Rivalry with China. DGAP Analyse. Hg. v. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Auswärtige Politik (DGAP) (Nr. 2), zuletzt geprüft am 12.08.2019.

Ministry of Commerce (中华人民共和国商务部) (Hg.) (2008): 国家重点支持的高新技术领域 (Vom Staat unterstützte Hightech-Felder). Online verfügbar unter http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/aarticle/bh/200805/20080505534363.html, zuletzt geprüft am 26.10.2019.

Ministry of Commerce (中华人民共和国商务部) (Hg.) (2019): **外商投**资准入特别管理措施 (负面 清单) (2019 年版) (Spezielle Managementmaßnahmen für den Zugang zu ausländischen Investitionen (Negativliste) (Ausgabe 2019)), zuletzt geprüft am 15.10.2019.

Ministry of Education (2019): Statistical report on international students in China for 2018. Online verfügbar unter http://en.moe.gov.cn/news/press\_releases/201904/t20190418\_378586.html, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Ministry of Education (中华人民共和国教育部); National Development and Reform Commission ( 国家发展改革委员会) (2012): 教育部,国家发展改革委关于下达 2012 年全国研究生招生计划的 通知 (Bekanntmachung über den Zulassungsplan für Masterstudierende und Doktoranten 2012) (教发 , 5). Online verfügbar unter http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2012-05/18/content\_2140535.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 24.10.2019.

Ministry of Finance (中华人民共和国财政部); Ministry of Science and Technology (**科技部**); National Development and Reform Commission (发改委) (Hg.) (2017): 财政部 **科技部** 发展改革委 关于印发《国家科技重大专项(民口)资金管理办法》的通知 (Mitteilung des Finanzministeriums und des Ministeriums für Wissenschaft und Technologie, Entwicklungs- und Reformkommission für den Druck und die Verteilung der Maßnahmen zur Verwaltung der Fonds für Mega-Projekte). Online verfügbar unter http://www.nmp.gov.cn/zcwj/201707/t20170707\_5264.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) (Hg.) (2017): China Science and Technology Development Report 2017 (Zhongguo kexue jishu fazhan baogao 2017). 19. Aufl. Unter Mitarbeit von Jing Xu, Zhijian Hu, Jian Yu und Xin Lin. Peking.

Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) (Hg.) (2018): China Science and Technology Indicators 2016 (The Yellow Book on Science and Technology, Nr. 13), zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

Minzner, Carl (2018): End of an era. How China's authoritarian revival is undermining its rise. Oxford, New York, NY: Oxford University Press, zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

Molnar, Margit; Wang, Boqing; Gao, Ruidong (2015): Assessing China's skills gap and inequalities in education. Hg. v. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (ECONOMICS DEPARTMENT WORKING PAPERS, No. 1220). Online verfügbar unter https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/5js1j1805czs-en.pdf?expires=1566975414&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=1308A5525B80A45035F42A0A811 21163, zuletzt geprüft am 28.08.2019.

Monck, Charles S.; Porter, R. B.; Quintas, P.; Storey, D. J.; Wynarczyk, P. (1988): Science parks and the growth of high technology firms. London: Croom Helm.

MOST; MOF; SAT (29.01.2016): The Administrative Measures for Recognition of High and New Technology Enterprise. Guokefahuo [2016].

Müchler, Benno; Sun, Yiting (2014): Von China lernen. In: *Deutschlandfunk*, 10.05.2014. Online verfügbar unter https://www.deutschlandfunk.de/ausgewanderte-afrikaner-von-china-lernen.799.de.html?dram:article\_id=285005.

Müller, Giorgio V. (2019): Ein EU-Gesetz mausert sich zum globalen Standard. Die Datenschutz-Grundverordnung (DSGVO) der EU wird von international operierenden Firmen zunehmend in allen Ländern angewandt. Auf diese Weise entwickelt sich das neue europäische Datenschutzgesetz zu einem globalen Standard. In: *Neue Zürcher Zeitung*, 28.01.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.nzz.ch/wirtschaft/ein-eu-gesetz-mausert-sich-zum-globalen-standard-ld.1455296, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Müller-Jung, Joachim (2019): Zwei Drachentöter und ein güldener Pfad. Chinas neue Macht, Deutschlands neue Innovationskultur: Ein Gespräch mit Max-Planck-Chef Martin Stratmann und Fraunhofer-Präsident Reimund Neugebauer. In: *Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung*, 12.06.2019 (Nr. 134), N4, zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

Murphy, Matthew; Yu, Xia (2019): China's Updated High and New-Technology Enterprise Program. MMLC Group. HG.org Legal Resources. Online verfügbar unter https://www.hg.org/legal-articles/china-s-updated-high-and-new-technology-enterprise-program-37911, zuletzt geprüft am 08.10.2019.

National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBS) (2019): National Data. Online verfügbar unter http://data.stats.gov.cn/english/easyquery.htm?cn=E0103, zuletzt geprüft am 20.08.2019.

National Center for Science and Technology Evaluation of China (2019): Introduction of National S&T Major Project Evaluation in China, 04.2019.

National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) (2016): The 13th Five-Year Plan for Economic and Social Development of the People's Republic of China (2016-2020). Fundstelle: http://en.ndrc.gov.cn/newsrelease/. In: Central Compilation & Translation Press, zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

National People's Congress (2019): Foreign Investment Law of the People's Republic of China. Order of the President of the People's Republic of China No. 26. Online verfügbar unter http://www.fdi.gov.cn/1800000121\_39\_4872\_0\_7.html.

Nationale Entwicklungs- und Reformkommission (国家发展和改革委员会) (Hg.) (2008): 珠江三角 洲地区改革发展规划纲要 (2008-2020 年) (Grundriß des Reform- und Entwicklungsplans der Pearl River Delta Region 2008-2020), zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

NRW.Invest (Hg.) (2019): ZCC Cutting Tools Europe expandiert mit Test- und Demonstrationszentrum in Düsseldorf. Online verfügbar unter https://www.nrwinvest.com/de/ueber-uns/pressemitteilungen/detail/news/detail/News/zcc-cutting-tools-europe-expandiert-mit-test-und-demonstrationszentrum-in-duesseldorf-1/, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

Nurutdinova, A. (2012): Future Research of Science Parks and Incubators: overall analyses. In: *International Journal of Advanced Studies* 2 (Nr. 1), S. 1–11. Online verfügbar unter https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-315577, zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

o.A. (2018): More Chinese students study abroad. In: *Xinhua*, 30.03.2018. Online verfügbar unter http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2018-03/30/c\_137077465.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 27.08.2019.

o.A. (2019): Dragons, disrupted. Chinese companies abroad. In: *The Economist* 27.04.2019, 27.04.2019, S. 53–55.

OECD: OECD.Stat. Online verfügbar unter https://stats.oecd.org/, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

OECD (2017): Public procurement for Innovation. Good practices and strategies. Paris: OECD Publishing (OECD public governance reviews), zuletzt geprüft am 09.08.2019.

OECD (Hg.) (2019a): Adult education level. Below upper secondary / Tertiary / Upper secondary, % of 25-64 year-olds, 2018. Online verfügbar unter https://data.oecd.org/eduatt/adult-education-level.htm#indicator-chart, zuletzt geprüft am 28.10.2019.

OECD (Hg.) (2019b): Main Science and Technology Indicators. Online verfügbar unter https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=MSTI\_PUB, zuletzt aktualisiert am 2019, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Pattloch, Thomas (2017): Auswirkungen des aktuellen chinesischen "Cyber-Rechts" auf grenzüberschreitende Forschung und Forschungskooperationen. In: DLR Projektträger (Hg.): Deutsch-Chinesische Plattform Innovation. Policy Briefs 2017 der deutschen Expertengruppe (Policy Brief), S. 24–27.

Pattloch, Thomas (2018): Update zum Cyber Security Law in China. Deutsch-Chinesische Plattform Innovation. Online verfügbar unter https://www.plattforminnovation.de/files/Update%20zum%20CSL%20in%20China%20Layout-Pattloch.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Petino, Alessio (2019): Fourth Ad Hoc Study European researchers' mobility in China: challenges and opportunities. Improving EU Access to National and Regional Financial Incentives for Innovation in China. FWC FPI/PSF/2015 Lot 4. Unter Mitarbeit von EURAXESS China. Hg. v. DEVELOPMENT Solutions Europe Ltd. Online verfügbar unter http://chinainnovationfunding.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/4-European-Researchers-Mobility-in-China-Challenges-and-Opportunities.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 12.08.2019.

Pharma Boardroom (Hg.) (2018): Healthcare and Lifescience Review: Greater Bay Area Guangdong -Hongkong - Macao. From Factory Floor to Silicon Delta. PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) (2015): Wirtschaftspartner China. Die Zusammenarbeit aus Sicht deutscher Unternehmen.

Publications Office of the European Union (Hg.) (2019): China - Challenges and prospects from an industrial and innovation powerhouse. Unter Mitarbeit von Joint Research Centre (JRC).

Reinecke, Antonia; Schmerer, Hans-Jörg (2018): »Made in China 2025« – von der »Werkbank der Welt« zum Hochtechnologieführer? In: Ifo Institut (Hg.): ifo Schnelldienst, Bd. 71 (71. Jhg., Nr. 14), S. 12–14, zuletzt geprüft am 15.08.2019.

Reisach, Ulrike (2017): Die Digitale Transformation Chinas – eine Herausforderung für Deutschland? In: DLR Projektträger (Hg.): Deutsch-Chinesische Plattform Innovation. Policy Briefs 2017 der deutschen Expertengruppe, Bd. 2018 (Policy Brief), S. 38–44. Online verfügbar unter https://www.plattform-innovation.de/files/PolicyBrief\_2018\_final-5.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 12.08.2019.

Rödl&Partner (Hg.) (2018): Investitionsführer China. Rahmenbedingungen für Investitionen. Horizonte erweitern.

Rohde, Roland (2019a): Konkurrenz zu San Francisco und Tokio. In: *Märkte der Welt* 2019, 04.04.2019 (Nr. 14), S. 15.

Rohde, Roland (2019b): Wirklich ein Überflieger? Abhängigkeit von ausländischen Zulieferungen bleibt sehr hoch. Digitalisierung. In: *Märkte der Welt* (Nr. 19), S. 8.

Roussi, Antoaneta (2019): China charts a path into European science. As the Belt and Road Initiative spreads to central and eastern Europe, China's investments in research and technology are raising concerns in the West. In: *Nature* 2019, 08.05.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.nature.com/immersive/d41586-019-01126-5/index.html, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Rubio, Marco (2019): Made in China 2025 and the Future of the American Industry. Project for Strong Labor Markets and National Development. Unter Mitarbeit von U.S. Senate Committee on Small Business & Entrepreneurship. Online verfügbar unter https://www.rubio.senate.gov/public/\_cache/files/d1c6db46-1a68-481a-b96e-356c8100f1b7/3EDECA923DB439A8E884C6229A4C6003.02.12.19-final-sbc-project-mic2025report.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Schaupp, Markus; Eßig, Michael (2018): Erfassung des aktuellen Standes der innovativen öffentlichen Beschaffung in Deutschland 2018 – Darstellung der wichtigsten Ergebnisse. Hg. v. Kompetenzzentrum innovative Beschaffung des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Energie (KOINNO), Forschungszentrum für Recht und Management öffentlicher Beschaffung (Universität der Bundewehr München) (FoRMöB) und Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Energie.

Schefczyk, Michael (2015): Wagniskapital für innovative Unternehmen. Bestandsaufnahme und Handlungsoptionen (WISO direkt, 33/2015).

Scheil, Jörg-Michael (2019): Viele Fragen bleiben unbeantwortet. In: *ChinaCompact* (Nr. 03/04), S. 30–31.

Schmitt, Stefanie; Abele, Corinna (2019): Investitionschancen und -risiken in China. Hg. v. Germany Trade and Invest (GTAI). Online verfügbar unter

https://www.gtai.de/GTAI/Navigation/DE/Trade/Maerkte/Trends/Investitionschancen/Land-China/trend-land-china.html, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Schuman, Michael (2016): Venture Communism. How China is building a Start-up Boom. In: *New York Times* 2016, 03.09.2016. Online verfügbar unter https://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/04/business/international/venture-communism-how-china-is-building-a-start-up-boom.html, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

SCIPING (科塔学术) (2019): 科塔学术. Online verfügbar unter https://www.sciping.com/, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Secretary for Constitutional and Mainland Affairs (Hg.) (2019): Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. Online verfügbar unter https://www.bayarea.gov.hk/en/outline/plan.html, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Shaton, Marcel; Lehmann, Axel; Pando, Eva; Vicini, Isella; Cincera, Michele (2017): Interim Evaluation of the Eurostars-2 Joint Programme. Hg. v. Europäische Kommission.

Shi-Kupfer, Kristin; Ohlberg, Mareike (2019): China's Digital Rise. Challenges for Europe. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) (Merics Papers on China, Nr. 7).

Siegel, Donald S.; Westhead, Paul; Wright, Mike (2003): Science parks and the performance of new technology-based firms: A review of recent U.K. evidence and an agenda for future research. In: *Small Business Economics* 20 (Nr. 2), S. 177–184.

Sieren, Frank (2019): Sierens China: Trügerische Zahlen. Kolumne. Hg. v. Deutsche Welle. Online verfügbar unter https://www.dw.com/de/sierens-china-tr%C3%BCgerische-zahlen/a-49631896, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Sigurdson, Jon (2004): China Becoming a Technological Superpower. A Narrow Window of Opportunity. Working Paper No 194. Stockholm (Stockholm School of Economics, The European Institute of Japanese Studies). Online verfügbar unter https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/7092081.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Soo, Zen; Deng, Iris (2019): Does top-down, state-led innovation work? Just ask Silicon Valley. In: *South China Morning Post*, 15.06.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/tech/start-ups/article/3014541/does-top-down-state-led-innovation-work-just-ask-silicon-valley, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Specht, Robert (2018): Chinas Cybersecurity-Gesetz. Deine Daten sind meine Daten. Hg. v. KPMG. Online verfügbar unter https://klardenker.kpmg.de/chinas-cybersecurity-gesetz-deine-daten-sind-meine-daten/, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Stapleton, Katherine (2017): Inside the world's largest higher education boom. Hg. v. The Conversation Trust (UK) Limited. Online verfügbar unter http://theconversation.com/inside-the-worlds-largest-higher-education-boom-74789, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

State Council of the People's Republic of China (Hg.) (2015a): 国务院关于印发统筹推进世界一流 大学和一流学科建设总体方案的通知 (Bekanntmachung des Staatsrates über den Druck und Verteilung des Programms zur Förderung des Aufbaus erstklassiger Universitäten und Disziplinen) ( 国发〔2015]64 号). Online verfügbar unter http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2015-11/05/content\_10269.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 19.10.2019. State Council of the People's Republic of China (Hg.) (2015b): Notice of the State Council on Printing and Distributing the "China Manufacturing 2025" (No. 28).

State Council of the People's Republic of China (2015c): Made in China 2025 《中国制造 2025》. Übersetzung durch IoT One.

State Council of the People's Republic of China (Hg.) (2019): 国务院关于印发国家职业教育改革实施方案的通知 (Bekanntmachung des Staatsrates über den Druck und die Verteilung des Programms der nationalen Berufsbildungsreform 2019)(国发, 04). Online verfügbar unter http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2019-02/13/content\_5365341.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 19.10.2019.

State Intellectual Property Office of the People's Republic of China (SIPO) (2018): 2017 SIPO Annual Report.

Statistisches Bundesamt (2019): Personal in Forschung und Entwicklung nach Sektoren -Vollzeitäquivalent-. Forschung und Entwicklung. Hg. v. Stifterverband Wissenschaftsstatistik. Online verfügbar unter https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Bildung-Forschung-Kultur/Forschung-Entwicklung/Tabellen/personal-forschung-entwicklung.html, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Stepan, Matthias; Frenzel, Andrea; Hoffmann, Marie; Ives, Jaqueline (2018): China kennen, China können. Ausgangspunkte für den Ausbau von China-Kompetenz in Deutschland. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (Merics Papers on China). Online verfügbar unter https://www.merics.org/sites/default/files/2018-

05/MERICS\_China\_Monitor\_45\_China\_kennen\_China\_koennen.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Stifterverband (Hg.) (2019): a:r ən 'di: Zahlenwerk 2019. Forschung und Entwicklung in der Wirtschaft. Online verfügbar unter https://www.stifterverband.org/arendi-zahlenwerk\_2019, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Stiglitz, Joseph E.; Greenwald, Bruce C. N. (2015): Die innovative Gesellschaft. Wie Fortschritt gelingt und warum grenzenloser Freihandel die Wirtschaft bremst. 2. Auflage.

Strack, Friedolin (2017): Die Sicht der deutschen Industrie auf chinesische Hochtechnologie-Investitionen in Deutschland. In: DLR Projektträger (Hg.): Deutsch-Chinesische Plattform Innovation. Policy Briefs 2017 der deutschen Expertengruppe (Policy Brief), S. 14–18.

Strack, Friedolin (2018): Cybersicherheit – Herausforderungen für Regulierer und Unternehmen. Das Cybersicherheitsgesetz in China aus Sicht der deutschen Industrie. In: DLR Projektträger (Hg.): Deutsch-Chinesische Plattform Innovation. Policy Briefs 2018 der deutschen Expertengruppe (Policy Brief), S. 45–49.

Stresing, Christopf J.; Bolits, Martin A.; Dahmann, Attila; Parsons, Clars; Styma, Felix; Fuest, Klaus et al. (2018): Treibstoff Venture Capital. Wie wir Innovation und Wachstum befeuern. Hg. v. Bundesverband Deutscher Kapitalbeteiligungsgesellschaften e.V. (BVK), Internet Economy Foundation (IE.F) und Roland Berger GmbH.

Sun Yutao (孙玉涛) et al. (2019): 中国研发经费报告 2018 (Report on China R&D Expenditure 2018). Hg. v. Dalian University of Technology (大连理工大学).

Tan, Justin (2006): Growth of industry clusters and innovation. Lessons from Beijing Zhongguancun Science Park. In: *Journal of Business Venturing* 21 (Nr. 6), S. 827–850.

Taube, Markus (2018a): Chinesische Guerilla-Politik bei Innovation und Produktentwicklung. In: *Policy Brief der Deutsch-Chinesischen Plattform Innovation*, S. 22–27. Online verfügbar unter https://www.plattform-innovation.de/files/PolicyBrief\_2018\_final-5.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 08.10.2019.

Taube, Markus (2018b): Chinas Streben nach Zukunftstechnologien – partnerschaftliches Agieren von Staat und Unternehmertum als Erfolgsgeheimnis. In: Ifo Institut (Hg.): ifo Schnelldienst (71. Jhg., Nr. 14), S. 17–20.

The American Chamber of Commerce in the People's Republic of China (Hg.) (2019): 2019 China Business Climate Survey Report (2019 中国商务环境调查报告).

Tian An Cyber Park (2019): Introduction of the Group. Online verfügbar unter http://en.tianan-cyber.com/AboutUs/, zuletzt geprüft am 18.10.2019.

Times Higher Education (2019): The World University Rankings. Online verfügbar unter https://www.timeshighereducation.com/world-university-rankings, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Torch High Technology Industry Development Center, Ministry of Science & Technology (科技部火 炬高技术产业开发中心) (Hg.) (2018): 中国火炬统计年鉴 (China Torch Statistical Yearbook). China Statistics Press (中国统计出版社).

Tse, Edward (2016): The Rise of Entrepreneurship in China. In: *Forbes* 2016, 05.04.2016. Online verfügbar unter https://www.forbes.com/sites/tseedward/2016/04/05/the-rise-of-entrepreneurship-in-china/#53f5a2123efc, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Tse, Edward (2019): How US trade war and other efforts to thwart China's rise have actually accelerated its reform and innovation. In: *South China Morning Post*, 04.02.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/comment/insight-opinion/united-states/article/2184681/how-us-trade-war-and-other-efforts-thwart, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Tsinghua University (2019): About Tsinghua x-Lab. Tsinghua University. Online verfügbar unter http://www.x-lab.tsinghua.edu.cn/en/, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

UK Trade & Investment; China-Britain Business Council (Hg.): MADE IN CHINA 2025. China Manufacturing in the 21st Century - Opportunities for UK-China Partnership. London, zuletzt geprüft am 12.08.2019.

Umback, Rick (2019): Huawei and Telefunken. Communications enterprises and rising power strategies. Strategic Insights. Hg. v. Australian Strategic Policy Institute (ASPI) (135).

UNESCO (2019a): Science Parks around the World. Science Policy and Capacity-Building. Online verfügbar unter http://www.unesco.org/new/en/natural-sciences/science-technology/university-industry-partnerships/science-parks-around-the-world/, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

UNESCO (2019b): Science, Technology and Innovation. Germany. Online verfügbar unter http://uis.unesco.org/en/country/de?theme=science-technology-and-innovation, zuletzt geprüft am 01.10.2019.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2018): World Investment Report 2018. Investment and new industrial policies. New York, Geneva (United Nations publication).

United Nations (UN) (2019): UN Comtrade Database. Online verfügbar unter https://comtrade.un.org/, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

van Essen, Christi (2007): The Development and Diversity of Science parks in China: Three Cases. Hg. v. Erasmus University RSM.

Veugelers, Reinhilde (2017): The challenge of China's rise as a science and technology powerhouse. Hg. v. Bruegel (Policy Contribution, Nr. 19). Online verfügbar unter https://bruegel.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/07/PC-19-2017.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 10.10.2019.

Wakabayashi, Daisuke (2018): California Passes Sweeping Law to Protect Online Privacy. In: *New York Times* 2018, 28.06.2018. Online verfügbar unter https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/28/technology/california-online-privacy-law.html?module=inline, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Wang, Mark; Meng, Xiaochen (2003): "Building nests to attract birds". China's hi-tech zones and their impacts on transition from low-skill to high-value added process. Hg. v. Proceedings of the 15th Annual Conference of the Association for Chinese Economics Studies Australia.

Wang, Maya (2019): China's algorithms of repression. Reverse engineering a Xinjiang police mass surveillance app: Human Rights Watch. Online verfügbar unter https://www.hrw.org/report/2019/05/01/chinas-algorithms-repression/reverse-engineering-xinjiang-police-mass-surveillance, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

Wang, Nina (2017): High and New Technology Reform in China. Hg. v. Clayton & McKervey. Online verfügbar unter https://claytonmckervey.com/high-new-technology-reform-china/, zuletzt geprüft am 08.10.2019.

Webber, Michael John; Wang, Mark; Zhu, Ying (2002): China's transition to a global economy: Palgrave Macmillan.

Weidlich, Thomas (2019): Neues Investitionsumfeld für ausländische Unternehmen in China zwischen "Old Economy" und Digitalwirtschaft. Wirtschaftstag China, IHK Bonn/Rhein-Sieg. Luther Köln. IHK Bonn/Rhein-Sieg, 29.05.2019.

Welfens, Paul; Yushkova, Evgeniya (2017): IKT-Sektor in China und Wirtschaftbeziehungen zu Deutschland. Hg. v. Hans-Böckler-Stiftung.

Welsch, Johann (2005): Innovationsstandort Deutschland: Das nationale Innovationssystem. In: Johann Welsch (Hg.): Innovationspolitik: Gabler Verlag, S. 67–105.

Weng, Xiao-Hai; Zhu, Yu-Ming; Song, Xiao-Yu; Ahmad, Naveed (2019): Identification of Key Success Factors for Private Science Parks Established from Brownfield Regeneration: A Case Study from China. In: *International journal of environmental research and public health* 16 (Nr. 7).

Westhead, Paul; Batstone, Stephen (1998): Independent Technology-based Firms. The Perceived Benefits of a Science Park Location. In: *Urban Studies* 35 (12), S. 2197–2219.

Winter, Tim (2016): One Belt, One Road, One Heritage: Cultural Diplomacy and the Silk Road. The cultural aspects of the Belt and Road could forever reshape regional politics and security. In: *The Diplomat* 2016, 29.03.2016. Online verfügbar unter https://thediplomat.com/2016/03/one-belt-one-road-one-heritage-cultural-diplomacy-and-the-silk-road/, zuletzt geprüft am 08.10.2019.

World Bank (Hg.) (2009): Clusters for Competitiveness: A Practical Guide and Policy Implications for Developing Cluster Initiatives.

World Bank (Hg.) (2010): Innovation Policy: A Guide for Developing Countries, International Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

World Bank (Hg.) (2018): World Development Report 2019: The Changing Nature of Work. The Human Capital Project.

World Bank (2019): World Bank Open Data. Online verfügbar unter https://data.worldbank.org/, zuletzt geprüft am 30.10.2019.

World Bank; Development Research Center of the State Council (Hg.) (2019): Innovative China. New Drivers of Growth.

World Economic Forum (WEF) (2019): Global Innovation Index 2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.globalinnovationindex.org/Home, zuletzt geprüft am 25.10.2019.

Wübbeke, Jost; Meissner, Mirjam; Zenglein, Max J.; Ives, Jaqueline; Conrad, Björn (2016): MADE IN CHINA 2025. The making of a high-tech superpower and consequences for industrial countries. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) (Merics Papers on China, Nr. 2). Online verfügbar unter https://www.merics.org/sites/default/files/2017-09/MPOC\_No.2\_MadeinChina2025.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 21.10.2019.

Xavier Cirera, William F. Maloney (2017): The Innovation Paradox: Developing-Country Capabilities and the Unrealized Promise of Technological Catch-Up. Online verfügbar unter https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/28341/9781464811609.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 20.10.2019.

Xinhuanet (新华网) (2019): **阿里巴巴宣布收到**蚂蚁金服 33% **股份**. Online verfügbar unter http://www.xinhuanet.com/fortune/2019-09/25/c\_1125038138.htm.

Xu, Xin; El-Ashram, Ahmend; Gold, Judith (2015): Too Much of a Good Thing? Prudent Management of Inflows under Economic Citizenship Programs. IMF Working Paper No. 15/93 (No. 15/93).

Yang, Xifan (2019a): Ob in China... ein Sack Reis umfällt oder das Land zur Weltmacht aufsteigt - im Westen weiß man wenig über den Konkurrenten. Doch auch die Chinesen selbst haben immer größere Schwierigkeiten, sich zu verstehen. In: *Die Zeit* 2019, 11.04.2019.

Yang, Yingzhi (2019b): Can China's tech industry up its game and take the lead when it comes to innovation and research? In: *South China Morning Post* 2019, 27.03.2019. Online verfügbar unter https://www.scmp.com/tech/policy/article/3003114/can-chinas-tech-industry-its-game-and-take-lead-when-it-comes, zuletzt geprüft am 12.10.2019.

Yang, Yun (2018): Evaluation on National STI Policy in China (中国的科技创新政策评估). National Center for Science and Technology Evaluation (国家科技评估中心). DLR Projektträger, 09.2018.

Ye Qing (叶青) (2017): 科技观察——"十三五"广东省科技创新规划正式印发 到 2020 年,我省 基本建成国家科技产业创新中心 (Offizielle Veröffentlichung des Innovationsplans für Wissenschaft und Technologie der Provinz Guangdong). In: 广东科技报, 24.04.2017. Online verfügbar unter http://www.gdkjb.com/News\_Detail.aspx?code=0102&id=2301, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Zeng, Douglas Zhihua (2012): China's Special Economic Zones and Industrial Clusters: Success and Challenges. Hg. v. Lincoln Institute of Land Policy.

Zenglein, Max J.; Holzmann, Anna (2018): Made in China 2025: Gekommen, um zu bleiben. Ausländische Regierungen und Unternehmen müssen sich flexibel auf die Innovationsoffensive einstellen. In: Ifo Institut (Hg.): ifo Schnelldienst (71. Jhg., Nr. 14), S. 6–9.

Zenglein, Max J.; Holzmann, Anna (2019): Evolving Made in China 2025. China's industrial policy in the quest for global tech leadership. Hg. v. Mercator Institute for China Studies (MERICS) (Merics Papers on China, Nr. 8). Online verfügbar unter https://www.merics.org/sites/default/files/2019-07/MPOC\_8\_MadeinChina\_2025\_final\_3.pdf, zuletzt geprüft am 09.10.2019.

Zentrale Volksregierung (中华人民共和国中央人民政府) (Hg.) (2011): 国民经济和社会发展第十 二个五年规划纲要 (Grundriß des zwölften Fünfjahresplans für die nationale wirtschaftliche und soziale Entwicklung). Online verfügbar unter http://www.gov.cn/2011lh/content\_1825838.htm, zuletzt geprüft am 07.10.2019.

Zentrales Innovationsprogramm Mittelstand (ZIM) (2018): Wie lange dauert es vom Eingang des Förderantrags bis zu einer Förderentscheidung? Hg. v. Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Energie (BMWi). Online verfügbar unter https://www.zim.de/ZIM/Redaktion/DE/FAQ/Allgemeines/008-wielange-antrag-entscheidung.html, zuletzt geprüft am 27.09.2019.

Zhang, Yirong; Zhai, Wei; Pan Geping (2019): Europe opens its arms to Chinese students. Hg. v. Xinhuanet (新华网). Online verfügbar unter http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2019-06/19/c\_138155225.htm, zuletzt aktualisiert am 19.06.2019, zuletzt geprüft am 27.08.2019.

Zimmermann, Volker (2019): Die Finanzierung von Innovationen und Investitionen in mittelständischen Unternehmen im Vergleich. Fokus Volkswirtschaft. Nr. 237. Hg. v. KFW Reserach.

## **Appendix 1: List of interview partners**

1) Interviews in Germany (25 interviews, May 7th - July 4th 2019)

German government agencie	es		
Hr. Dirk Hensel	Pressesprecher	BfDI-Bundesbeauftragten für den	
plus Kolleg*innen	1	Datenschutz und die	
r and b		Informationstechnik Bonn	
Hr Prof Dr Dirk	Geschäftsführer	Deutsches Referenzzentrum für	
Lanzerath		Ethik in den Biowissenschaften	
German intermediaries in the	e private sector	Ettille in den Biowissensenarten	
Hr. Androos Domrou Sonior Monogor Invision UIA Hosson A contra Carbit			
III. Andreas Dannad	Services	Hassen Trade & Invest GmbH	
	Services	Wieshaden	
		Wiesbaden	
Hr. Thomas Heck	Laitar dar China Business Group	PwC   Partner	
III. HIOMas Heek	Letter der China Busiliess Group	PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH	
		Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft	
		Frenkfurt om Mein	
He Thomas Horn	Casaböftaföbrar	Wintschoftsfördemung Sechoon	
HI. THOMAS HOM	Geschartsfuniter	CrubIL Dreader	
		Gillon, Dresdell	
Un Dr. Wolfgong	Casaböftaföbrar	Invest in Devenie Die	
Hübaahla	Geschartsfullief	Angiedlunggegentur des Freisteste	
Hubschle		Ansieurungsagentur des Freistaats	
		Staataministarium für Wirtach oft	
		Staatsministerium iur wirtschalt,	
		Landesentwicklung und Energie,	
		Munchen	
To Mine Labler	Desistences and the Line design of	DADEN WÜDTTEMDEDC	
Fr. Nina Lenfer	Projektmanagerin Landerbereich	BADEN-WURTTEMBERG	
	China & Start-ups	INTERNATIONAL Casallashaft für internationale	
	Abtellung Außenwirtschaft und	Gesellschaft für internationale	
	Standortmarketing wirtschaft	wirtschaftliche und	
		Zusammenarbeit mbH, Stuttgart	
Hr. Dr. Qiang Fu, Fr.	Leiter Servicecenter Greater	NRW.INVEST GmbH,	
Bauer	China	Düsseldorf	
Hr. Dr. Klaus-R. Sprung	Geschaftsfuhrer	AIF Projekt GmbH, Berlin	
Representatives of German/	Chinese industry		
Hr. Dr. Christian Haug	Geschäftsführer	Startup Factory China GmbH,	
		Munchen	
Hr. Thomas Heck	Leiter der China Business Group	PwC   Partner,	
		PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH	
		Wırtschattsprüfungsgesellschaft,	
		Frankfurt am Main	
~			
German intermediaries in rea	search		
Fr. Dr. Irene Huber	Forschungszentrum für	Universität Hohenheim	
	Gesundheitswissenschaften		
	(703), Geschäftsführerin		
Hr. Dr. Eckart Bierdümpel	Head Multinational Networking,	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft, Schloss	
	Secretary General WAITRO	Birlinghoven, Sankt Augustin	
Fr. Marijke Wahlers	Bereichsleiterin Internationale	Hochschulrektorenkonferenz	

	Angelegenheiten	HRK		
Fr. Dr. Nicole Saverschek	TU9-Geschäftsführerin	TU9 German Universities of		
		Technology e.V.		
German university representatives for Asian Studies/Sinology/China Competence				
Hr. Prof. Dr. Björn	Lehrstuhlinhaber für	Universität Würzburg		
Alpermann	Contemporary Chinese Studies			
Hr. Prof. Dr. Sebastian	Lehrstuhlinhaber, Internationale	Fakultät für		
Bersick	Politische Ökonomie Ostasiens	Ostasienwissenschaften, Ruhr-		
		Universität Bochum		
Fr. Prof. Drlng. MENG	Lehrstuhl für Kartographie, stv.	TU München		
Liqiu	Vorsitzende Senat DLR			
Fr. Prof. Dr. Dr. Nele	Inhaberin des Lehrstuhls für	Universität Duisburg-Essen		
Noessel	Politikwissenschaft mit dem			
	Schwerpunkt China/Ostasien			
German representatives of alumni projects				
Fr. Dr. Sigrun Abels	Alumni-Projekt	TU Berlin		
Hr. Prof. Dr. Kurt	Alumni-Projekt ;	Uniklinik Freiburg		
Fritzsche	Psychologie/Psychiatrie			
German university represent	atives for research			
Hr. Dr. YAO Gang	BMBF-Projekt Watch, RWTH	RWTH Aachen		
	Forschungskoordinator zwischen			
	Deutschland und China,			
	Projektleiter			
Hr. Prof. Dr. Grün	BMBF-Projekt FPC@SJTU -	Fraunhofer-Institut für Bauphysik		
	Fraunhofer-Projektzentrum für	IBP		
	gebaute Umwelt an der Shanghai			
	Jiao Tong Universität,			
	Projektleiter			
Hr. Prof. DrIng. Stephan	BMBF-Projekt Universität	Institut für		
Köster	Leibniz- Tsinghua University	Siedlungswasserwirtschaft und		
	Platform for United Water	Abfalltechnik, Leibniz		
	Science & Technology	Universität Hannover		
	Innovations (PLUS), Projektleiter			
Fr. Dr. Annett Lang	Leitung International Office	Universität Bremen		

## 2) Interviews in China (22 interviews, June 18 - July 12, 2019)

German and European actors in China (including private industry)			
Hr. Dr. Oliver Prüfer	Deputy General Manager	German Industry and Commerce	
		Greater China, Beijing	
Hr. Christian Engels	Geschäftsführer	German Industry & Commerce	
		Greater China   Guangzhou	
Hr. Jelte Wingender	Corporate innovation, Senior	Inno Way	
	manager		
Hr. Stephan Gätzner	Chief Representative	BDI-Vertretung Peking	
Hr. DrIng. Tobias Arndt	General Manager	GAMI Global Advanced	
		Manufacturing Institute, Karls-	
		ruhe Institute of Technology KIT	
Hr. Philipp Agathonos	Director, Office of Science and	Österreichische Botschaft Peking	
	Technology Austria		
Hr. Jens Hofmann	Wissenschaftsreferent	Deutsche Botschaft Peking	
Hr. LUAN Tian	Director	Global Incubator	
Hr. Halldor Berg	Country Representative, Support	EURAXESS China	

Hardarson, Fr. LI Yuhui	Officer	
Researchers in China		
Hr. Prof. Andy Hor	Vice President und Pro-Vice- Chancellor (Research)	University of Hongkong
Hr. Dr. Ralf Jauch	Principle Investigator	School of Biomedical Sciences, University of Hong Kong
Teilnehmende des		
EURAXESS Fokus-		
Gruppen-Gesprächs:		ADCC
Hr. Juan Bojaca		APCU Chinese Academy of Geological
Fr. Marie-Luce Chevalier		Sciences
Hr. Julian Koellermeier		Peking Universität
Hr. Jose Pastor		Tsinghua Universität
Fr. Veronique Prinet		Chinese Academy of Sciences
Hr. Karlis Rokpelnis		Council on International Educational Exchange (CIEE)
Hr. Francesco Silvestri		Beijing Foreign Studies University/ Association of Italian Scholars in China (AAIIC)
Fr. Helene Uhde		Beijing Institute of Technology
Hr. William Vega		VEGA SALAS S.A.C.
Fr. Sjoukje Wu		Chinese Academy of Sciences - Sino Danish Center
Chinese promoters		
Hr. LIU Hui	Department for Policy	National Center for Science and
	Evaluation	Technology Evaluation (NCSTE)
Hr. XIE Min	Director of National Center for	NCSTE
	Science and Technology	
Fr. YAN Dong	Director of Department for	NCSTE
	Innovation Policy Evaluation	
Hr. LI Zhe, Hr. LI Yan u.	Institutsleiter, Wissenschaftliche	Chinese Academy of Science
weitere Mitarbeiter	Mitarbeiter	and Technology for
E. CONC.C		Development (CASTED)
Fr. SONG Song	Wissenschaftliche Mitarbeiterin	China Science and Technology
Hr. ZHANG Chunpeng		NCSTE
Fr. Xu Heng, Hr. SU Liang	Senior Manager und Researcher	Guangdong Techno-Economy
und 7 weitere Mitarbeiter		Development Centre (unter
(Gruppendiskussion)		Guangdong Ministry of Science
Science Parks in China		and reenhology)
Diverse Senior Manager	Senior Manager und Mitarbeiter	Bio-Island
und Mitarbeiter der	, view of the second se	
Parkverwaltung		
Hr. HE Wen, Hr. CHEN	Vice President, Senior Manager	Tianan Cyber Park
Smichang und weitere Senior Managers		

Hr. ZHOU Teng Senior Manager Z-Science Park	
---	--